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Performance Report
Overview
The overview of this report provides a summary of the purpose and activities of NHS Lambeth CCG.

Welcome
A very warm welcome to the sixth annual report from NHS Lambeth CCG.
Our communities in Lambeth are some of the most vibrant and diverse, but also some of the most
deprived in England. Population growth, longer lives, and more people living with complex and
multiple conditions, will put pressure on our constrained resources and capacity, with changes to
the way services are delivered and people supported to be as healthy as they can be.
In response to this challenge, statutory organisations, voluntary sector bodies and community
associations across the borough have pledged their commitment to form Lambeth Together, joining
up how they work (systems, processes, technologies, budgets and outcomes) to improve the health,
wellbeing and life chances of people in this borough. Lambeth Together is our fully integrated health
and care system bringing together the improvements we are already making and we are planning
even more.
Through Lambeth Together, we have our enhanced commissioning arrangements with Lambeth
Council. With developed integrated commissioning since 2014 including shared leadership and
teams, joint programmes and pooled budgets, including through the Better Care Fund. The Better
Care Fund is a programme spanning both the NHS and local government which seeks to join-up
health and care services, so that people can manage their own health and wellbeing, and live
independently in their communities for as long as possible. Lambeth Together system leadership is
working across hospital and community providers, commissioner and citizen representatives.
As part of the exciting local development of mental health services, the Lambeth Living Well
Network has signed an alliance (involving a number of partners) adult mental health contract (a
seven year £66m per year with option of an additional three years) in place from July 2018. A
further three delivery alliances are in development for Local Care Networks, Children and Young
People and for those in need of more personalised care.
Lambeth has a well developed and embedded out of hospital system supporting enhanced primary
care, admission avoidance and reablement services. We are developing Neighbourhood Based
Care (Primary Care Networks) through our Local Care Networks. Further co-design of our approach
to supporting people in their communities, to live healthier and more independent lives through our
Health and Wellbeing Networks is underway.
Lambeth patients have access to some of the highest quality secondary and tertiary care at our
local providers although, in common with many hospitals, challenges remain in consistently meeting
national access standards for emergency care and in waiting times for elective care.
Our five year strategy, Healthier Together, which is coming to an end in 2019, is founded on
extensive engagement with Lambeth communities. Engagement on a new Lambeth Together
Health Strategy will take place alongside engagement around the new Long Term Plan, published in
early 2019 which set outs the direction and priorities for the NHS over the next ten years. The focus
of the new strategy will be on prevention, reducing inequalities, community activation, and health in
all policies. Our Strategy will align with the NHS Long Term Plan.
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At the same time, we are working ever more closely with our partners and neighbouring CCGs
across south east London, through our membership of Our Healthier South East London (Integrated
Care System) and by bringing our commissioning arrangements closer together initially through the
NHS South East London Commissioning Alliance which was launched in April 2018 across Bexley,
Bromley, Greenwich, Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark.
In its seventieth year we celebrated NHS70 with a special
Governing Body Meeting in Public with our staff. Staff attended
the Westminster Abbey service and a tea party raised money for
Mosaic Clubhouse and Cancer Research UK. We were delighted
to work with Local Authority colleagues to light up Lambeth Town
Hall in NHS blue.
Our Lammy Awards, held for the fourth year as part of our Annual
General Meeting in September 2018, recognised the contribution
of individuals and teams supporting excellent health and care
services in the borough. These are great examples of where
working together can really make a difference to the health and
wellbeing of local people and to the quality of care available to
them when they need it.
We appreciate the value of our core partnerships with our
Member Practices, with local people, with voluntary organisations, with our hospital and community
providers - Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust, King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust and South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust, with neighbouring CCGs across
south east London and London-wide, and with NHS England.
We value the skills and commitment of our staff, many of whom work jointly for the CCG and
Lambeth Council. Our Clinical Network brings expert clinical leadership, advice and innovation to
our work across our health and care systems.
We would like to thank the people of Lambeth, our members practices, community and hospital
teams, Lambeth Council, Healthwatch Lambeth and the voluntary sector, our clinical leaders and
individuals across the system for joining us, challenging us and helping us to make Lambeth a
healthier borough.
We were rated as an ‘outstanding’ CCG in 2017/18 and, while we are proud of what we have
achieved in Lambeth, we know there is much more to do. We strive for equality, for better health
outcomes for all, for high quality services which make a difference and to help people stay well and
avoid ill-health.
Looking ahead, we will be working to implement the new NHS Long Term Plan and new GP
contract in Lambeth as well as managing the changes that Brexit will bring. Together we look
forward to making health and care in Lambeth even better in the coming year.

Dr Adrian McLachlan, Chair
Dr Sadru Kheraj, Collaborative Chair
Andrew Eyres, Accountable Officer
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About NHS Lambeth CCG
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) were created in April 2013. Their role is to commission NHS
services on behalf of the people who live in the area. They are membership organisations, made up
of local GP practices, and are clinically-led by doctors, nurses and other medical professionals.
Commissioning in healthcare means planning, monitoring and paying for services. For Lambeth
CCG this means:





making sure health services are high quality
working with the local community to plan and improve services
having a good working relationship with the people who deliver care and other organisations
responsible for local services, such as Lambeth Council and voluntary groups
making the most effective use of the money we are given

With 42 GP practices we work together with partners across Lambeth - pharmacists, dentists,
hospitals and mental health providers, Lambeth Council and local community groups - to improve
health and wellbeing, reduce health inequalities, and ensure everyone has equal access to
healthcare services.
We are responsible for spending £559m each year on hospital and community health services for
our patients, in a way which ensures the most effective services are available. Along with
commissioning services, we are also responsible for monitoring how well these services are
provided.
The vast majority of people using the NHS in Lambeth will most frequently use primary care
services and community health services. The NHS commissions these services from:




GP practices and pharmacists
Community health services such as district nursing and school nursing, health visitors,
specialist child health, therapy services and care for older people, provided through Guy's
and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust
Voluntary sector and third sector care providers

NHS Lambeth CCG took on delegated primary care commissioning from NHS England from 1 April
2017. This means that the CCG commissions services from primary care.
When people require more specialist care we also commission locally from:



Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust, King's College Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust and St George’s University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust to provide inpatient,
outpatient, day surgery and emergency hospital care
South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust to provide mental health services and
addictions services

The CCG also continued to invest in supporting our local GP Federations who represent all 42 GP
practices in Lambeth. They are a key partner in delivering our ambitious agenda of the NHS Long
Term Plan, Primary Care Transformation, and in delivering key components of both the GP Forward
View which aims to improve patient care and access, and invest in new ways of providing primary
care and the Primary Care Strategic Commissioning Framework for London.
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The chart below shows a breakdown of spending in £millions for the period from 1 April 2018 to 31
March 2019.
Other Programme
Costs, £23m

Other Non Acute
Commissioning,
£15m

Running Costs,
£7m

Delegated Primary
Care, £59m
Primary Care
Commissioning,
£42m

General & Acute,
£245m

Continuing Care,
£27m

Community,
£41m

Mental Health,
£79m
Accident &
Emergency, £21m

You can read our full audited accounts appended to this report. We once again successfully
achieved all our financial duties in 2018/19. The accounts have been prepared under a direction
issued by NHS England under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Our duties
Under the National Health Service Act 2006, CCGs have a number of duties and powers. You can
find full details of these on the NHS England website. In this annual report, we describe how we
have fulfilled these duties to improve the quality of local services, reduce health inequalities,
promote involvement of patients in their own care, offer patient choice, support the integration of
services, work together with the public and patients and ensure that we have plans in place to deal
with surges in demand for services and major incidents. We certify that the CCG has complied with
the statutory duties laid down in the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s
accounts are based on accounts directions that are determined by NHS England and approved by
the Department of Health made under the Health and Social Care Action 2014 c7 Schedule 2.17.

The context for our work
Lambeth is a diverse inner London borough, with a growing population. Relative to England,
Lambeth has a young population, and fewer older people. The population is more ethnically diverse
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than in other parts of London and England, creating a unique set of challenges for the health and
care system.
Life expectancy in Lambeth has increased. The population of Lambeth is aging with an increase in
the number of over 75 and 85 year olds. As people age, they are more likely to live in poor health
with long term conditions. The summary indicator ‘healthy life expectancy’ provides an indication of
how long people may live in poor health.
The total burden of morbidity, measured by the total number of Year of Life with Disability (YLD) in a
population in a given year has increased in Lambeth over past sixteen years (from 31,263 to 39,495
between 1990 and 2016 from 17,286 to 21,082 for women and 13,977 to 18,412 for men). (Source:
Global Burden of Disease Study 2016). However, after adjusting for population size and age, the
age-standardised rate of morbidity has reduced by 3.5% in Lambeth. This indicates that the
increase in the total burden of morbidity is accounted for by increases in population size and
population ageing. Similar trends were seen for males and females. The three leading causes of
morbidity in Lambeth are mental health, musculoskeletal conditions and other non-communicable
diseases (similar to England and London).
Whilst overall health in Lambeth has been improving, we know there are significant inequalities
across the borough. These are across different geographies and socio-economic demographics.
Over the last year some of the work Lambeth partners across the health and social care system
have focused on includes the differential experience for people from Black and minority ethnic
groups, in particular in relation to the experience of mental health and long term conditions.
In 2014 to 2016, the level of inequality, or gap, in life expectancy between the most and least
deprived areas of England was 9.3 years for males and 7.3 years for females. (Source Health
Profile for England 2018).
The gap in male life expectancy between Lambeth and England has improved from a gap of 2.7 to
0.9. Recent data indicates a slight reduction in life expectancy compared to previous data, however
this change is not significant but rather suggests a plateauing in life expectancy compared to
previous data both nationally and locally.
Within Lambeth the life expectancy and healthy life expectancy gap varies significantly between the
most and least deprived areas. The main contributory factors to this gap are circulatory disorders
such as heart failure, cancers and respiratory disorders. However the social determinants (income,
education, the built and natural environment, crime and work) of health play a more important role in
contributing to this gap.
Priorities for action in Lambeth are:



Prevention across the life course
o at individual level
o at population level
Action to reduce inequalities

The ongoing work to develop Lambeth Together as part of our local health and care system enables
partners to address both the causes and consequences of inequalities and a focus on prevention at
a local level.
Demographic information on health in Lambeth is available here on the Council website.
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The Lammy Awards
For the fourth year NHS staff, council and public service
workers, volunteers and carers who have made
outstanding contributions to health and social care in
Lambeth were recognised at the CCG’s Lammy Awards.
This year we had a record number of nominations from
across the borough.
To celebrate the 70th anniversary of the NHS we created
the Lasting Impact Award to recognise the continuing
impact of an individual. Another new category was the
Young Carer of the Year Award.
Dr Adrian McLachlan, Chair of Lambeth CCG, said: "We
are truly privileged to have so many wonderful people who
work in our borough supporting health and social care. Their efforts are fantastic whether they are
going the extra mile in their jobs or giving of their valuable spare time. All the winners and those
nominated demonstrate the tremendous kindness, innovation and extraordinary professionalism in
Lambeth which should fill us all with pride."
The winners













People’s Award - Paula Bryan and Bobbie Allan Streatham, TheCarers4Carers
People’s Award - David Del'Nero and Jenni Rodgers, Streatham Practice Patient
Participation Group
Putting Patients First Award - Christopher Shoulder, Peer Recovery Officer, Psychological
Interventions Clinic for outpatients with Psychosis, South London and the Maudsley, NHS
Foundation Trust
Kindness Award - Sinead Brookman, Lead Anticoagulation Nurse, Anticoagulation Clinic,
King's College Hospital
Lasting Impact Award - Professor Robin Morris, Head of the Department of Clinical
Neuropsychology at King's College Hospital
Innovation in Lambeth Award - Maudsley Simulation Team, South London and the
Maudsley, NHS Foundation Trust
Working Together Award - adults services - Fiona Hibberts and Mr Andrew Williams,
Consultant Nurse and Consultant Surgeon, Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust
Outstanding Contribution to Primary Care Award - Dr Tarek Radwan GP Director and
Founder of AT Medics, Streatham Place Surgery
Lifetime Achievement Award - Dr Mike Kelleher and Mick Collins from the Lorraine Hewitt
House Drug and Alcohol Service
Unpaid Carer of the Year Award - Sylvie Kone
Going the Extra Mile - Jason Henley, Manager of the Black Prince Trust
Young Carer of the Year Award - Shantavia Robinson [below front left]

Page 10 of 129

To find out more about the Lammy awards please see our website.

How we work
Our Constitution sets out the way we operate, supported by our mission, values and vision. You can
view this on our website.
Our mission
Our mission is to improve the health of and reduce inequalities for Lambeth people and to
commission high quality health services on their behalf.
Our values






We will always tell the truth
We are fair
We are open
We recognise our responsibilities to service users and the wider public
We act responsibly, with and for our member practices, as a public sector organisation

Our vision
Healthier Together is our strategic vision developed with local people and partners to make a reality
of our ambition to improve health and reduce inequalities and to commission high quality services
on their behalf.
Our strategic vision statement Healthier Together builds upon what we heard from Lambeth people
and from our partners in the BIG Lambeth Health Debate:
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People centred – we will work to co-produce services, built around individuals and
population needs, enabling people to stay healthy and manage their own care
Prevention focused – we will prioritise prevention of ill health and the factors that create it,
enabling people to live longer and healthier lives
Integrated – we will commission services in a way that brings service provision together
around the needs of people and reduces boundaries and barriers to care
Consistent – we will promote high quality, accessible, equitable and safe services and
reduce variation and variability in provision
Innovative – we will use 21st century technologies to provide better services, better
information and to promote choices
Deliver best value – we will ensure we live within our means and use our resources well

Our objectives
Each year we publish our commissioning intentions which are our plans to buy services for the year
ahead. Our patients, member practices, local organisations such as Healthwatch Lambeth and
other stakeholders play a key part in helping us determine these priorities and develop our Business
Plan.

How we are governed
The role of the Governing Body is to deliver on the CCG objectives through effective leadership,
management and accountability. The Governing Body is responsible for ensuring that the CCG has
appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and economically,
and in accordance with principles of good governance. The CCG is managed in an open and
transparent way, enabling local people to hold it to account.
You can read more about our Governing Body and our Constitution on our website and on page 70.
You can read about our membership on page 69.

Clinical Network
The Lambeth Clinical Commissioning Network (LCCN) brings together the wider clinical and nonclinical community (such as GPs and other doctors, practice managers, nurses, pharmacists,
opticians and social care colleagues) to support our commissioning decisions. The Network also
incorporates the Lambeth Locum Group, a group made up of locum staff who work across GP
practices in the Borough.

Our staff
The majority of our staff are based at our head office at Lower Marsh, Waterloo. Our senior
management team is joint with Lambeth Council Adult Services, meeting on a weekly basis. A
number of directors and staff work in integrated teams with Lambeth Council.
We work closely with the Integrated Contacts and Delivery Team, an established CCG team across
all six south east London boroughs, and other south east London wide teams such as Primary Care
Support.
We commission a range of services from NEL Commissioning Support Unit including contracting,
governance and finance support. We also hosted the Office of London CCGs and the Healthy
London Partnership during 2018/19.
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More information about our staff can be found on page 114.

Working in partnership
We are committed to partnership working, which is central to what we do to improve health and care
and involve local people and Lambeth Together forms the basis of this going forward. More
information can be found on page 14.
We work with a range of local people and organisations to improve our services and drive
improvements in quality while reducing inequalities. These include local NHS providers,
neighbouring CCGs, the London Borough of Lambeth, Education and Police, Healthwatch Lambeth,
Lambeth GP Federations, our Patient Participation Group (PPG) network, and voluntary
organisations.
We work in active partnership with all our local providers, including Guy’s and St Thomas’
Foundation Trust, King’s College Hospital Foundation Trust and South London and the Maudsley
Foundation Trust and King’s Health Partners Academic Health Sciences Centre. A number of our
most important initiatives are supported by the Guy’s and St Thomas’ Charity. This supports
different services and providers to work together to provide a more joined up service for patients to
deliver better health outcomes.
We work with the Health Innovation Network (HIN), South London’s Academic Health Science
Network, which aims to drive lasting improvements in patient care by sharing innovation across the
health system and capitalising on the opportunity for innovation, teaching and research.

SEL Collaborative working across CCGs
Launched on 1 April 2018, the South East London Commissioning Alliance brings together the six
CCGs in south east London (Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich, Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark) to
build on our existing collaboration to commission services more efficiently and effectively for local
people in each borough and across south east London.
Each CCG in south east London retained their sovereign status and accountability for
commissioning primary, community, mental health and hospital services for residents in their
boroughs.
As part of the new arrangement, Southwark, Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich and Lewisham CCGs
agreed to share a single Accountable Officer and single Chief Finance Officer (CFO). Andrew Bland
took on the role of Accountable Officer from 1 April 2018 and Usman Niazi started as Chief
Financial Officer on 12 February 2019. Andrew Eyres remained as Accountable Officer for Lambeth
and Croydon CCGs. Christine Caton is Chief Financial Officer for Lambeth CCG.
In its first year the Alliance explored opportunities for CCGs to work more collaboratively looking at
functions that can be carried out once on behalf of all CCGs including development of a South East
London Assurance team, Brexit planning and activities where greater collaboration brings better
outcomes for patients. These include the Integrated Contracts Development Team, Primary Care
and Surge management. Toward the end of 2018, we undertook focused work on our model for
becoming an Integrated Care System through an 11-week programme with NHS England.
The Integrated Contracting Delivery Team (ICDT) significantly streamlined our contracting and
negotiating functions and brought about improvements across all our providers. The team also
works closely with each of the CCGs so that we can roll out initiatives at scale. A good example of
this is in Planned Care, where we have rolled out a range of tools, such as Consultant Connect and
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VisualDx which help support GP decision making and reduce the need for patients to be referred to
hospital.
Looking forward to 2019/20 the Alliance will continue to support even greater collaboration to
support us in refreshing our plans following publication of the NHS Long Term Plan and our move
towards becoming an Integrated Care System.

Lambeth Health and Wellbeing Board
The Lambeth Health and Wellbeing Board brings together representatives from Lambeth Council,
NHS England, Healthwatch Lambeth and local trusts to advise, support, challenge and direct the
development of local health improvement priorities. CCG Chair, Dr Adrian McLachlan, is the joint
Vice Chair.
Meetings are held in public with an informal session prior to the Board to facilitate opportunities to
advise, support, challenge and direct the development of local health services and develop
initiatives to support health and wellbeing in Lambeth. In 2018/19 there were three public meetings
of the Board and a facilitated development session which focused on Lambeth Together and future
governance arrangements.
Other issues discussed during 2018/19 year included the Sexual Health Strategy, Suicide
Prevention Strategy, Lambeth Together, Lambeth Early Action Partnership, implementation of the
Health and Wellbeing Strategy Action Plan, Special Education and Needs and Disabilities provision
and Early Help. The Director of Public Health also provides a quarterly report to the Board.

Lambeth CCG and Lambeth Council – integrated teams
As part of Lambeth Together at a strategic level, our management team now meets jointly with
Lambeth Council Adult Services.
We have joint programmes of work with Lambeth Council to deliver shared commissioning across
adult, children and young people and mental health. Our integrated commissioning teams are made
up of CCG and Council staff led by shared Director roles.
We have established integrated governance for commissioning for mental health and older people
via Committees in Common, where Council lead members and CCG Governing Body members
agree common approaches and review integrated budgets and programmes.
We work together through joint safeguarding committees to protect the most vulnerable children and
adults and promote their interests. We have dedicated multi-disciplinary teams who work with
colleagues across agencies to ensure that our ambitions for all vulnerable patients are achieved.

Lambeth Together: Our vision for one health and social care system
As a borough, Lambeth faces a complex set of challenges which will significantly impact upon our
ability to provide care and health services in future.
Our population is growing and living longer – which means the number of people requiring care for
multiple and complex conditions will grow against a backdrop of stretched public finances.
And while that reflects the national picture, Lambeth has local, specific issues around diversity and
deprivation it must account for in its planning.
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Without a wide-ranging response, our current system will not cope with demands. ‘Lambeth
Together’ is the name we’ve given to our ambitious vision around wholesale systemic change to
meet this set of challenges.
At this moment in time, the vast majority of services are managed, operated and funded by the
organisations responsible for them in both the statutory and voluntary sectors.
As part of Lambeth Together, the intention is to move away from a health and social care system of
organisations working mainly as individual entities to one system where health and social care
services, and everything supporting their delivery, is joined together as far as possible.
An integrated system in this way offers numerous benefits. One key benefit will be the ability to coordinate services better around the individual more effectively.
Another benefit will come from our work to re-organise some services by ‘neighbourhood’ so that
people get most of the things they need locally to them. Organising services around
neighbourhoods reduces travelling time, offers peace of mind and provides reassurance to relatives.
It means staff can have better, richer relationships with people, and ultimately keep people well in
their communities.
The key organisations involved in Lambeth Together, like NHS Lambeth CCG, Lambeth Council,
and our various NHS hospital trusts, have committed to a wide-ranging plan to create one
integrated system. Achievements in 2019-20, and expectations for the coming financial year, are
explored below.
Once Lambeth Together is fully operational, we expect it to be organised in the following way:
Strategic Alliance: The Strategic Alliance will be a group of senior people from those organisations
involved in Lambeth Together who will make decisions about its budget, workforce, technology,
systems and processes.
Delivery Alliances: Services will be grouped into delivery alliances which reflect the needs of
different people. A delivery alliance is a group of organisations which work together to deliver
services. The intention is to develop four service alliances. The Living Well Alliance – which brings
together services for people with mental health issues – is at the most advanced stage of
development among the delivery alliances. Others in development will be:




Neighbourhood Based Care and Wellbeing Alliance – which brings together out of hospital
and community based services, including some GP services, out of hospital care, home care
and community nursing, rehabilitation, staying healthy support
An alliance for children and young people – which brings together key services for children
and young people, including maternity, early years, safeguarding and social care provision
Personalised Support Alliance for people with enduring and complex need – which brings
services together to support independent living and personal choices

Lambeth Together is our local Lambeth borough part of a wider ‘System of Systems’ that underpins
the South East London Integrated Care System (ICS) ambition. Health and care systems can be
described as operating at STP, borough and primary care network level, across providers and
pathways and underpinned by clinical and enabler programmes. In an ICS, all parts of the ‘system
of systems’ need to be effective in order for any one part to succeed. Within this approach, the STP
provides an overarching governance and organising strategic function.
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The year 2018/19 and looking ahead to 2019/20
2018/19 has been a year of progress around a number of key areas for Lambeth Together.
Collaboration, co-ordination and joining up of services, systems, processes and polices are integral
in developing one system for health and social care.
Progress has been made in a number of ways to meet the needs of particular parts of the
population, as illustrated below.
Supporting Older people
In 2018/19, NHS Lambeth CCG with partners from Lambeth Council and health and social care
colleagues worked together on a number of collaborative projects to improve support for older
people, including:




Lambeth Integrated Reablement Service: This team helps people regain mobility and skills
to carry out everyday activities so they can continue to live independently. In 2018/19 the
team expanded and became registered as a social care provider employing its own team of
care staff, in addition to their therapists and social workers
Joint work with home care providers: Collaborative and mutually supportive work between
Lambeth Council, home care providers and GSTT now takes place at regular provider
forums leading to several new initiatives to improve care. This included the introduction of a
‘Yellow Bag Scheme’ which remains in patients’ homes and contains the records of all
visiting community services to improve communication and care

Local Care Networks
Local Care Networks are locality-based partnerships of local services and communities working
together in a joined-up way. One of their key achievements has been to develop initiatives that link
up people with services offered by voluntary and community sector organisations. This has
contributed to one of our key outcomes, namely containing emergency hospital admission among
older people.
Moving forward, we recognise that people live and work in local areas or ‘neighbourhoods’,
therefore in 2019/20 and beyond we want to build on the work of Local Care Networks and widen
their scope. ‘Neighbourhoods’ will be places where community assets, services and local people
work together to improve people’s health and wellbeing. They will build on what is already in place
and will work more closely to make the most of our community assets.
Services for people with mental health issues
Partners have been working together on improving support for people with mental illness:






In July 2018, we agreed a long term alliance contract (The Living Well Alliance) between
NHS Lambeth CCG, Lambeth Council, South London & Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust,
Certitude and Thames Reach to improve outcomes and manage resources differently. The
initial focus has been on improving community and crisis services. This aims to support
people at an earlier stage to recover and stay at home
Supported over 500 people per month to access early support via the Living Well Network
Opened our Step Forward service which supports people to move on from hospital but who
are not quite ready to return home
Supported the design of new service proposals which will be implemented during 2019/20
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In 2019/20, we will:





Implement a new community support service offer via three Living Well Centres across the
borough
Implement a new crisis service offer, including the provision of a four hour face-to-face
response, to support people experiencing crisis in their own home, rather than placed in
hospital
Coproduce our neighbourhood / community outreach support offer by working with local
organisations
Implement our employment and vocational support strategy, which aims to support people to
access training, work placements and permanent jobs

Services for children, young people and maternity
Lambeth’s Children and Young People’s Plan - launched in March 2018 - is the key driver for
developing a Lambeth Together approach to children’s services in Lambeth (including Education,
Health and Social Care). It brings together statutory and voluntary agencies including schools to
deliver five key elements:






Special Educational Needs, Children at Risk and Looked After Children
Care Leavers
Better Start – focused on improving outcomes from maternity to school age, bringing
together children’s centres, Lambeth Early Action Partnership (LEAP), health visiting and
childcare providers
Early Help – developing local early intervention integrated locality services, including linking
in with our CYPHP programme
Lambeth Made – our innovative campaign to ensure all people, businesses and sectors
come together to support Children and Young People in Lambeth

Further work to deliver the plan will take place in 2019/20.

Our Healthier South East London (OHSEL)
OHSEL is South East London’s Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP), and brings
together our health and social care partners in south east London to support working in partnership
to get the best health outcomes for our population.
Published on 4 November 2016, the original STP Plan (full version and summary) was a series of
plans for different clinical areas and enablers, such as workforce and estates. Our south east
London STP was one of the first in the country to be made public.
In December 2018, we completed an 11 week aspirant Integrated Care System (ICS) programme.
In an integrated care system, NHS organisations, in partnership with local councils and others, take
collective responsibility for managing resources, delivering NHS standards, and improving the
health of the population they serve. The vision set out in the NHS Long Term Plan is for all STPs to
become ICSs by 2021. As part of the programme we looked at delivering better joined up care at
borough level as well as networking more specialist services. We will be taking forward work toward
becoming an ICS in 2019/20.
The NHS Long Term Plan sets out with a requirement for us to review our existing plan and we will
be submitting our revised plan for the next five years in autumn 2019.
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As an STP we have agreed the following five priorities:
1) Developing consistent and high quality community based care (CBC), primary care
development and prevention. This is an essential building block of our Integrated Care
System approach alongside the development of at scale approaches to preventing ill health
and reducing health inequalities
2) Improve quality and reduce variation across both physical and mental health. This includes
better integration of mental health, and reducing the pressure on and simplifying urgent and
emergency care
3) Reducing cost through provider collaboration. This includes consolidation of some clinical
and non-clinical support services such as pathology and finance back office functions
4) Developing sustainable specialised services. This includes mental health collaboration, renal
and cardiac work
5) Changing how we work together to deliver transformation. This focuses on how we can
make sure that we are able to provide care for the population of south east London as it
grows and ages, in a way that is affordable and meets the needs of a 21st century
population. In particular, it looks at new and more effective ways of providing care; avoiding
the need to visit hospitals and making the best use of new technology

Engagement
The models of care developed through Our Healthier South East London are the result of several
years of partnership working between clinicians, commissioners, social care leads and local
hospitals and have been informed by extensive engagement.
Patient and Public Advisory Group (PPAG): We have patient and public voices (PPVs) on each
of our clinical workstreams influencing all our key programmes of work and feeding into our PPAG.
The PPAG is made up of 14 PPVs, each of whom covers one or more specific workstreams. PPAG
meets on a bi-monthly basis.
Elective Orthopaedic Clinical Network: Orthopaedic surgery is one of the main reasons for
people having operations in south east London. Formed in 2018, our network aims to ensure equal
outcomes at all our hospitals across the STP. The network is comprised of healthcare professionals
and a patient representative with personal experience of receiving elective orthopaedic care at
Orpington Hospital. This year we have agreed a standard pathway for people having hip and knee
replacements. We set up focus groups of patients who had experienced these procedures, to inform
development of the standard pathway.
Maternity Voices: A Maternity Voices Partnership (MVP) is a group made up of women and their
families, commissioners and healthcare professionals working together to review and contribute to
the development of local maternity care. There are MVPs across all of the six boroughs of south
east London and each MVP has a local action plan. In addition there is MVP representation on both
the south east London maternity public health workstream and the south east London Better Births
Plan workstream. The role of the MVP member within these workstreams is to be the voice of the
women who will use the maternity services, providing guidance around the needs of this group of
women and fully contributing to all discussions around the workstream objectives.
Stakeholder and Equalities Reference Group meetings: We continued to hold these meetings in
2018/19 to ensure our plans are assured around patient and public engagement and equalities
issues. The Stakeholder Reference Group submitted feedback as part of NHS England’s initial
engagement on developing the NHS Long Term Plan.
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Some highlights from 2018/19:
Cancer - Better access to diagnosis and advice through a new nurse-led out-of-hours helpline for
all cancer patients across south east London; targeted bowel cancer screening for people with
learning disabilities; free home testing kits for patients showing potential signs of colorectal cancer
but at low risk; a new Rapid Access Diagnostic Clinic, which is now also working more closely with
mental health services; a new academy at Guy’s Cancer Centre to enhance excellent cancer care.
Community Based Care - Introducing the Red Bag Pathway across south east London. This
reduces the time taken for ambulance transfers, A&E assessments and helps reduce avoidable
hospital admission for care home residents through an easily recognisable way of transferring
paperwork, medications and personal belongings.
Better estates - developing our estates strategy; receiving national capital and other funding for
projects to support improved access to a broader range of more joined up services in community
settings.
Mental health - Increasing access for young people through a free online counselling service,
Kooth; increasing support for women in the first year after birth; increasing access to support for
people with mental ill health by training peer mentors who have lived experience of mental ill health.
Urgent and Emergency Care - The new 111 Integrated Urgent Care service was launched earlier
this year. It gives people easier access to advice and services where needed with additional input
from GPs, nurses, paramedics and pharmacists.
Developing our workforce - by increasing their skills and increasing the range of professionals
working in GP surgeries. For example, the Physician Associate Development Programme aims to
increase the number of physician associates working in south east London and enhance the skill
mix and capacity of GP practices in our boroughs.
Pathology - In 2018, provider trusts and clinical commissioning groups in south east London started
to work together to implement a network for delivering pathology services under a single shared
specification, in line with NHS Improvement’s national pathology strategy. The chosen option was to
procure a networked model and a south east London pathology board was established to oversee
the process.

Healthy London Partnership - HLP
NHS Lambeth CCG, along with London’s 32 CCGs, Greater London Authority, London Councils,
Public Health England and NHS England (London) contributed funding towards Healthy London
Partnership (HLP) in 2018/19. The aim was to bring together the NHS and partners in London to
work towards the common goals set out in Better Health for London, NHS Five Year Forward View
and the devolution agreement.
HLP works as a partnership across London’s health and care system and beyond to achieve these
goals. This includes NHS organisations in London, including NHS Lambeth CCG, NHS England,
NHS Improvement, hospital trusts and providers, as well as working across health and care with the
Greater London Authority (GLA), the Mayor of London, Public Health England and London Councils.
Additionally, HLP hosts the London Health and Care Strategic Partnership Board which provides
oversight and leadership for devolution plans, working closely with the London Health Board
secretariat. HLP is supporting the development of the refreshed shared vision for health and care to
ensure all partners are clear about their role in making London the world’s healthiest city.
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2018/19 has been another busy year for Healthy London Partnership. Through successful
partnership working across health and care in London, HLP has helped to deliver on a range of
programmes, outputs and achievements spanning primary and community care, secondary care
and mental health, as well as those focussed on integration of health and care and place based
care. All this work is part of the partnership’s collective aim to make London the world’s healthiest
city.
During 2018, there was a collaborative focus on social prescribing, which is a way of linking patients
in primary care with sources of support within the community for non-medical needs. The HLP
proactive care team has worked closely with partners to develop a draft ‘Social Prescribing Vision
for London’. The draft vision was developed by the GLA, NHS England, HLP and the London Social
Prescribing Network, in collaboration with partners across the NHS, local authority and voluntary,
community and social enterprise (VCSE) sector to support the scale and spread of social
prescribing across London.
Other engagement highlights in 2018/19 include a number of significant projects undertaken by
Thrive LDN, the citywide movement launched by Mayor Sadiq Khan to improve the mental health
and wellbeing of all Londoners. This included helping young Londoners to organise a festival of
cultural activity as part of Thrive LDN’s wider Are we OK London? campaign, which this year had a
potential reach of over 23 million people. This year’s campaign engaged with a more diverse
audience, grew Thrive LDN’s followers and subscribers and increased discussion and action around
how inequality and discrimination can affect Londoners’ mental health and wellbeing.
More recently, Thrive LDN published Londoners Said… – a report summarising the findings of the
17 community conversations run in partnership with the Mental Health Foundation (MHF) in half of
London’s boroughs. Each community conversation produced a comprehensive write-up to underpin
a plan for local action. The report includes 10 recommendations from Londoners on how to ensure
people have the right support to stay mentally healthy.
Following on from the Great Weight Debate, which engaged Londoners on how best to tackle
childhood obesity, HLP has worked with fast food shops, businesses and charities and young
people in three London boroughs (Southwark, Lambeth and Haringey) to pilot their ideas for making
high streets healthier for children and young people through the Healthy High Streets Challenge.
The Challenge provided invaluable insights into how to make healthier choices easier on London’s
high streets. The findings informed obesity strategies across all London boroughs and the Mayor’s
policy to restrict the advertising of food and drink that is high in fat, sugar and salt across Transport
for London’s advertising estate from February 2019.
Elsewhere on digital developments in 2018, London saw the full rollout of an NHS e-Referral
Service (e-RS) across 23 providers one month earlier than the national target date. This was
achieved through proactive and successful partnership working between London’s health and care
organisations and now means that all GP practices in the capital can manage a patient’s first
referral from primary care to hospital through a paperless process.
The London Mental Health Dashboard makes a wide range of London’s mental health data publicly
accessible in one place. Urgent suspected cancer referral activity data is also now presented in a
useful interactive dashboard developed by HLP.
There has also been a strong focus on mental health transformation across London during 2018/19.
London’s crisis care system has been working to improve the quality and consistency of care for
people in mental health crisis. Through HLP, London’s A&E departments and police forces have
worked together to develop a handover process for voluntary mental health patients in emergency
departments, which has resulted in 83% fewer people going missing from A&E during a mental
health crisis compared to the previous year. The handover process was awarded the Best Patient
Safety Initiative in A&E at the 2018 HSJ Awards.
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This year saw the NHS in London invest an extra £6 million into specialist mental health services to
support women during pregnancy and in the first year after giving birth. From March 2019, services
for perinatal mental health problems will be available across all of London. The extra resource has
resulted in 79 new whole time equivalent clinicians for London during 2018/19 and this important
specialist care is now offered to nearly 5,300 women a year.
HLP also launched a Mental Health in Schools Toolkit in 2018 which provides a range of information
for schools, governors and commissioners on mental health and emotional wellbeing in schools.
The suite of resources includes links to relevant guidance, practical tools and resources, and
examples from across London of new initiatives and approaches in schools or across local
authorities.
By October 2018, Good Thinking – London’s unique digital mental wellbeing service – had
supported over 100,000 Londoners to actively tackle anxiety, sleeplessness, stress and depression.
Since its launch at the end of 2017, Good Thinking has offered personalised new ways to improve
mental wellbeing for Londoners.
Elsewhere through partnership working in 2018, a whole system estates planning function has been
established through the London Estates Board. In spring 2019, the first London Health and Care
Estates Strategy was developed which will support a coordinated approach to using capital and the
release of surplus to requirement NHS estate, meaning much needed money is reinvested back into
London’s health and care system.
Finally, the clinically-led London Choosing Wisely programme concluded its work in 2018 to develop
eight pan London commissioning policies. Managed by HLP, the programme established clinical
expert working groups to inform the harmonisation of clinical commissioning policies for a limited
number of specific treatments. The policies were presented to CCG governing bodies in December
2018 for further engagement as required, prior to any implementation. Once implemented, the
policies will reduce variation of care for patients across London.

South East London Integrated Governance and Performance Committee
In November 2018 the south east London (SEL) Integrated Governance and Performance (IG&P)
committee was established by agreement of the governing bodies of the six CCGs. Collectively the
CCGs agree that some performance challenges (particularly those related to the acute sector)
require a consistent approach is required to resolve these issues. There is also a mutual
dependency in respect of financial delivery, which impacts all SEL CCGs. SEL CCGs recognise the
need to understand the collective position and mitigations for each organisations contribution to the
SEL financial position.
As such, the SEL IG&P committee has been established to monitor delivery of provider
organisations’ statutory and delivery responsibilities to ensure agreed actions and mitigations are
followed through; to discuss and agree appropriate remediation; and to pro-actively identify and
address declining performance indicators, ensuring deterioration is managed rapidly. The scope of
the SEL committee includes oversight of and coordination of the SEL CCGs’ response to: the
delivery of the SEL CCG control total; the sustainable delivery of the NHS Constitution standard for
referral-to-treatment (RTT) waiting times, cancer and diagnostics; and identification and pro-active
management of key strategic and operational risks relating to these areas.
The committee is chaired by an independent lay person. Membership is made up of representatives
from all SEL governing bodies and the south east London commissioning alliance (SELCA)
executive team.
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Going concern basis
NHS Lambeth CCG’s accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. NHS Lambeth CCG
has delivered its statutory financial targets in 2018/19 and indeed in every year since inception and
has an Operating Plan for 2019/20 that delivers its financial and performance targets. The CCG’s
existing five year financial plan shows the organisation achieving its financial duties in each year.
This is being refreshed and is part of the South East London STP. We continue, however, to be in a
period of significant financial challenge where we have lower growth and increasing demand for
services and are working at a system and borough level to deliver transformation to make sure that
we continue to be financially sustainable.
Although NHS Lambeth CCG, in common with other CCGs, has liabilities exceeding its assets, and
therefore negative taxpayers’ equity, this does not indicate a weak financial position. This is as a
result of the transfer of land and buildings to NHS Property Services, Community Health
Partnerships and Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust following the disaggregation of
Lambeth Primary Care Trust in April 2013.

Financial Performance
The CCG has met all of its statutory financial duties for financial year 2018/19. These are set out in
the table below.
2018/19
£000s
Capital Resource Limit
Revenue Limit – Programme
Revenue Limit – Admin
Revenue Limit – Total

2017/18
£000s

Target

Performance

Target

Performance

187
560,506
7,751
569,407

186
559,216
6,956
568,115

0
528,287
7,684
534,001

0
526,651
7,485
532,365

Duty
Achieved
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

During 2018/19, the CCG has managed cost pressures across commissioned services, with
increased complexity and demand for acute and mental health services, and on continuing care,
where activity continues to increase because of population and technological change. We are
mitigating this by transforming the way that we deliver services, as well as through contractual
mechanisms, including risk share, market management and alliancing arrangements.
In 2018/19, the CCG, recognising the significant and ongoing financial challenge, continued to
implement its financial recovery working, implementing measures, such as enhanced spending
controls and an increased focus on demand management.
In September 2017, the CCG, faced with increasing in-year and underlying financial pressures such
as hospital demand, continuing care and mental health in-patient activity declared itself to be in
financial recovery. The CCG continues to operate increased rigour in its financial and performance
systems across the organisation. In 2018/19 we increased our efforts, working with clinical and
managerial programme leads to identify and implement savings programmes locally as well as
actively participating in SEL-wide CCG recovery and transformation initiatives.
We monitored the financial performance and activity impact of our recovery plan throughout the
year, through our regular monthly reporting and undertook regular risk assessments. In 2018/19 the
CCG delivered 100% of its £19.513m (3.6%) QIPP target and faces a significant challenge from
2019/20 where increased demand and complexity has resulted in a target of £18.5m (3.3%).
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During 2018/19, the CCG made investment to deliver constitutional standards such as Referral to
Treatment (RTT) and the Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS).
You can read more about the CCG’s finances in the financial statements section of this report.

Performance summary
In July 2018 NHS England published the national CCG assessment ratings for 2017/18. NHS
Lambeth CCG was rated as Outstanding in NHS England’s national CCG annual assessment
compared to Good in 2016/17. Lambeth is one of only three out of 32 London CCGs rated as
Outstanding. Nationally only 20 out of 207 CCGs were rated Outstanding.
The assessment measures CCGs across the country against indicators in the national CCG
improvement and assessment framework (CCG IAF) including quality of leadership and finance. In
Lambeth, the quality of leadership was rated as Green Star and finance was rated as Green.
In addition to the main headline assessment of Outstanding, the CCG also received, in February
2019, ratings for all six Clinical Priority areas; Cancer, Maternity services, Mental Health, Dementia,
Learning Disabilities and Diabetes. The assessments provide a snapshot of how performance on
the listed priority areas compares with other CCGs, and, where relevant, whether the CCG is
meeting national ambitions. The assessment results are as follows:
Clinical Priority Area
Cancer
Maternity
Mental Health
Dementia
Learning Disabilities
Diabetes

2017/18 assessment rating
Good
Good
Requires Improvement
Good
Requires Improvement
Good

Work is underway to review the areas rated as Requires Improvement. Action plans are being
developed and progress will be monitored through the Living Well Network Alliance for Mental
Health and the Primary Care Commissioning Working Group for Learning Disabilities.
Further details can be found on the MyNHS section of the NHS Choices website.

360 degree survey
The 360 degree survey is a survey of stakeholders which is undertaken annually.
Fifty out of the 60 stakeholders completed the 2018/19 survey giving us a response rate of 83%.
The results were published early April 2019.
We are thrilled the feedback from our stakeholders has been so positive. We compare favourably
compared to the national comparisons and CCGs with similar populations on all of the questions
and the majority of questions for South London CCGs.
This includes a number of areas where we perform particularly well, relating to:





Improving health outcomes
Reducing health inequalities
Delivering value for money
Effective engagement
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Demonstrating views of patients and public have been considered

We recognise the importance of working with all of our stakeholders and will strive to further build on
these relationships during the year ahead.
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Our Performance
Performing against national standards
The NHS Constitution brings together in one place what patients, the public and staff can expect
from the NHS. It sets out rights to which patients, public and staff are entitled, and pledges that the
NHS is committed to achieve, together with responsibilities which the public, patients and staff owe
to one another, to ensure that the NHS operates fairly and effectively. All NHS bodies, as well as
private and third-sector providers supplying NHS services, are required by law to take account of
the NHS Constitution in their decisions and actions. More information is available here.
Our performance against the 2018/19 national performance measures is set out in the table below
and shows the current outturn position against the national indicators. We have continued to
improve performance of local services against some national standards and this is leading to better
health outcomes for patients. However, in common with the wider NHS, we face challenges locally
across a range of national hospital standards for emergency departments, elective care and cancer
treatment waiting times.

Constitutional standards & other commitments
RTT Incomplete pathway
Diagnostic Waits >6 weeks
A&E Waits (GSTT)
Cancer 2 weeks (GP referral)
Cancer 2 weeks (Breast symptoms)
Cancer 31 days (first definitive)
Cancer 31 days (subsequent - surgery)
Cancer 31 days (subsequent - drug)
Cancer 31 days (subsequent - radiotherapy)
Cancer 62 days (GP referral)
Cancer 62 days (referral NHS screening)
Proportion of people with depression
receiving psychological therapy
Proportion who complete therapy who are
Improved
moving to recovery
Access to
Proportion of patients that finished a course of
Psychological
treatment who received their first treatment
Therapies
appointment within 6 weeks of referral
Proportion of patients that finished a course of
treatment who received their first treatment
appointment within 18 weeks of referral
Early Intervention 2 week target
Dementia Diagnosis Rate

Operating
standard
2018/19
92%
<1%
95%
93%
93%
96%
94%
98%
94%
85%
90%
19.2%
(rolling qtr.
4.75 Q4)

Outturn
2018/19
83.88%
3.04%
86.1%
93.77%
92.86%
97.43%
93.06%
98.21%
96.54%
83.89%
76.92%
4.9%

50%

50.1%

75%

94.5%

95%

100%

50%
67%

70%
80.1%

Referral to treatment times
Whilst the CCG is committed to improving performance and to ensuring that admitted waiting times
improve, there is no performance requirement for CCGs to meet the RTT standard of 92% in
2018/19. The focus is to ensure that the size of the waiting list will be no higher in March 2019 than
March 2018, thus meeting the requirements of the 2018/19 Operating Plan guidance. As at March
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2019 the CCG had 27,007 patients on the waiting list, which is above the trajectory of 20,433. The
two main reasons for this end of year variance is the inclusion of St George’s data when the trust
started reporting RTT data in January, and the overall increase in the GSTT patient list. The highest
number of waiters is within Gastrointestinal Medicine and Surgery (GMS) and Cleft at GSTT and
Bariatrics at Kings College Hospital (KCH). Long waiters are being managed through regular
reviews of the Patient Tracking Lists. Validation work is regularly carried out to identity patients who
do not qualify for inclusion onto the inpatient list due to factors such as not being fit or eligible for
surgery.
The national standard states that no patient on an incomplete pathway should have a length of wait
longer than 52 weeks. As at the end of March 2019 there were 46 Lambeth patients waiting longer
than 52 weeks (34 at KCH, 10 at GSTT, 2 at STG).
The demand for hospital referrals has been high throughout 2018/19. The forecast outturn position
for 2018/19 for Lambeth CCG to our three main trusts (GSTT, KCH and STG) is a 9% growth, which
is well above the 0.8% growth in the CCG’s locally derived sustainability plan.

Diagnostic waits
The operational standard is that no more than 1% of patients should be waiting more than six weeks
or more for fifteen key diagnostic tests at the end of the reporting period, and the position as at the
end of March 2019 is 3.04%. NHS Lambeth CCG has not met the 1% target for the majority of
2018/19. The main drivers for under-performance were due to capacity constraints and the need for
the replacement of scanning equipment.

A&E waits
The national standard states that 95% of patients should be seen within four hours in an A&E
department. Trusts across the country and London alike have struggled to meet this requirement
throughout 2018/19.
Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust (GSTT) did not meet the 95% standard for 2018/19.
However, despite not meeting the standard GSTT has been one of the top performing in London.
Performance has been directly impacted by the increase in attendances. There has been an
increase of 9.1% through majors and resus compared to 2017/18. The main reasons behind the
under-performance, is due to this increase in attendances, staffing shortages, particularly amongst
junior doctors, and bed flow. A number of actions have been taken including the implementation of a
GP vocational training scheme, which provides some robustness to staffing and enables the Trust
to explore longer-term solutions particularly overnight shifts.
Performance has been routinely reported through the CCG’s Practice Information Support Packs
and extensive work has taken place to ensure that demand has been managed through the Urgent
Care Centres and out of hours services. This has meant that more patients have been able to
access care and advice without attending A&E departments.

Cancer waiting times
Performance across the majority of cancer waiting times standards has fluctuated for most of
2018/19, but improved as the year has progressed. The most challenging areas have been the
achievement of the cancer 62 day standards for patients receiving definitive treatment.
Underperformance against the 62 day standard is often attributable to patients whose care is
completed at Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust but who may have started care in a
different referring hospital.
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The South East London Cancer Alliance, together with South East London Cancer Networks are
working collaboratively across local clinical and managerial leaders to improve the duty of cancer
standards, quality of care and cancer outcomes for the population of south east London.

Improved Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT)
Around one in six adults in England have a common mental health disorder such as depression or
anxiety. The commitment to continue to improve access to psychological therapy was set out in
Achieving Better Access for Mental Health Services by 2020 and reinforced in the 2015
Comprehensive Spending Review. The primary purpose of this indicator is to measure improvement
in access rates to psychological therapy services via the national Improving Access to Psychological
Therapies (IAPT) programme for people with depression and/or anxiety disorders.
The standard for people with depression who are referred for and access psychological therapy for
Lambeth CCG is 19.2% for 2018/19. Meeting the requirement of a rolling quarterly target of 4.75%
for Lambeth CCG has been challenging, however, performance figures as at the end of March 2019
show that the rolling quarter requirement has been met (4.9%). Lambeth CCG continue to work in
partnership with Lambeth Talking Therapies Service (TTS) through the Living Well Network Alliance
(LWNA) to explore service further developments that will enable the Talking Therapy Service to
maintain for the end of 2018/19.
Lambeth CCG will continue to closely monitor the performance of the TTS with the Living Well
Network Alliance. Integral to the success of the service is not just the achievement of the access
target but decreased waiting times for Step 2 and 3 treatment as well as achieving the 50%
recovery target.
The standard for the proportion of people who subsequently complete therapy and move to
recovery is 50%. Performance in this area for the year is above the 50% standard, at 50.1% for the
year. The CCG will continue to work on improving the recovery rates in 2019/20. A financial
investment of £600k has been allocated for IAPT.
NHS Lambeth CCG has performed consistently well against the target for the proportion of Lambeth
patients finishing a course of treatment receiving their first appointment within six weeks of referral.
The target was exceeded throughout the year achieving an average of 94.5% against the 75%
target. Strong performance is also being maintained against the 95% target for the proportion of
patients finishing a course of treatment receiving their first appointment within 18 weeks of referral.
Performance throughout 2018/19 has been well above 95% achieving 100%.
Early Intervention into Psychosis (EIP)
The operating standard for this service is 50%. The CCG has performed consistently well against
this target, exceeding the target every month during 2018/19. The latest figure as at February 2019
is 70%.

Dementia
NHS Lambeth CCG has achieved significantly higher than the 66.7% national standard. At an
average rate of 80.1% in 2018/19 compared to 74.7% for recording dementia diagnoses in primary
care during 2017/18. This compares favourably to the average across SEL CCGs of 71.6%.
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South East London Transforming Care
The South East London Transforming Care Partnership (TCP) consists of the six south east London
CCGs and councils and NHS England Specialised Commissioning. Our TCP vision was developed
with people with lived experience and is:




To achieve equality of life chances and opportunities for people with a learning disability (LD)
and/or autism including those with a mental health problem
For people with LD and/or autism to grow up and live as independently as possible as
adults, giving life-long support where this is needed
For mainstream services to enable people with LD and/or autism to access services to
enable them to live healthy lives

Our commitment towards, and funding of, the Transforming Care agenda has begun to deliver
benefits locally. We have seen that our consistent approach to Care and Treatment Reviews (CTRs)
and Dynamic Risk Register processes across South East London has helped to reduce the number
of people in CCG commissioned inpatient beds, though the position remains challenging.
Staff are working in a new multi-disciplinary team seeking to achieve a sustainable reduction in the
number of people accommodated in in-patient units.
Lambeth Intensive Community service went live in March 2018. The new service, called Without
Walls, is being delivered by Council staff in partnership with Elfrida Rathbone which works with
young people with learning difficulties. The model works to good practice guidelines as set out in the
Mansell Report (2007), which emphasised the need to provide highly specialist services in the
community, close to people’s homes, which recommend early detection of any escalation of need
and preventing crises from occurring and to prevent hospital admissions to locked rehab and secure
ward beds.
A shared specialist function is being established across south east London. We are working with
colleagues in the council to develop a new specialist supported living scheme and crisis service to
enable further inpatient discharges and prevent hospital admissions, and approaching NHS England
for capital funds.
We led on the development of a housing strategy for the South East London Transforming Care
Partnership, and our approach to improve the uptake of Health Checks has been adopted across
south east London.

Improving quality
Our aim is to commission services of the highest quality. We have discharged our duty to improve
the quality of services in a number of ways as outlined below.
In the past year we have continued to ensure the prioritisation of quality and patient safety. Some
developments include:




Quarterly quality reporting to our Governing Body which covers information about quality
issues within our providers
Continuing to develop the CCG Clinical Network to promote clinical engagement in our
health programmes
Monthly Clinical Quality Review Group meetings with our providers to discuss quality issues
such as deep-dives into cancer and Referral to Treatment Times (RTT), digital technology,
Never Events and Serious Incidents, safeguarding and infection control
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Establishment of a Clinical Quality Review Group for Primary Care
An annual discussion on quality issues with NHS providers with our Governing Body
Continuing to share information on health issues in South London including provider services
through the NHS England-led South London Quality Surveillance Group and NHS England’s
Patient Safety Leads Forum
Membership of the Directors of Quality meeting across the South east London CCG’s
Learning from and supporting local CQC inspections of GP practices
Development of the Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) programme in Lambeth
Supporting GPs to assess infection control procedures and practice
Planning a quality resources intranet page for general practice
Undertaking quality impact assessments as part of the development of Quality, Innovation,
Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) schemes
Held three protected learning times for general practice on mental health, learning disability
and cardiorespiratory
Funded Safeguarding Masterclasses for health and social care professionals in Lambeth

We also received our 2018/19 ratings for six clinical priority areas as part of the NHS Improvement
Assessment Framework. Further details are on page 23.
Quality alert and incident reporting
GPs are encouraged to raise systemic quality issues with providers through the web based Quality
Alerts, Incidents and Commendations (QUIC) system and highlight good practice through
commendations. This has been well received by practices with 81% of practices using it over the
year.
In addition, local Trusts are now reporting more quality alerts regarding general practices. To
support general practices to respond to quality alerts, the CCG Quality Team have introduced a
process of triaging these to identify key questions practices should seek to answer in their
investigation process. A large number of these have related to use of the electronic referral system
with practices reviewing and amending their internal processes to ensure they are correctly making
referrals.
GP practices have also used the National Reporting and Learning System (NRLS) to report patient
safety incidents and share reports with NHS Lambeth CCG so that any issues with providers can be
highlighted to them for investigation.
Learning from quality alerts is discussed at clinically led provider / commissioner clinical quality
review meetings.
Example of developments by Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust in response to quality
alerts include:






District Nursing team to communicate all failed home visits to GPs
Urology and Dermatology staff reminded to explain rationale for actions within clinic letters
and ensure prescriptions are completed as per guidelines
Cardiology services reinforced scanning paper referrals onto the electronic record and
ensuring that all interactions with patients and GPs about diagnostics are recorded on the
electronic record system
New consultant to consultant policy established to confirm there is no need to refer urgent
and non-urgent treatments related to the original referral back to the GP for re-referral
CCG commissioning managers are reviewing alerts raised by Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS
Foundation Trust about the incorrect use of the Electronic Referral System in general
practice, to identify trends and target support to practices
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Management of Serious Incidents
Serious Incidents (SI) are events where the potential for learning is so great, or consequences so
significant, that they require a comprehensive response. Serious Incidents may affect patients
directly or include events that indirectly affect patient safety or an organisation’s ability to deliver
ongoing healthcare. Never Events are Serious Incidents that are wholly preventable, where
guidance or safety recommendations that provide strong systemic protective barriers are available
nationally and have been implemented.
We recognise that high reporting organisations are high performing organisations, with a strong
safety culture. Serious Incidents reported by our providers are reviewed through our monthly Clinical
Quality Review Groups (CQRG). Guidance from NHS England on Serious Incident management
defines the responsibilities of CCGs in monitoring Serious Incidents reported by their providers. We
have established robust processes for the management of Serious Incidents, which are in line with
the national guidance.
Serious Incident reporting and management requirements are included within our provider
contracts. CCGs have a responsibility to ensure that provider organisations from which it
commissions healthcare services have robust systems to manage any Serious Incidents which
occur.
Processes in place for managing serious incidents:






Attendance at the Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust Serious Incident Assurance
Panel (SIAP)
Attendance at the South London the Maudsley NHS Trust Serious Incident Review Group,
replacing CCG Provider SI meetings
Monthly provider clinical quality review meetings, chaired by a Governing Body clinician,
considering a broad quality agenda, including risk management and incident reporting
Review and closure of all Serious Incidents by Lambeth CCG Serious Incident Review
Group
Analysis of Serious Incidents and outcomes provided to the CCG Integrated Governance
Committee and Governing Body

During the year we were notified of nine Never Events at Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation
Trust. These included one unintentional connection of a patient requiring oxygen to an airflow
meter, one overdose of insulin due to an abbreviation or incorrect device and seven wrong site
surgeries. These continue to be monitored by the CCG.
In 2018, the responsibility for the management of Serious Incidents in general practice moved from
NHS England to the CCG and the CCG has been developing communications and information to
support general practice with serious incident reporting and investigation.

Complaints about care, following the Ombudsman’s Principles
The Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman is responsible for handling complaints from the
public that relate to maladministration and has set out the six principles which underpin this work,
which are to: get it right; be customer focused; be open and accountable; act fairly and
proportionately; put things right and seek continuous improvement.
We continue to work hard to meet the standards set within these principles, working closely with
partner agencies such as Healthwatch, hospital trusts and NHS England to ensure a robust service
which reflects the principles of being open and enabling continuous improvement to meet the needs
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of residents within the borough. There were two requests to the Health Service Ombudsman
regarding the CCG during the year. One was not upheld and the other remains in progress.
The CCG monitors all complaints received regarding its commissioning activities and reports on a
quarterly basis to the Governing Body through the Integrated Governance Committee.

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN)
The Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) payment aims to deliver improvements in
the quality of services and better outcomes for patients. The CQUIN scheme for 2018/19 has been
influenced by the ambitions of the Five Year Forward View (FYFV). The design of the scheme is
intended to incentivise service improvement and transformation. National CQUINs focused on the
delivery of improvements in staff health and wellbeing, increased screening and timely treatment for
sepsis and reductions in the use of antibiotics.
NHS Lambeth CCG has worked closely with NHS Southwark CCG, Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS
Foundation Trust and King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust to develop local CQUINs.
These were designed to incentivise trusts to transform services in line with CCG strategy. They
involve delivering standardised and routine recording and sharing of information on the Vital 5 blood pressure, obesity, mental health score, alcohol intake and smoking habits - to deliver
consistent high quality care for patients in Lambeth and Southwark.
There was also a Lambeth and Southwark only local CQUIN, relating to Care Coordination for
people with three or more Long Term Conditions (LTCs). This was a system-wide CQUIN involving
Kings’ College Hospital, Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust, South London and the
Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust, with mirror incentives in Primary Care contracts, which promoted
better integrated care and improved care planning and support for complex LTC patients.

Quality Premium
The Quality Premium is intended to reward CCGs for improvements in the quality of the services
that they commission and for associated improvements in health outcomes and reducing
inequalities. The Quality Premium for NHS Lambeth CCG is agreed with the local Health and
Wellbeing Board and NHS England (London).
In order for the CCG to receive a financial 2018/19 Quality Premium award, the organisation must
achieve a number of national and local indicators, including waiting times for A&E, demand for
emergency care, cancer waiting times and access to mental health services. This is in addition to
meeting the requirements of the Finance and Quality Gateways. The outcome of the 2018/19
Quality Premium assessment will be published in July 2019. Further details can be found here.

Reducing inequalities
We are committed to promoting equality, diversity and human rights for Lambeth people, and seek
to integrate this approach into all aspects of our work. As part of our commitment, we used the NHS
Equality Delivery System (EDS2) to help us take stock of our performance and to identify priority
areas for development and improvement to take forward in our Equalities Strategy. Achievement of
our equalities objectives is supported by a comprehensive annual action plan.
During 2018/19, we measured the progress made to achieve our equalities objectives by revealing
health outcomes amongst different population groups to ascertain whether services were impacting
equally across the population. To do this we measured gender, ethnicity and age variations among
those with certain health conditions, using data from the clinical systems of our 42 GP practices.
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The measures taken included:













For people with diabetes aged over 65 – is a care plan in place? After raising our target
from 50% in 2015 to 75% for 2017/18 between April and December 2018 a percentage of
70% was achieved
For people with a learning disability – is a care plan in place and is an annual health
check carried out? We did not achieve our target of 95% for health checks but achieved a
good coverage and 75% for the year 2018/19. We have increased the numbers of people
who have a care plan to 72% from a very low start of 15% in 2015
For people who care for a relative – is that fact officially recorded in the person’s GP
record? We have improved the recording of carer status in GP records across Lambeth,
raising awareness with primary care colleagues and through patient and carer groups too;
we continue to use the film we produced last year to help people to identify themselves as
carers and access support. With Lambeth Council we have launched the Framework for
Action which commits us to deliver four outcomes for Lambeth carers: being respected and
involved as a carer; having a life of one’s own alongside the caring role; not being forced into
financial hardship by having a caring role; being supported to stay well; and, for young
carers, a fifth outcome: to enjoy a thriving childhood and be supported to learn, develop and
be protected from inappropriate caring roles
In addition to this, in 2017-19, the CCG commissioned our local GP Federations to work on a
number of initiatives to increase the identification and signposting of people who are Carers.
This work has resulted in significant improvements to the quality of data on Practice registers
for carers, including identifying those that have significant health needs themselves.
Between April 2017 and September 2018 Flu vaccinations have been given to 5,600 carers
in Lambeth. In the same period 1,893 carers have been signposted to alternative sources of
help to meet their needs
For people with a serious mental illness – can the numbers of these people who
smoke be reduced? Recording of smoking status on GPs serious mental illness registers
has been a priority as part of our work to improve the physical health of people with ongoing
mental health concerns. Despite additional support to this group to stop smoking, it was not
possible to collect and analyse the data. We continue to work with health service providers
to keep a focus on the physical health status of people using mental health services
For manual workers – could the numbers encouraged to quit smoking be increased?
In 2018 we made substantial progress from 34% to 62% (Q1 2018-19 – latest data
available). This is a rise of almost 30% since the previous quarter and is above the London
achievement percentage for the quarter of 49%. We continue to work with colleagues in
public health to ensure that this group remains a priority for stop smoking support
commissioned by Lambeth Council
For children and young people – what proportion of CAMHS users are from the
Lambeth BAME community? This is a new measure which we are introducing for the
coming financial year. We will measure this through 6 monthly reports and aim to bring
BAME access to CAMHS services in line with the general Lambeth 0-19 population within
five years; to 60% of users. Our target in 2019/20 is 45%
For people with hypertension – what proportion of people have their hypertension
effectively controlled to a level of 160/100 or less? As at December 2018 the total
number of people on the hypertensive register represents approximately 9.3% of the GP
registered population. Control of blood pressure has improved for men and for women.
Control 20 to 29 year age group saw the biggest improvement, of 4.6%. Amongst the
eighteen ethnic groups, over the period since January 2016, twelve have seen an
improvement in the proportion whose blood pressure is controlled to less than 160/100
mmHg. The largest improvement of approximately 3.4% can be seen in the Mixed White and
Black Caribbean groups

Information on these measures is produced every three months and reported to programme boards.
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Delivery of our Equalities Strategy is overseen by our Engagement, Equalities and Communications
Committee, which reports to the Governing Body and provides our leadership with assurance on our
work in this area. The committee is chaired by a local GP, includes a CCG Lay Member, patient
group representatives, voluntary sector and Healthwatch representation and meets four times a
year. The goals and outcomes framework of EDS2 will support a wider review of our equalities
agenda as we develop our new strategy during 2019-20. The Equality Delivery System (EDS) is a
toolkit to help all staff and NHS organisations understand how equality can drive improvements,
strengthen the accountability of services to those using them, and bring about workplaces free from
discrimination.
Good progress was made on delivering the CCG’s Equality Objectives:




Equality impact assessments with local equality data from providers and public health
continue to inform commissioning decisions
Stakeholder, community and patient engagement has taken place with more communities in
Lambeth to ensure more participation and consultation on significant projects
Health Inequalities have been reduced for carers, adults with hypertension, a learning
disability, or diabetes

Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES)
The Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) is a benchmarking tool introduced by NHS England
to assess the progress of race equality within NHS organisations annually, following an initial
evidence baseline gathered in 2015.
CCG performance against the WRES is a measure of how our local Trusts perform in relation to
race equality among their staff.
The CCG does not have to publish its own WRES data due to the small numbers reported and to
protect staff identity under the Data Protection Act. However, the CCG has agreed to publish the
metric regarding Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) staff in bands 8-9 and VSM (Very Senior
Management) compared to the workforce overall – please see chart below for details:

BME staff in bands 8-9 and VSM compared to the
workforce

Bands 8-9 and VSM

12

Total - Workforce

15

35

1

BME
White

0%

10%

40
20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

3
70%

80%

Not stated

90% 100%

Analysis
The percentage of BME staff in bands 8-9 and VSM is 25%, which is 1% less than the CCG
representation of BME employees in its workforce that is 26%.
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The CCG has noted that both BME figures do not reflect the percentage of BME people in the
Lambeth population, which is 43%. The CCG is developing an action plan to address this.
We have a nominated clinical lead for equalities on our Governing Body and support at director and
manager level to drive forward our equalities agenda.

Engaging and involving patients and the public
Vision for engagement
Our Involving People Strategy, engagement rated Green for ‘Good’ by NHSE, sets out three
overarching priorities for our work to involve people in our business:
Collaboration: we will promote and support joined up practice in involving local people and
stakeholders in our joint work with partner agencies in Lambeth and beyond.
Focus: we will sharpen the focus of our engagement, identifying target groups at all levels in our
programme planning and providing clear opportunities for people to be involved in difficult
discussions and decisions.
Diversity: our engagement will support us to reduce inequalities in health in Lambeth.
We have a detailed plan for our work in these areas, and keep this under review through our
Engagement, Equalities and Communications Committee, which meets quarterly.
Lambeth CCG’s broad approach:






We have a strong track record of involving people in decision-making in all areas of
commissioning – from governance through service planning, design, review, procurement
and contract management; rated highly by NHS England for meaningful and high quality
engagement for diverse populations
We deliberately use a variety of approaches to engage diverse populations – not a one-size
fits all approach:
o programme-specific engagement highly targeted to ensure consultation or design
work involves people with direct experience; may involve patients/public in working
groups, focus groups, surveys, procurement panels and outreach to VCS groups etc.
o regular opportunities for dialogue with interest/lobby groups (for example two-monthly
Public Forum preceding Governing Body meetings where any individual or group can
ask submit/questions/start conversation with GB members)
o outreach to community events and groups to generate and listen to comments and
ideas from people who might not come to meetings, join groups or respond to
invitations or consultations (for example July 2017 Health and Wellbeing Trail at
Lambeth Country Show)
We have an established Recognition Policy – patient and public involvement, which defines
Patient and Public Voice (PPV) roles and our process for reimbursement

Resources for engagement
Examples of investment in engagement include:


£72k funding (1 year) to commission the Lambeth Patient Participation Group Network to
develop groups in GP practices, support learning across groups, and to act as conduit
between CCG and patients on the range of services
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funding from mental health commissioning team for peer support programmes in mental
health and for coproduction work in developing Living Well Network Alliance

Additionally at corporate level we invest time and financial resource to ensure we have a visible
presence at significant community events (for example Lambeth Country Show) and to offer a
standing invitation to members of our public to engage with us via our bi-monthly Public Forum.
We invest in a resource from the NEL (formerly NEL Commissioning Support Unit) for two specific
areas of engagement and secondment cover:



to manage the south east London Stakeholder Reference Group, which advises and
comments on engagement and communications activity and plans that concern more than
one CCG area
to co-ordinate engagement activity for Our Healthier South East London, our STP
programme across 6 CCGs and local authority areas and their NHS Trusts

Infrastructure for engagement and participation
Governing Body and Public Forum
We hold Governing Body meetings in public six times a year and hold a Public Forum before each
meeting, where we invite local people to talk to us and ask questions on any matter. The Forum is
always well-attended. Discussions in the last year have included:







Health policy and STPs in particular
LCNs and urgent care
Consultations on the Lambeth primary care walk in centre and NHS prescriptions
Models of care for mental health
Communication and engagement with voluntary and community organisations
Patient participation groups and our work to support and involve carers

Patient experience and insight
We use information on patient satisfaction from sources including national and local survey
programmes as well as through quality and complaints monitoring systems.
In contracts we specify the collection and reporting of quality from the patient perspective (through
the use of surveys for example).
Developing and working through existing networks
‘Patient groups’ and neighbourhood forums:



We use existing networks and groups, where possible, to help us develop our plans
We have supported and have ongoing links with a number of patient groups including:
o Lambeth BreatheEasy
o Local patient-led Diabetes UK
o service user and carer members of the Collaborative for mental health
o Lambeth Patient Participation Group Network

Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS):


Lambeth’s diverse communities have developed hundreds of groups based around faith,
identity, interest and locality. We work closely with VCS partners in our development of plans
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and programmes including mental health, children and young people and frail older people in
particular
We are currently working with Lambeth Council to develop effective infrastructure support for
Lambeth’s VCS in order to enable groups to have more strategic input to influence local
developments in health and care such as Local Care Networks
Throughout November, December and January 2018 Lambeth CCG engagement staff have
drawn on VCS support from diverse groups, including Latin American and Deaf community
groups contributing to the Lewisham, Southwark and Lambeth joint review of Interpreting
and Translations Services. This activity has included emerging contacts that we will develop
into cooperative working relationships through 2019

Working with Healthwatch Lambeth:
Our partnership work with Healthwatch Lambeth is positive. Healthwatch are a member of our
Governing Body, on our programme boards and are involved in diverse areas of our work and on
issues of common concern. Regular informal briefings and information-sharing sessions ensure we
are up-to-date with one another’s work and informed about major projects and plans.
Healthwatch Lambeth is involved in most areas of our work, so we list below just a few examples of
ways we have worked together in the last couple of years:







The experience of frail older people leaving hospital
Care home improvement plans
Access to primary care services for people with learning disabilities
Dementia support
Mental health information in primary care
Lambeth Advance Care Planning Consortium

Case study: Improving the quality of life of adults with learning disabilities
As part of Adult Learning Disability week, Black Prince Trust worked in partnership with Guys and
St Thomas community staff to offer a day of fun activities for local day care centres that support
adults with learning disabilities, an idea that was initiated through the LCNs. The day was
designed to encourage day centre staff and personal carers to bring along their clients to take
part in existing activities at Black Prince Trust, including dance and exercise classes and a
special designed football session to celebrate the World Cup.
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Achievements of our programmes
In order to deliver the ambitions of our Healthier Together strategic vision we have established five
clinically led programmes, working with Lambeth Council and other partners as follows:






Adult Services Programme
Children, Young People and Maternity Services Programme
Mental Health Programme
Primary Care Development Programme, incorporating community based care
Staying Healthy Programme

These programmes are supported by enabling functions including engagement, organisational
development workforce, IT, estates, communications and equalities.
Each of our programmes has a clear set of objectives within its work programme linked to our
overall Strategic Plan, our commissioning intentions and clinical and managerial leadership with
Governing Body oversight and accountability.
Programme delivery is reviewed through the Integrated Governance Committee, with onward
reporting to Governing Body meetings in public. You can read more in the Governing Body papers
on our website.

Services for children, young people and maternity
Our children and families services are commissioned to cover pregnancy to 18 years old (up to 25
for young people with a disability). They cover a range of services provided in hospital as well as in
the community. Services are designed and procured through an Integrated Children, Young People,
Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) and maternity commissioning team,
which sits across Lambeth CCG and Lambeth Borough Council. The team works to deliver the
vision in the newly finalised Lambeth Children and Young People’s Plan:
“We think Lambeth should be the best place in the world for children and young people to grow up,
providing a rich mix of relationships, experiences, opportunities and services that enable children
and young people from all backgrounds and communities to thrive.”
The Children’s and Young Peoples Plan 2018-2022 co-produced with children and young people in
Lambeth, sets out our priorities:






A Better Start – Maternity and Under 5’s
A new approach to Early Help – 5-19 year olds
Children with Disabilities and Special Educational Needs
Children at Risk of Harm and Looked After Children
Lambeth Made Campaign – Involving the community in making Lambeth the best place for
young people to grow up

Within these five programme areas, we also support the work of:
The Children and Young People’s Health Partnership (CYPHP)
The Programme aims to demonstrate that a new evidence-based model of care for children and
young people can deliver better health outcomes and improve the effectiveness and efficiency of
the local health system. CYPHP are supporting a range of innovative projects including, In reach
clinics, The Teen Health Talk Tool and training for school staff and looked after children’s Personal
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advisors. Commissioners from NHS Lambeth CCG are a key partner in the delivery of CYPHP, and
working with the programme to ensure the programme’s impact increases through ensuring use of
call/recall and the in-reach clinic model.
Case Study: CAMHS, Lambeth Made
Over the last 8 to 9 months, using some of the funding ring-fenced for Child and Adolescent
Mental Health Services transformation alongside other partnership resources, we have supported
and piloted more third sector organisations and projects focussed on specific vulnerable cohorts
of young people. This gives young people options for gaining support for their mental health and
associated needs, rather than relying on Tier 3 and 4 services. A few examples of these local
projects supported are:





Ashdon Jazz Academy – Peer and volunteer mentoring for young girls and ‘Girls night in’
homework club and creative sessions: began March 2019
Black Prince Trust – offered free sport classes for young people in Lambeth, with a view
to improving their emotional health and wellbeing. More than 95 Lambeth young people,
from varying ethnic backgrounds, attended the free boxing and basketball sessions
Mental Health; The Arts – A Young carers programme delivered over 6 weeks
incorporating self-esteem work, creative arts, Mentoring and Life coaches. 10 young
people graduated from the programme within the first programme
Streatham jobs fair: with over 150 attendees, 40 young people in Streatham found
themselves part time work as a result of a Lambeth Made jobs fair set up in partnership
with local business

Lambeth Early Action Partnership (LEAP)
LEAP aims to improve the health and development of babies and toddlers in Lambeth. To achieve
this goal, the programme focuses on three key child-level outcomes: diet and nutrition; social and
emotional development; and communication and language. In total, LEAP now has 15 services
either operational or in development. Alongside these services, LEAP also works to support and
train the early year’s workforce. As with CYPHP, the Children’s integrated commissioning team play
a key role in the partnership.
We have taken positive steps in delivering across the five priorities in our Children and Young
People’s Plan, as can be seen from the list below laying out just some of our achievements this
year.
Over 2018/19 Lambeth Early Action Partnership (LEAP), has trained a quarter of the eligible
workforce so far this year, including 63 attendees for diet and nutrition training and 52 workforce
attending domestic violence training. LEAP also had 22 ‘live’ services operating in the four Lambeth
wards of Coldharbour, Stockwell, Tulse Hill and Vassall as of December 2018.
LEAP’s community programmes have also supported over 50 community events in 2018. Incredible
Edible LEAP – a community initiative about making life healthier for families with children under 4 –
made almost 1,500 contacts with families and children over two quarters this year and provided 166
vegetable bags to families.
This year we have:


Commissioned Suicide and Trauma training for the children and young people’s workforce
across Lambeth
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Rolled out emotional resilience training in Primary and Secondary schools across Lambeth,
working with over 50 schools across the borough
Ensured recovery plans are in place across the STP to increase performance against access
targets for Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) (See Case Study:
Lambeth Made, above)
Commissioned of digital mental health provision app (Kooth) for children and young people
Worked with South London and the Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust to redesign community
CAMHS services to reduce waiting times and align with Early Help services
Updated and published the new CAMHS transformation plan for 2018 – 2019, summarising
the key elements of work happening in Lambeth and future plans
Reframed the Early Help programme to offer more services required in the community. This
was done by interacting with all sectors within Lambeth and gathering information through
surveys and meetings in order to provide a better Early Help service, the Streatham early
help pilot being an example (See Case Study; Early Help below)
Developed the Streatham Early Help pilot and a LAP (Locality Action Panel) where early
help cases are discussed and allocated with statutory partners, voluntary and community
services organisations, Police and schools. We began the roll out of the pilot model to the
wider areas of Tulse Hill and Brixton Hill
Begun to recommission frontline voluntary and community services organisations provisions
to improve our targeted tier 2 offer
Lambeth Made was launched during the summer and autumn months of 2018. The
campaign was launched with the help of the strategic partners across Lambeth. This
partnership consisted of members from, Health sector, Voluntary and Community sector,
Local Authority, Schools and other partners
Embedding ACES (Adverse Childhood Experiences) approach into our Early Help and social
care programmes
Introduction of Health Development Reviews at children’s centres (being delivered by Health
Visitors)
Undertaken a full review and redesign of Lambeth children centres, including a large public
consultation
Developed (and agreed through our Better Start steering group) an integrated pathway of
early years provision, which will be launched in Q2/3 2019
Implementation of a new, borough wide breastfeeding model, which has been agreed and
was introduced across Lambeth from the end of October. We as a local area achieved
UNICEF Baby Friendly Stage III accreditation in May 2018, which is a huge achievement
and indicator of the strength of partnership working in the borough
Commissioned Mosaic LGBTQ youth centre to deliver group sessions, school and college
awareness and one to one support for young people across Lambeth




















Case Study: Early Help
From January to May 2018, the Reframing Early Help Programme ran workshops with community
groups, internal staff and partner organisations to gain insight into their experiences of using and
delivering early help services. Over 196 partners responded to our reframing early help survey,
stating that they needed three key things in order to deliver effective early help services to
families with emerging needs:




A locality based offer with a named early help contact
A multi-agency network where professionals can discuss complex cases, harness local
help and get support managing risk
A local training offer based on local needs
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Following this clear feedback from partners,
the Reframing Early Help Programme team
designed the Streatham early help pilot to
incorporate the above requests. As part of
the Early Help Streatham Pilot, we
introduced multi-agency Locality Action
Panels (LAPs) to provide forums for
agencies across the statutory and
community services to come together to
develop support packages for local families.
The LAP panels, which are chaired by the
Early Help Locality Manager, have enabled
practitioners to access a wide range of
resources, specialist advice and swap the
lead professional role with a partner who is
better placed to support the family. To date
the pilot has been very well received, with
partnership engagement, support and the
commitment being sighted as key strength
in the MHCLG’s recent Troubled Families Spot Checks.
Maternity services
Our local providers are leading on the SEL Local Maternity System workstreams (through the Better
Births review) relating to Reducing infant mortality and Continuity of care for women.
Looking forward
During 2019/20, our work programme will include:








Roll out of the new Early Help Locality model to all areas of the borough
A redesigned Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services service in place meeting
current need and with reduced waiting times
A robust pathway throughout tiers allowing access for young people to early and high
quality mental health support, intervention and treatment
Finalising and launching our new, integrated Early Years pathway
Finalising our community therapies review, and working to redesign a model of therapy
delivery which meets needs
Finalising the Children’s Centres transformation programme
Further integrating our Children’s Community Nursing services

Adult services
Our adults programme covers a wide range of services – from planned operations and outpatient
appointments, to treatment for long term conditions such as diabetes or respiratory disease, support
for older people to help them avoid falls and remain independent, dementia support, and end of life
care. It includes continuing healthcare and personal health budgets for patients identified as eligible
and urgent care services such as A&E, ambulance services, NHS 111 and urgent care centres.
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Long term conditions
Hypertension detection and management is a priority for the CCG. This year has seen the launch of
the British Heart Foundation funded Hypertension Detection Project in Community Settings, with 20
community pharmacists and opticians now undertaking opportunistic blood pressure checks for our
local population.

A central team in Lambeth is coordinating outcomes on behalf of Lambeth GP practices and will
support practices to ensure diagnosis is confirmed where appropriate and that people have the right
support, treatment and care if they need it. The team are also undertaking outreach events so that
people can have blood pressure checks in lots of different community settings across Lambeth. The
aim of the programme is to undertake 5,000 new BP checks per year for the next 2 years. In
addition, GP practices have been working to improve the detection of high blood pressure in their
registered population, which has resulted in 7% more people being identified as having high blood
pressure in the past year.
GP practices have been working to improve the care of people with heart failure in line with National
Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance, and now over 50% of patients are
receiving 6 monthly reviews of their care.
Lambeth CCG alongside Southwark CCG and Kings College Hospital were ‘Highly Commended’ for
improving the treatment of atrial fibrillation (AF) in our population in the Medicines Optimisation
category of the Health Service Journal awards in November 2018. Since the project, where people
with AF were seen by a specialist Pharmacist working with their GP practice to optimise their
treatment, the rate of anticoagulation of AF patients at risk of stroke has continued to rise and a
25% reduction in AF related strokes has been achieved.
In the coming year we plan to do more work on anticoagulation in atrial fibrillation and scoping
improvements to some diagnostic tests for cardiovascular disease. We also plan to continue work to
improvement treatment of heart failure, increase detection of hypertension and explore how we can
use pharmacists to help people to take their medicines to control their blood pressure.
Diabetes
Preventing diabetes is an important part of our work and practices continue to refer patients into
Healthier You, the NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme. This is because there is strong evidence
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that behaviour interventions aiming at reducing weight, increasing physical activity and improving
diet can reduce the risk of developing diabetes. Until December 2018 over 4000 Lambeth patients
have been referred to Healthier You.
We are continuing our work to improve diabetes treatment and care for local people with the aim of
improving achievement of the 3 NICE recommended treatment targets (blood sugar, cholesterol and
blood pressure) and measurement of the NICE recommended 8 Care Processes for adults living
with diabetes; as well as to help to improve access and attendance at structured education courses
to improve understanding and management of diabetes following diagnosis.
This year we have worked with the Health Innovation Network and CCGs across South London to
launch a structured education booking hub (Diabetes Book and Learn) to allow people diagnosed
with type 2 diabetes to book an education course anywhere in south London rather just in the
borough where they are registered with a GP. The hub aims to increase patient access and in turn
increase attendance at a diabetes related education course which has evidence of improving key
outcomes and reducing the onset of complications.
815 people agreed to be referred by their GPs or the Diabetes Team to Desmond, which is an
education course for people with type 2 diabetes. 469 people attended this course in April to
December 2018 (a 58% uptake).
The Lambeth Diabetes Care Team collaborated with a local practice with good evidence of quality
improvement results to implement a Quality Improvement Programme to support:






Sharing of good practice across Lambeth practices
Development of neighbourhood working across Lambeth practices
Development of robust practice approaches to patient call & re-call systems and processes
to improve management of diabetes
Improvements in recording of diabetes related to information to ensure accurate patient
registers and improve the data collected annually for the National Diabetes Audit
A refreshed approach to reviewing data/progress against national diabetes indicators

The Lambeth Diabetes Care Team have also developed and introduced a referral pathway and
clinic for patients diagnosed with Type 2 diabetes and early signs of diabetic kidney disease for
patients who would normally only be seen in a hospital when kidney function has changed
significantly.
Together with the other 5 CCGs in South East London and the local hospital teams, joint guidelines
for blood glucose control management for Adults with type 2 diabetes and the use of FreeStyle
Libre for patients with type 1 diabetes, have been developed and implemented to help GPs, nurses
and pharmacists deliver best practice for their patients.
The results of the National Diabetes Audit January 2017 to March 2018 demonstrate an
improvement in the percentage of people diagnosed with diabetes who have the 8 NICE
recommended care processes completed, achieving the 3 NICE recommended diabetes treatment
targets; people who are offered and attend structured education, except for a slight fall in the
percentage of people with type 1 diabetes meeting the 3 treatment targets and people with type 2
diabetes attending structured patient education.
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Care Processes
Treatment Targets

Percentage of people with Type 1
diabetes
2017/18
2016/17
54.3%
41.1%
22.1%
22.4%
2016
2015

Structured
Education Offered
within 12 months of
diagnosis
Attended within 12
months of
diagnosis

Percentage of people with
Type 2 diabetes
2017/18
2016/17
61.3%
46.2%
39.1%
38.2%
2016
2015

45.5%

36.4%

81.3%

75.2%

9.1%

9.1%

13.5%

14.7%

Reference: National Diabetes Audit 2017-18 Short Report, Interactive Report England, Version 2.
Published Nov 2018, https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nationaldiabetes-audit/report-1-care-processes-and-treatment-targets-2017-18-short-report
In the last 3 months, the Lambeth Diabetes Intermediate Care Team and AT Learning have been
working in partnership, using funding from the NHS England Diabetes Transformation project, to
deliver the first phase of a quality improvement programme. This QI project has been providing
dashboards and support to improve and reduce variation in performance of 8 care processes and
the attainment of 3 treatment targets across Lambeth practices.
The results have been impressive and at the end of March 2019, our local data (based on the
national diabetes audit parameters) demonstrates that Lambeth 8 care process average is 74.6%
(11.9% annual improvement) and 3 Treatment Target attainment average is 43.3% (3.5% annual
improvement).
We have conducted a review of our Diabetes Intermediate Care team service in 2018/19 and plan
to run a procurement process for a newly specified service during 2019/20. Improvements in 8 care
process completion and treatment target attainment, structured education access and attendance
remain a priority for development. Our service is exploring courses in different languages and we
are engaging with digital options for education too. Promoting identification of people at risk of
diabetes and attendance on the National Diabetes Prevention Programme is important as we have
seen some excellent outcomes from our course provider in 2018/19.
Respiratory programme
The CCG respiratory programme has delivered a number of improvements for patients living with
chronic lung conditions such as asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD).
Following on from our plans The ‘National Review of Asthma Deaths’ published in 2014 made many
recommendations to improve the quality of care provided to people with asthma. For people living
with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), stopping smoking, lung strengthening
exercises and vaccination offer ‘higher value’ to the NHS compared to drug treatment and the CCG
has commissioned services and interventions that aim to increase use of these programmes and
reduce unnecessary drug treatment.
The integrated community respiratory service was strengthened this year, creating a ‘one stop shop
respiratory service’. GPs are now able to directly book patients into community diagnostic
respiratory hubs, based in general practice across Lambeth. This allows patients to access high
quality lung tests closer to their homes. The service, run by specialists helps GP improve the
diagnosis of asthma and COPD. Additional capacity to support review of patients on long term
oxygen was also implemented.
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We continued to work with GP practices to improve the quality of care for people living with asthma
and COPD, with continuing improvements in the number of people receiving high-value care. For
example:





We increased the number of people receiving ‘personalised asthma action plans’ from 79%
to 85%. Asthma action plans empower patients through individualising their management
and education. They can reduce hospital readmissions and are recommended by Asthma
UK, NICE and in the National Review of Asthma Deaths
We increased the number of patients receiving an assessment of their inhaler technique
from 37% to 45%, ensuring patients are able to maximise the benefit of their medicines.
Poor inhaler technique is associated with worse outcomes in asthma and COPD
We reduced the proportion of patients unnecessarily receiving high doses of inhaled steroids
– a treatment used for patients with more severe disease – with prescriptions for high-dose
inhaled steroid further reducing from 23% to 18%

The community respiratory and heart failure teams joined with the CCG to deliver a ‘Protected
Learning Time’ event, which was attended by 87 GPs, nurses and pharmacists from across 40
practices. In the feedback, participants highlighted the key messages they would be implementing
to change their practice and improve care for their patients with asthma, COPD and heart failure.
Lambeth led on the development of adult asthma guidelines for south east London, to meet national
standards and guidelines. Together with the other 5 CCGs and the local hospital teams, joint
guidelines for COPD and asthma have been developed and implemented to help GPs, nurses and
pharmacists deliver best practice for their patients.
Our focus for 2019/20 will include promoting high value use of inhalers, educating people through
pulmonary rehabilitation and supporting them through social prescribing offers and implementation
of best practice guidelines. Our programme of respiratory virtual clinics will also continue in 2019/20
to support GP practices and networks to deliver this.
Multimorbidity – people with 3 or more long term conditions
Over the past two years our Local Care Networks have worked together to deliver a local care coordination pathway for a selected cohort of people (the most complex people with 3 or more long
term conditions and those with moderate to severe frailty including those with social risk factors who
are accessing multiple health or social care services).
“My care is planned with people who work together to understand me and my carer(s), put
me in control, co-co-ordinate and deliver services to achieve my best outcomes”
Locally, people identified in the care co-ordination cohort are invited to a review where all of their
problems can be considered. Prior to review, preparation is required by the practice and patient.
Practice preparation may involve, for example, getting tests and any physical checks done in
advance whilst the patient may be asked to consider their test results where appropriate and, asking
them to consider their health goals before their review. This also enables people with multi-morbidity
and complex health and social needs to feel empowered in both understanding their health and
social needs, and being an active partner in decision making.
The following case studies give examples of the types of holistic support which has been offered to
people as a result of this.
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Case study: Improving health and wellbeing of people with complex health conditions
through care co-ordination
A 47 year old female was seen by a practice in Clapham for a health and wellbeing assessment
as part of the care coordination pathway. She had been caring full time for her father for 13 years
and he had recently passed away. She was socially isolated and had lost all her confidence. It
was agreed during the assessment to make a referral to Age UK Lambeth Safe and Independent
Living (SAIL).
During the SAIL visit she reported poor appetite and being lonely. She was grieving the loss of
her father and felt that she didn’t have a purpose. She would like to get a job.
She was supported to join an IT class. She attended the class and really enjoyed it. She even
went for a coffee afterwards with one of the other ladies that started the class that day.
The SAIL navigator phoned her after a few days to check in with how she was doing and she was
getting ready to go to her class for the second week and is now thinking of volunteering for Age
UK to become a befriender. A change in her mood was noted, she was more positive and
energised. The SAIL navigator will continue to follow up with the lady until they both feel she is
able to cope.
Holistic care and support for Portuguese speaking residents
Starting as an idea supported by North Lambeth Local Care Network (LCN), the Lambeth
Portuguese Wellbeing Programme (LPWP) brought together medical professionals and community
experts to do joint care coordination person centred assessments with Portuguese-speaking
residents, to better understand what support, medical and beyond, people need to improve their
wellbeing (See Case Study: Luiz’ story below).
Case study: Luiz’ story
Local resident Luiz, originally from Brazil, suffers from a heart condition, type 2
diabetes and anaemia. He lives on his own and he doesn’t speak much
English. During a care coordination assessment, Luiz explained he felt
stressed by debt and having to rely on family for help. He felt isolated and
talked about how his only social interactions were seeing his family
infrequently, going to medical appointments and talking with his landlord in
basic English when he comes to collect the rent once a month.
A community liaison officer was able to speak with Luiz in his native language, build up a
relationship and help work through some of these issues. The community liaison officer helped
Luiz review his finances and gain access to £400 a month additional benefits that Luiz was
entitled to. Luiz was helped to contact his landlord to request an entrance ramp for his home,
rearrange medical appointments and respond to letters. He has also been invited to attend
Stockwell Partnership’s ‘Hug’ group of older Portuguese people, a group that meets regularly for
social activities.
Luiz said: “I am very happy with the service and would recommend it to everyone I could.”
Moving forward into the coming year, a refreshed approach builds on previous years of
achievement and gives:
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more flexibility to deliver truly personalised care and improve quality of care
incentive to focus improvements on those with highest need who have multiple long term
conditions, for example those with high healthcare utilisation.

Following the principles outlined in A five-year framework for GP contract reform to implement The
NHS Long Term Plan January 2019, we are planning a quality improvement project to build on the
work of previous years and support sharing of learning within and across practices and
neighbourhoods. This will include areas such as use and quality of health and wellbeing
assessments, care planning, and medication review. We plan to focus particularly on those who
have been experiencing set-backs and unplanned hospital admissions, and support people to have
advance care plans in place where appropriate as they approach their last months of life.
Medicines optimisation
Medicines optimisation in Lambeth looks at the value which medicines deliver, making sure they are
clinically-effective and cost-effective. It is about ensuring people get the right choice of medicines, at
the right time, and are engaged in the process by their clinical team.
The goal of our medicines optimisation plan is to help people taking medicines to:






improve their outcomes
take their medicines correctly
avoid taking unnecessary medicines
reduce wastage of medicines
improve medicines safety

Medicines optimisation is a multi-professional team effort supported by lead GPs, GP practice
based pharmacists, nurses, community pharmacists, and a medicines optimisation team within
Lambeth CCG. During 2018/19, almost every practice in Lambeth had some dedicated time from a
clinical pharmacist to help people get the most out of their medicines. The practice clinical
pharmacist roles are varied and tailored roles: undertaking structured medication reviews, improving
medicine optimisation and safety, supporting care homes, as well as running practice clinics. All
people in Lambeth will have also have access to a pharmacist in general practice through the
extended hours access hubs in Lambeth from February 2019. They will be undertaking medication
review initially. These practice based clinical pharmacists will of course work closely with community
pharmacists who are already helping people with their medicines in their communities. We are also
working with Guy’s and St Thomas’s care home support team to increase the support.
Some specific areas of achievement have been:





Highlight safe prescribing practice and safety advice, where medicines do not work very well
or are not very safe for patients to take. For example we have successfully encouraged
further reduction in prescribing of co-proxamol tablets
Implement changes to local prescribing guidance relating to self-care. We have continued to
support conversations to ensure common conditions are managed at home, which helps
ease the pressure on NHS services, makes it easier to get an appointment for more serious
or complex conditions and reduce the amount spent on medicines in the NHS
Promote cost effective and evidence based prescribing. The quality of Lambeth prescribing
is reflected nationally in the NHS England Medicines Optimisation dashboard, particularly in
our low prescribing of antibiotics and hypnotic drugs, high rates of electronic prescribing and
repeat dispensing systems, and appropriate choice of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
prescribed
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Encourage appropriate use of antimicrobials to reduce the potential of antimicrobial
resistance. This year, a reduction in the prescribing of broad spectrum antibiotics has been
maintained
Reduce medicines waste by providing a training resource for practice administrative staff to
better support patients in only asking for medicines they need (see image below) and by
providing a public campaign including digital messaging and promotional material display to
reinforce the messages
Offer people who are having problems with complicated dietary needs, an expert clinical
review of their nutritional supplements with a dietitian following South East London
prescribing guidance

Only ask for what you need campaign
How Lambeth works with others on medicines optimisation in South East London and
nationally
The South East London Area Prescribing Committee (SELAPC) is a partnership between NHS
organisations in SEL. It is a well-established Committee that makes recommendations relating to
key medicines issues across SEL, including deciding how new medicines should be used locally
where there is no national guidance planned or in place, developing pathways involving medicines
for particular long term conditions and supporting implementation of NICE guidance. The Committee
is hosted by NHS Lambeth CCG on behalf of NHS organisations in SEL. Key highlights of the
Committee’s work in 2018/19 include:





Supporting implementation of national initiatives relating to self-care (over-the counter
medicines), low priority prescription only medicines and antimicrobial stewardship
Guidance and supporting resources for consistent local implementation of national guidance
on flash glucose monitoring for people with Type 1 diabetes
Shared care guideline for managing prescribing between primary and secondary care for
children with rheumatology conditions and inflammatory bowel disease who are prescribed
immunomodulatory medicines
Promoting and supporting implementation of best value biologic medicines through specialist
pathways for rheumatoid arthritis, ankylosing spondylitis, inflammatory bowel disease and
psoriasis

There is also an ongoing, significant piece of work to develop and agree a single joint shared care
guideline for prescribing and monitoring immunomodulatory medicines in adults across a range of
different conditions (including rheumatology, gastroenterology and dermatology). This guideline will
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provide a consensus from local specialists in the form of consistent and simplified advice to primary
care prescribers, with the main aim of making prescribing safer for patients.
Looking forward to the coming year, we propose to undertake further work to improve the value and
safety of medicines. We expect to have more clinical pharmacists working with our GP practices
and developing primary care networks which will give more people access to support from a
pharmacist with their medicines. We will focus on the following areas of work:





Pain management – making sure people with long term pain are taking analgesics only
when they are safe and when they work well for them, and are also offered other means of
support such as talking therapies and social prescribing
Tackling polypharmacy – identifying people who may be at risk of harm from taking multiple
medicines and making sure they see a pharmacist to resolve this
Antimicrobial stewardship – making sure we continue to reduce inappropriate prescribing of
antibiotics, including in children
Continuing to tackle medicines waste and making sure people ordering repeat medicines
only order what they really need

Planned care
Planned care is the name we give to those services and treatments which are not carried out in an
emergency, often those which patients are referred to by their GP.
We have progressed a programme of work with local hospitals that focuses on improving access to
outpatient appointments ensuring that patients are referred to the appropriate service at the
appropriate time. When people need planned care, like an operation or a specialist check-up, we
want to ensure they feel supported through their journey. Once patients have been referred for
treatment we want to join up the different services they need.
This year we have:











Fully implemented a triage service for all GP referrals to ophthalmology to ensure full
utilisation of the Minor Eye Conditions Scheme (MECS) and appropriate referral to
secondary care. In quarter 1 – quarter 3, over 2700 patients were seen in the MECS and
ophthalmology outpatients are projected to be 3% higher than the previous year in 2018/19
Worked across the system to support the full implementation of ERS (electronic referral
service) paper switch-off for routine GP referrals into consultant-led secondary services,
supported by primary care training sessions and webinars and a suite of guidance
documents for primary care
Developed the use of advice and guidance services by rolling out a telephone advice
systems for immediate specialist advice for GPs. Up until December 2018, nearly 2000
requests for advice were made to Consultant Connect from Lambeth GPs, an average of
194 requests per month and throughout this period
Run well-received cancer education sessions for GPs and healthcare professionals including
one on significant event analysis, for cases where cancer has been diagnosed as a result of
an emergency admission and another on how to carry out effective cancer care reviews in
primary care
Supported the implementation of the Cervical Cancer GP Text messaging pilot to GP
Practices
Worked with Borough colleagues to procure a new community based, 12-week weight loss
programme (tier 2 service) due to start in April 2019, aligning with the 12 month weight
management programme (tier 3) currently being piloted in two venues in Lambeth and
across South East London. In 2018/19, there were 6 courses running across Lambeth with
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89 patients in attendance. 30 of these patients are part of a pilot of the low calorie diet as
recommended in the NHS Long Term Plan
Rolled out new technology in GP practices to support clinical decision making for
dermatological conditions. 79% (33) of Lambeth practices have utilised the tool, with 11
practices using the tool consistently over the last 7 months
Worked as part of the south east London healthcare system to consider, and implement
where possible, alternatives to hospital appointments where possible to ensure patients are
seen in the right place at the right time and by the most appropriate person for their condition
Working with secondary care colleagues, implemented a ‘first contact practitioner’ (FCP)
pilot in two GP practices, as part of the national FCP pilot. In the first two months of
operation (January/February 2019), 80 patients were seen by the FCPs in Lambeth
practices. Compared to GP appointments for MSK conditions, early data shows a
significantly lower level of request for diagnostics and a higher proportion of patients given
advice for self-management rather than referral for physiotherapy treatment
Worked as part of the south east London healthcare system to consider, and implement
where possible, alternatives to hospital appointments where possible to ensure patients are
seen in the right place at the right time and by the most appropriate person for their condition







Looking forward
Our plans include:










Continuing to focus on the early diagnosis of bowel cancer by supporting the
implementation of the new cancer FIT kit (Faecal immunochemical test) in primary care
Standardising the Minor Eye Conditions Service across South East London by jointly
commissioning the service across south east London CCGs
Improving access to the adult age-related hearing loss service by lowering the Any
Qualifies Provider (AQP) contract age criteria from 50 years to 18 years plus and
increasing the number of provider locations
Procuring a suite of diagnostic tests in the community to improve access and timeliness of
reporting
Testing the feasibility of providing dermatology services in the community
Scoping out future requirements of the Musculoskeletal (MSK) pathway, incorporating selfreferral and first contact in primary care
Further developing access and functionality of clinical advice and guidance for GPs
Procuring a new Integrated Musculoskeletal service to commence in 2020/21
Working with acute colleagues to consider alternative provision of outpatients including
triage and non-face to face, as a means to support appropriateness of secondary care
outpatient appointments

Care for older people
Integrated Care – Older People
In 2018/19 Lambeth CCG with partners from Lambeth Council and health and social care
colleagues worked together on a number of collaborative projects including:
Lambeth Integrated Reablement Service
The integrated reablement team care for adults in Lambeth who need support with daily living. The
team helps people regain mobility and the skills to carry out everyday activities so they can continue
to live independently.
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In 2018/19, the team expanded and became registered as a social care provider employing its own
team of reablement care staff, in addition to their therapists and social workers. The number of
people in receipt of reablement continues to increase with the CQC Local Authority Profile for Older
People reporting that 10% of people in Lambeth aged over 65 received reablement service
compared to 2.9% nationally. Following reablement 65% fully regained independence without the
need for ongoing social care support and a further 22% needed a reduced level of support with over
90% still at home 91 days after reablement. The team were shortlisted for the 2018 HSJ Awards for
Integrated Team of the Year.
Joint work with domiciliary care providers
Collaborative and mutually supportive work between Lambeth Council, domiciliary care providers
and Guy’s and St Thomas’ take place at regular provider forums. This has led to a number of new
work streams including the Community Medicines Project, responding to falls and identifying
deteriorating adults with plans to identify and address training needs in all these areas.
As well as improved communications via the forums, all parties have worked hard to find ways to
improve communications as they work in the community. This includes the introduction of a ‘Yellow
Bag Scheme’ which will remain in patients’ homes and contain the records of all visiting community
services. Information packs for domiciliary care providers have also been developed to facilitate
swift communication of patient problems that they encounter and how to refer directly to the correct
community health team or individual.
These discussions are improving understanding and relationships between the different services
and are having an immediate positive impact on joint working between health and social care staff.
This greater understanding will be built on to establish effective joint working in the community when
we move to neighbourhood based integrated teams.
Neuro Navigation Service
The South East London Neuro Navigation Service helped around 360 patients move smoothly
through the different levels of care to avoid lengthy stays in hospital and specialist rehabilitation
centres. This saved an estimated 4,800 bed days across several hospitals and specialist
rehabilitation centres in the south east.
Integrated working – Lambeth Nursing Homes
Lambeth CCG and Council carry out extensive work in
improving and maintaining the quality and safety of care in
care homes. Working with the Health Innovation Network
(HIN), Lambeth supported local care home managers to
participate in the HIN Care Home Pioneer Programme. The
programme guides and supports managers to advance their
skills, engage with evidence-based, relationship-centred
practice and resolve the complex everyday issues that
impact the quality of their service.
Managers said, “the programme has helped me build my
confidence and therefore manage the home better”, and “the
commissioners and external stakeholders have seen the
positive impact of the changes that I have introduced as a
result of the Pioneer Programme”.
Jonathan Kamara, Manager at St Marys Care Home is a
successful ‘Pioneer’, seen in the centre receiving his
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certificate with Dr Carrie Chill the Clinical Director for Healthy Ageing at the HIN and Tom Owen,
Director of My Home Life.
Neighbourhood nursing:
Our community nursing team were the first in England to test the neighbourhood nursing model.
Three nurses and their coach were recruited and trained by Buurtzorg Nederland and set up the first
team in north Brixton.
Case study: Reducing social isolation through community connections
A multiagency wellbeing tea party was facilitated by a local pharmacy, Hills Pharmacy, in
partnership with voluntary community sector organisations following connections made at a LCN
forum meeting.
The event enables older people living in sheltered housing to connect with agencies who were
able to provide them with social and wellbeing opportunities locally. This resulted in residents
engaging with physical activities through Black Prince Trust and befriending and social activities
through South London Cares. There was also some interest in advanced care planning with
support from Compassion in Dying.

Project Smith – community development
Project Smith is commissioned by Lambeth CCG and Council and focuses on health and wellbeing
in neighbourhoods, determined by individuals and local community groups. It improves life
opportunities and reduces health inequalities. It has enabled individuals to bring their knowledge,
expertise and life experience into thinking about how they can enhance health and wellbeing for
themselves and their community, and in collaboration with statutory service providers.
Project Smith has an established small grants scheme – The Lambeth Wellbeing Fund.
One of the many successful grantees was Pegasus Community Choir who were hoping to bring
isolated people together and singing to improve health and wellbeing. The idea came from Sonia
Hyams who was instrumental in setting up the Choir.
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Claudette (left) and Jo
Claudette is new to this singing group. She was introduced to the Choir by a friend, and has always
loved singing. Claudette has chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and she finds singing
is good for her lungs, and also good for confidence and meeting people.
Jo is new to the group and heard about it at Brixton library. Jo had a background in theatre,
storytelling and singing. Jo has had pneumonia and TB in the last two years and has also been
homeless but now has a home. Jo explains participating is inspirational and feeds her creativity, and
gives her a sense of being a part of a community.

Sonia who set up Pegasus Choir
Sonia worked with Brixton Library who provided space for free, and had a volunteer carrying out
administration and distribution of posters. Sonia did a lot of leg work in the initial stages identifying
three partners – Tulse Hill Residents Association, Laurels Nursing Home and the Brixton Library.
Community Connector case study – Della
Della (not her real name) is a 56 year old woman who describes herself as a ‘service’ child,
moving around a lot as her father was in the army. She reports never feeling settled until she
came to England at age 16, when she moved to Lambeth.
Della fell into bad company and, by the time she was 21, had criminal records for drug trafficking
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and prostitution. She spent time in both juvenile detention and prison. Della spent the next 20
years working illegally as a sex worker with periods of addiction, homelessness, incarceration and
rehabilitation. She described herself during this time as a crack addict using sex work to fund her
addictions and keep a roof over her head.
Della has survived abusive and violent relationships. At the age of 48 she had a stroke, which she
said was the start of her recovery. At this point in her life she was in a relationship where she
acted as a carer, and this continued for 15 years until late 2017 when her partner’s diagnosis of
dementia made her realise she could not cope and was isolating herself to stay sober.
She heard about Project Smith from a social worker supporting her partner. She was reluctant to
attend at first thinking that it would be a ‘talking shop’ and she was also fearful that not being
available for work may affect her benefit receipts. Della was not registered as a carer so had
received no carers’ allowance. As her partner’s dementia deteriorated, the resulting violence she
experienced increased, and she realised that she needed to look out for herself, and more
appropriate care was sought for him.
Becoming part of the Community Connector programme meant that she was asked to value her
skills and knowledge. She had valuable life experiences and a natural affinity and empathy with
other survivors of domestic violence, substance use and sex work.
As part of her development as a Connector she began to volunteer at Spires, a charity in
Streatham which provided care and support for the homeless, and sex workers. She actively
encouraged and supported individuals there to attend health screening and dentistry,
accompanied them to housing assessments, and signposting them to charities around the
borough that would help.
Her contributions to the Connectors programme grew as did her confidence. Her overwhelming
ambition was to get a paid job, come off benefits and pay tax and her own rent. She feared that
her history would go against her when seeking employment and she was right. The Project Smith
team helped her identify how to improve her CV and be more upfront about her history and how it
could be useful, rather than feeling fearful about sharing her experiences. Being a Connector
increased her confidence and she now speaks publically.
In late 2018 her efforts were recognised with a full time offer at a local homeless charity. She was
appointed because of her experiences and her role as a Connector. This had a phenomenal
impact on Della and also the charity. She was able to identify synergy with other charitable offers
which extended the efforts of these charities and reduced duplication. She facilitates women’s
groups and actively signposts to health screenings programmes, encouraging GP registration
amongst homeless people. Her role as a Connector continues.
For Della being a Community Connector has been life changing. She manages her own health,
noticing the impact smoking and drinking can have on her wellbeing and reducing these
continually. Her greatest achievement other than becoming employed was paying her own rent
and informing the DWP that she did not need benefits.
For the system, her ability to navigate and encourage others to utilise services contributes to
earlier intervention and prevention. Her skills are utilised to support people making changes to
their health behaviour and helping them sustain them, in her words, “all that history finally counts
for something, I feel valued and valuable”.
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Better Care Fund
The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a programme spanning both the NHS and local government which
seeks to join-up health and care services, so that people can manage their own health and
wellbeing, and live independently in their communities for as long as possible.
Lambeth continues to perform well on the Better Care Fund targets – We are seeing an increase in
the number of older people supported to live at home – with the percentage of people at home 91
days after reablement/rehabilitation above target and the number of older people admitted to long
term care continuing to fall. The number of emergency admissions has increased over the last two
years due to the rise in over 85s and as a result of counting changes to emergency pathways. While
Lambeth has a reduced number of delayed transfers of care from hospital this target has been
impacted by challenges in the social care market especially in Q4 2019/20.
Adult Safeguarding
A series of five separate adult safeguarding ‘Masterclasses’ were delivered in the autumn of 2018.
The Masterclasses were arranged by the Lambeth Safeguarding Adults Board in partnership with
Lambeth Together. The Masterclasses brought together over three hundred colleagues from a wide
range of organisations in Lambeth, including both Primary and Secondary healthcare services,
Adult Social Care, Independent Care Providers, voluntary organisations, Police and the Fire Service
and provided a unique opportunity for professionals in Lambeth to learn together. The
Masterclasses focussed on complex areas relating to protecting adults at risk of abuse or neglect.
Topics covered included the concept of Coercion and Control in capable adults, Modern Slavery
and Self-neglect and Hoarding; these issues typically requiring a robust and co-ordinated multiagency adult safeguarding response. The sessions were facilitated by leading experts in their
respective field, and gave attendees the opportunity to explore both legal and practice issues in
these complex areas.
There was a high level of demand for the sessions, with all Masterclasses being well
oversubscribed. The feedback received was extremely positive for all sessions. 91% of attendees
found the multi-agency format useful to learning whilst 93% of attendees felt more equipped to
respond to these specific adult safeguarding cases.
Comments received from participants included: “I found the training to be well presented from
trainers with expert knowledge…many thanks for organising these superb Masterclasses” as well as
“I would like to attend these sessions more often, where as a [practitioner] I can be refreshed and
updated on law…these issues underpin everything we do”. The multi-agency learning format proved
very popular, with one attendee stating that is was ‘great to interact with other disciplines’.
Continuing Healthcare – Discharge to assess
Lambeth CCG, working jointly with Kings College Hospital, Guy’s & St Thomas’ Hospital, Southwark
CCG, Lambeth and Southwark Councils and community health services has successfully
implemented a discharge to assess model to support the delivery of the NHSE requirement for 85%
of CHC assessments to be completed in the community rather than in hospitals.
Lambeth Advance Care Planning Consortium
The Lambeth Advance Care Planning Consortium brings together a range of local organisations to:



Promote opportunities for local communities to feel more comfortable talking about their
future care wishes, end of life care and death
Promote the choices and planning tools available for end of life treatment and care, and for
when people can no longer make or communicate their own decisions
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Raise awareness of where people can access support for advance care planning within their
own communities and wider networks

The consortium, formed in January 2018, is an open network of organisations supporting these
objectives. Current members include: Action on Elder Abuse, Age UK Lambeth, Ask Erwin,
Alzheimer’s Society, Compassion in Dying, Healthwatch Lambeth, Lambeth Carers Hub, Lambeth
Council Safeguarding Adults Team, Lambeth Local Care Networks, Lambeth Patient Participation
Group Network, Lambeth Portuguese Wellbeing Project, NHS Lambeth Clinical Commissioning
Group. In its first year the consortium has:


compiled and delivered a programme of 11 activities for Dying Matters Week 2018, including
events organised by consortium members (e.g. death cafes, an end-of-life event which was
attended by 47 local people, an advance care planning ‘pop up’ in a local pharmacy where
15 people were supported to understand how they could plan ahead) and others run by local
palliative health and care services (e.g. awareness-raising events hosted by Guy’s and St
Thomas’ hospital and Trinity Hospice)
run a ‘Before I Die…’ tent at Lambeth's Country Show in July 2018, offering a range of
interactive activities including a ‘before I die’ wall and advance care planning information and
conversational support and signposting. Over the two-day festival, it reached more than 400
people, many of whom were from local communities who may not traditionally access
information about Advance Care Planning. By offering a creative, informal way to start
conversations about their values and ambitions for life and death, the tent sparked public
conversations that were meaningful, sometimes surprising and often light-hearted
participated in events to engage local Portuguese-speaking community members such as St
Martin’s Day (an important date in the Portuguese calendar), and the Stockwell Festival (an
annual community event celebrating the creativity, energy and diversity of Stockwell), using
bi-lingual materials developed by Compassion in Dying. Together, these events were
attended by more than 4,000 people
held several information workshops at GP practices across the borough (e.g. a drop-in
session at Gracefield Gardens GP Practice)







Before I Die tent
Looking forward
Our plans include:


Continuing to focus on further health and social care integration – this will include
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integration of a range of admission avoidance and supported discharge services,
development of an integrated continuing care/complex care review function team and
improved support offer to care homes and extra care schemes
The roll out of neighbourhood nursing aligned to Primary Care Networks, and the
reprocurement of domiciliary care provision delivered at neighbourhood level
Launching of the Lambeth Dementia Alliance, increasing dementia diagnosis rates and
reducing diagnosis waiting times and reviewing post diagnosis support for people living
with dementia
Continuing the roll out of Project Smith to a further three wards in Lambeth
To further develop clinical pathways aimed at reducing emergency admissions for people
aged over 80
Working with the Lambeth Advance Care Planning (ACP) Consortium to develop ACP
champions across the borough
Refresh of the Better Care Fund (BCF)
Scoping out future plans to support people in the last 12 months of life
The review of extra care provision in the borough including plans for Somerleyton Road
site
Improve support to care homes and input into the development of the Care Home
Directed Enhanced Service (DES)

Urgent and emergency care
Urgent and emergency care covers the services needed when a patient is ill and needs to be seen
straight away – this may be by a doctor, a nurse, a pharmacist, a paramedic or another care
provider. NHS 111 can direct patients toward the best place for their needs.
Emergency care is for those who have a life threatening accident or illness and have to be treated in
a major hospital. Urgent care relates to less serious health problems, like a cut or sprain that may
be treated at an Urgent Treatment Centre or in a GP practice.
The measure of the A&E performance is the 4 hour standard, nationally Trusts have found it
challenging to meet the 4 hour wait target. The Lambeth & Southwark AE Delivery Board has been
established to drive improvement and provides a whole system approach in system planning,
oversees plans and assurance for winter resilience. Stakeholder partners that come together
include Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust, Kings College Hospital, South London and
the Maudsley NHS Trust, Adult Social Care, Integrated Urgent Care (NHS111), London Ambulance
Service, out of hours providers and GP Federations.
The Lambeth and Southwark Accident and Emergency Delivery Board work supports the South
East London Accident and Emergency Delivery Board to deliver the Urgent and Emergency Care
Strategy locally.
Case study: Personalised support and care coordination for people who frequently attend
Accident and Emergency (A&E)
A 65 year old male with learning difficulties was identified as requiring support due to attending
A&E 32 times over three months. The client lives in supported housing with a care package
(support workers visiting 4 times a week).
The client has a urinary catheter and all of his attendances at A&E related to the catheter (many
for non-urgent reasons). The client also appears to suffer from boredom. When he has money he
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goes to the pub, but often spends long periods alone.
The high intensity user project worker visited the client frequently. An incentive scheme was
established to encourage the client not to go to A&E for non-urgent catheter related issues. The
worker offered to escort the client to the hospital if there are any problems with the catheter and
this offer was explained to the support workers.
The client was referred to Platform One Café that provides work placements for individuals with
learning difficulties as the client has previously done a basic catering qualification. The client had
a fungal scalp infection. The worker supported the client to get medicated shampoo from the
pharmacist. The worker visited on a number of occasions to wash his hair with the medicated
shampoo. This responsibility has now been returned to the support workers.
The worker has liaised with the GP and encouraged support workers to book appointments with
GP as the client initially refused to attend the practice. As a result of the support provided by the
high intensity user worker the client’s A&E attendances have since reduced to zero.
Winter Pressures
During the busy winter period the A&E departments are faced with winter pressures. A number of
winter schemes are developed in order to support the Trusts with the level of demand, including:






Opening of extra beds to ensure capacity for elderly care and paediatric capacity for children
Additional staffing support to ensure patient demand is met over the winter period. This
includes a discharge pharmacist to assist with reducing discharge delays by improving
accuracy and efficiency of discharge letter prescriptions as well as improving the
communication between hospital and community with regards to medications
Encouraging staff to receive their flu jabs, making access easier by running mobile clinics
and actively promoting the flu campaign to reduce flu activity amongst health care workers
Increased community capacity and weekend working to support flow and improve service
availability to support weekend discharges

This year we have:










Supported local hospitals with the winter pressures by piloting a mobile GP pop up Hub
within the hospital Monday to Friday evenings and weekends
Supported triage and streaming of clinically appropriate patients in the UCC (Urgent Care
Centre) at Guys and St Thomas’ (GSTT) by electronic booking into primary care either to a
Lambeth GP Hub, Monday – Friday and weekends or the Waterloo Health Centre, Monday –
Friday
Seen the completion of the A&E rebuild at GSTT with a new Majors and new larger Resus
allowing the Emergency Department to meet future expected demand
Procured the new Integrated Urgent Care (IUC) (NHS 111) Service with the contract
awarded to the London Ambulance Service (LAS). This 24/7 service which went live in early
2019 will provide access to urgent care services, with more south east London patients
receiving care closer to home. The 111 IUC service works with GPs, pharmacists and
nurses to provide referrals, direction to useful information and expert advice over the phone
Supported and developed with GSTT the High Intensity User Service (HIUS). The aim of the
service is to offer a robust way of reducing frequent user activity to 999, NHS 111, A&E
Departments and hospital admissions using a health coaching approach and a wide range of
interventions supporting the most vulnerable clients within the community to flourish
Developed new pathways and delivering services in Lambeth to keep adults and older
people well at home. This involves intervening sooner to keep people at home and reduce
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unnecessary A&E attendances or hospital admissions, supporting change in line with
national policy and our ambitions for better healthcare management in south east London
and at borough level
SEL have developed the Integrated Urgent Care (IUC) (NHS 111) model which allows patients to
contact the service in order to receive advice and guidance as well as speaking to a clinician. The
new service, launched in February 2019, will not only benefit those who call NHS 111 for urgent
expert advice, but it is essential to help reduce demand and allow A&Es to treat those who need
emergency, life-saving care.
Looking forward
In 2019/20 we plan to:
 Continuing to focus on working with our colleagues at GSTT to deliver urgent and
emergency care particularly during periods of winter pressure and supporting innovative
alternatives to patients waiting in A&E to access urgent care
 Further embedding the newly launched IUC (NHS111) to deliver effective access to urgent
care only directing people to A&E where this is the most clinically appropriate pathway
 Looking into ways we can use technology and digital advances to improve our
communication with people and, where appropriate, delivery of care (for example NHS111
on-line)
 Working as part of south east London to ensure most effective use of resources by
implementing or sustaining good practice such as alternative care pathways instead of
ambulance transfers to A&E, efficient ambulance handover, falls services and discharge to
assess.

Adult Mental Health
Adult mental health services support and treat people with mental health problems including
depression, anxiety and serious mental health conditions such as psychosis. A total of 5400 people
in Lambeth have a serious and enduring mental illness, with estimated prevalence of anxiety and
depression being 44, 170. Many people with mental health problems also have long term physical
health conditions.
Mental health care can be provided by a GP, in the community, in a patient’s own home or in a
hospital.
Our vision, as developed by our partnership platform the Lambeth Living Well Collaborative is “that
every citizen, whatever their abilities or disabilities, can flourish, contribute to society and lead the
life they want to lead”.
On 1 July 2019, NHS Lambeth CCG, together with Lambeth Council (and South London and the
Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust, Certitude, Thames Reach), launched the Lambeth Living Well
Network Alliance (LWNA – the Alliance) bringing together most of Lambeth Council and NHS
Lambeth CCG’s investment in mental health services (for adults of working age). The ambition of
the LWNA is to radically improve the outcomes and experience for people experiencing poor mental
health by working together as part of the wider Lambeth Together partnership.
The LWNA, together with people with lived experience, carers, local communities, front line staff
including clinicians and the range of agencies that impact on people’s mental health are developing
new service proposals. Central to this is the development of the core community service offer, via
the proposed Living Well Centres (LWC), which include:



the provision of early support (front door)
focused, specialist services’ support
Page 58 of 129





crisis care services, including proposed four hour face to face response time
improvements to acute inpatient care
the expansion of the former Integrated Personalised Support Alliance (IPSA) to encompass
tertiary and supported living placements

The LWNA is committed to delivering against our big three outcomes and key objectives, including:




improving access
reducing inequalities
managing resources within a difficult financial environment as outlined below

The Lambeth Living Well Collaborative continues to support our collaborative working and
coproduction and acts as a critical friend to the Alliance. The Alliance is developing a more targeted
approach to its engagement and coproduction work including focused work with younger adults,
people from black communities working closely with Black Thrive and with local neighbourhoods
and communities. Black Thrive is a system-wide initiative which aims to tackle mental health
inequalities faced by Black communities when it comes to access to and experience of mental
health care. The Black Thrive partnership includes the Lambeth and Southwark Neighbourhood
branch of the Metropolitan police, the NHS and a number of community stakeholders representing
the Black community in Lambeth.
This year we:






Launched the Lambeth Living Well Network Alliance from 1 July 2018, the first alliance
contract of its kind nationally
Supported over 500 people per month to access early support via the Living Well Network
(which was also subject to a positive year 3 evaluation by Kings Improvement Science)
Opened our Step Forward service which supports people to move on from hospital but who
are not quite ready to return home
Sustained our out-of-hours crisis support via the Crisis Assessment Team, Solidarity in a
crisis and the evening sanctuary
Supported more timely discharge of people from acute hospital through multi agency
discharge events (MADE)
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Supported a range of engagement and coproduction processes to support the design of new
service proposals which will be implemented during 2019/20

Looking forward
In 2019/20 we plan to:









Implement the proposed new community support service offer via three Living Well
Centres across the borough
Implement a new crisis service offer, including the provision of a four hour face to face
response, which will enable us to support people experiencing crisis in their own home
rather than placed in hospital
Coproduce our neighbourhood / community outreach support offer by working with local
organisations and with key partners such as Black Thrive and Healthwatch
Implement with our key partners, including Lambeth Council, Voluntary and Community
Services support providers, employers, Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) our
employment and vocational support strategy, which aims to support people to access
training, work placements and permanent jobs and support people to sustain their current
jobs
Work with partners to improve access to good quality housing and related support
Work closely with primary care to ensure people with mental health problems have access
to regular health checks and care plans which address poor physical health and
Continue to share our experience, and value of outcome focused Alliance, working as part
of Lambeth Together and via our wider networks, including SE London CCG Alliance and
other NHS, Local Government networks and the Big Lottery Living Well programme

Our equality objective for adult mental health is focused on the physical heath of people with serious
mental illness – to reduce the number of people on the serious mental illness register in GP
practices who are smokers.
GPs are working with people with serious mental illness to review their health to achieve and
maintain good health. GPs are capturing smoking status, promoting stop smoking activities and
providing support which has resulted in improved recording. There has been an increase in the
number of people on the Severe Mental Illness (SMI) register which suggests that many of these
people may be smokers. However the overall rate of smoking amongst the Severe Mental Illness
register population has not reduced. We will continue to prioritise this target during 2019/20 and aim
to reduce the number of smokers within the SMI population by 0.5%.

Primary care
Primary care is at the heart of the NHS. It remains the first place to turn for the vast majority of
patients when they become unwell, providing accessible and expert generalist care. The concept of
a registered list is still the cornerstone of this model, enabling GPs and their staff to build
continuous, trusting relationships with patients, intimately knowing their needs and circumstances. It
is a model that has proven remarkably resilient to a constantly changing landscape of clinical
advances and patient expectations. Delivered well, primary care helps prevent ill health and
disease, empowers patients to take control of their own health, and supports patients and carers to
overcome inequality barriers that they face.
In Lambeth, we are very fortunate to have high quality GP Practices, with a dedicated workforce
who consistently achieve good clinical outcomes and satisfaction ratings. In total Lambeth CCG
spends over £102 million on GP Practice services, including over £57 million relating to delegated
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services, and £35 million for prescribing. The Primary Care Development programme is responsible
for this budget, and for supporting the 42 GP Practices in Lambeth to maintain and improve local
services, building relationships and resilience, encouraging transformation and better outcomes
through closer collaboration in neighbourhoods, and ensuring the CCG discharges its statutory
responsibilities as a Level 3 delegated commissioner of GP Practice services on behalf of NHS
England. The programme works closely with key local partners such as our Lambeth GP Federation
and Local Medical Committee.
In 2018/19 GP Practices in Lambeth have been busier than ever, and so has the CCG’s Primary
Care Development programme. Some highlights include:











The CCG has commissioned our Federations and Practices to deliver a wide range of
additional services in Lambeth through our ‘GP Delivery Framework’ and ‘Premium
Specification’ – e.g. supporting patients with complex needs through care coordination, and
promoting diagnosis and support for long term conditions such as Diabetes, Atrial Fibrillation
and Serious Mental Illness
Care Quality Commission (CQC) – the CQC monitors, inspects and regulates our GP
practices to make sure they meet fundamental standards of quality and safety. In 2018/19
there were seven CQC inspections in Lambeth and overall all but one Practice in Lambeth
are now rated as either ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’. One Practice was rated ‘requires
improvement’ and is now being supported to address the issues raised
The CCG has supported two Practice mergers in 2018/19, and is now actively supporting a
third to take effect from 1 April 2019. The mergers are:
o The new ‘Clapham Family Practice’ was formed on 1 July 2018 from the merger of Dr
Santamaria’s Surgery with the original Clapham Family Practice
o The new ‘North Wood Group Practice’ was formed on 1 October 2018 from the
merger of Crown Dale Medical Centre and Tulse Hill Practice
o The Hurley Clinic and the Riverside Medical Centre will merge on 1 April 2019
The CCG successfully procured a new Alternative Provider Medical Services contract for the
Pavilion Medical Centre, including engaging with local patients
Delivery of a busy programme of locality support, including multiple support visits to every
Practice by the CCG’s locality managers, monthly locality meetings to bring Practices
together, resolution of numerous day-to-day and business continuity issues, maintenance of
referral forms, promoting the delivery of flu jabs and other important initiatives, and a full
programme of Protected Learning Time (PLT) events
A number of ambitious projects have also been rolled out to boost local practice
infrastructure and new ways of working such as:
o A primary care estates programme that has secured additional funding for a number
of specific local projects to improve GP Practice premises – e.g. Clapham Park
Group Practice, Streatham Common Practice/Baldry Gardens, Akerman Health
Centre, and ‘improvement grants’ for works at several other Practices
o A primary care digital programme that has been piloting three Online Consultation
systems with Practices locally, piloting the digitisation of medical records, as well as
continuing work to upgrade core IT systems
o A number of initiatives to retain and support local GPs, Practice Nurses, and Practice
Managers, as well as exploring new roles in Practices such as Paramedics and Care
Navigators

Case Study: Access
Lambeth Together Aim: Delivered at Best Value
Commissioned from our local GP Federations, our GP Extended Access Hubs provide access to
GP and nurse appointments from 12 noon to 8pm Monday to Friday and from 8am to 8pm at
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weekends and bank holidays. At the end of December 2018 44,597 patients had been seen at
one of the hubs, including 743 patients redirected by NHS 111, our local out of hours provider
(SELDOC) and A&E services.
We have worked with our local GP Federations to reduce the number of people that do not attend
(DNA) appointments that they have booked. This year our DNA rate is just 1%, which is the
lowest level of DNAs across South East London, and due to an innovative change to contract
incentives as well as more active promotion of text message reminders and a dedicated patient
cancellation telephone line.

Case Study: Document Handling
Lambeth Together Aim: Improved Experience of Providing Care
The CCG is committed to supporting new ways of working that support Practices to release time
for care, as part of the overall transformation programme to deliver the GP Forward View and
NHS Long Term Plan. This is a key part of reducing the pressure on practices and their staff. One
way we have done this is through the commissioning of the ‘EZ Doc’ system via our local GP
Federations. This is designed to free up time for GPs to see patients, rather than do
administration and paperwork that one of their practice team could safely do for them.
A baseline assessment of GPs working in Lambeth showed that GPs were reviewing and
actioning 79% of all correspondence that came into their practices. After working with practices in
Lambeth to explore ways of working and provide training, the amount of correspondence
actioned by a GP reduced to just 25% (freeing up an average additional 7.6 hours per week per
GP).

Case Study: Neighbourhood Working
Lambeth Together Aim: Better Population Health Outcomes
The CCG is engaged in an ambitious transformation programme with local GP Federations and
Practices to develop at-scale primary care, delivered through ‘neighbourhoods’ covering
populations of 30-50,000 people. These neighbourhoods involve groups of Practices working with
each other and other services, in natural communities for local people.
The CCG has used 2018/19 to fund six early Practice groupings to test new ways of working as
part of this process. These six groupings have looked at a number of innovative areas to explore
collaboration and how this could be used to deliver better population health outcomes, including:
1) sharing back office functions, 2) social prescribing, 3) patient empowerment, 4) using a
multidisciplinary workforce, and 5) how to better support patients with diabetes, obesity and
mental illness.

Looking forward





Develop the Neighbourhood Based Care (NBC) delivery model with partners
Support the development of Primary Care Networks in Lambeth (Case Study:
Neighbourhood Working, above)
Implement the GP Forward View, Strategic Commissioning Framework for London, and
NHS Long Term Plan priorities for primary care (Case Study: Document Handling, above)
Continue Commissioning Extended Access Hubs (Case Study: Access above)
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Continue to fully discharge our delegated Primary Care Commissioning responsibilities
and functions
Ensure that Primary Care Estates, Digital/IT, and Workforce enable the delivery of high
quality patient services and support the wider transformation agenda

Addressing inequalities
Reducing inequalities is a core part of the Primary Care Development Programme, and is
embedded in all that we do. In addition to this the CCG has also worked on some specific target
areas in 2018/19:




Learning Disabilities - The challenge we set for 2018/19 was to continue increasing delivery
of health checks by Practices for people with learning disabilities. We have a sustained
communications programme in place to support practices to do their health checks and the
programme is steered by the Learning Disabilities task force group. Our achievements
continue to be recognised, particularly by the SE London Transforming Care Partnership
team. The first collated figures for 2017/18 across the CCGs in SE London, shows Lambeth
as the strongest performer at 71%. We also held a joint event with Lambeth Council on
Learning Disabilities and Autism in September 2018. The aim was to reinforce the
importance of annual health checks for people with learning disabilities and raise awareness
of Autism, and supportive techniques on how to engage
Carers – The CCG incentivised Practices during 2018/19 to identify and record carers on
practice registers, and then use this to offer support to them. This included support within the
Practice, and also by signposting to other available resources and services. Specific focus
areas also included promoting flu vaccination uptake, and offering care coordination

Staying Healthy - Health and Wellbeing in Lambeth
The Staying Healthy Board is provides the oversight for the delivery of the Lambeth Health and
Wellbeing Strategy. The Strategy was last refreshed in 2016, and in 2017 an implementation plan
was developed along the key priorities identified. The Board is a partnership board and includes
membership from the CCG and Council, including public health, housing and environment. This
reflects the broad range of influence required to deliver health improvement by influencing some of
the wider determinants of health.
The ambition set out in the strategy is for Lambeth to be a place where:





Health and well-being is improving for all, and improving fastest for those communities with
the poorest health and wellbeing
People are able to reach their full potential and to feel good about themselves
Everyone is able to make a contribution and to feel valued
People are safe from harm

There are key programmes of work which are delivered across the Lambeth partnership which
support the delivery of these ambitions including Lambeth Early Action Partnership supporting
children under 5 in the 4 most deprived wards in Lambeth, and Black Thrive which seeks to improve
mental health outcomes and experience in the Black community. See page 38 for more information
on LEAP.
Through the Staying Healthy Board, Lambeth Council policy and public health colleagues have
been working together to identify opportunities for strengthening the focus on Health in all Policies in
the mainstream work of the council. Housing have been part of the Staying Health Partnership
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Board for 2 years now, and more recently we have had a member of the Parks team join to support
the work around healthy parks.
Key achievements over the last year include:




















Developing a short film with ITN and the Royal Society of Public Health to highlight the work
in Lambeth on inequalities
Implementing a Lambeth Suicide prevention plan
Launching the 2019-24 Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham Sexual Health Strategy
Leading the development of the Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham Sexual Health Strategy
Refreshing and implementing the multi-agency Alcohol Action Plan to reduce alcohol related
harm based on evidence from the Public Health England CLeaR self-assessment and peer
review
Providing input into the Lambeth Council licensing statement of licensing
Continued work on childhood obesity, including influencing investment of sugar levy to
maximise the impact for schools to support healthy eating and tackle childhood obesity
Shifting asymptomatic sexually transmitted infection screening from clinics to the online
Sexual Health London service
Shifting sexually transmitted infection screening from clinic basis to the new online Sexual
Health London service building on work done with SH:24
Launching the new Lambeth Council ‘Your Health’ webpages to support residents to
maintain their own health
Making Lambeth playgrounds ‘Smoke free’
Working with the Elton John AIDS Foundation to deliver the social impact bond which will
help increase HIV diagnoses in Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham and support people who
have been lost to HIV care to re-engage
Developing a ‘healthy park’ for Lambeth
Promoting ‘five ways to wellbeing’ at the Lambeth Country Show
Launching the Time to Change employers pledge to combat mental health stigma and
promote mental health awareness among Lambeth council staff
Ongoing work to develop a Shared Measurement System to track Black mental health
outcomes for the duration of the Black Thrive partnership
Offering a health and wellbeing perspective to the Lambeth Transport Strategy and Local
Plan
Providing evidence demonstrating that Lambeth is doing the most on food poverty in London
Awareness of antibiotic resistance was targeted through a musical about antibiotic
resistance together with a panel of experts and interactive activities for all ages

Immunisation




Data quality issues to improve under 5 MMR uptake continue to be addressed
A local MMR campaign was implemented to raise awareness with the community about
immunisations and promote uptake of MMR vaccinations
Seasonal flu vaccination was offered not only to at risk, and over 65 years old, but also to
children under 4 and in school age. Social care workers continued to be offered free
vaccination via local arrangements

Black Thrive


Black Thrive is a partnership between the statutory sector (health, local authority, police) and
Black communities in Lambeth to tackle the inequalities and related issues that persist with
people from Black backgrounds being twice as likely to be registered with their GP with
severe mental illness. The Partnership is funded by Guys & St Thomas’ Charity, The
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National Lottery Community Fund, Lankelly Chase, Maudsley Charity, and Lambeth CCG.
Black Thrive is based upon the Collective Impact model which seeks to bring people
together around a shared vision and set of objectives – our Partnership’s seven aims and
nineteen outcomes are underpinned by a shared measurement system
The Black Thrive partnership continues to be strengthened, with partners having a more
unified understanding of systems change within the Lambeth context
The intelligence gathered by Black Thrive is shared with partners to inform decision making;
the Black Thrive facilitation team continue to support the Living Well Network Alliance and
the Primary Care networks, identifying opportunities to include the voices of communities in
shaping service provision
The Black Thrive Black Wellbeing Matters event was held focusing on the prevention of
mental ill-health, feedback from the event is informing the partnership’s priorities for 2019/20

Sustainability
NHS Lambeth CCG, at its establishment committed to promoting environmental and social
sustainability through our actions as a corporate body as well as a commissioner.
As an NHS organisation and spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work in a way that
has a positive effect on the communities we serve. Sustainability means spending public money
well, the smart and efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, resilient communities. By
making the most of social, environmental and economic assets we can improve health both in the
immediate and long term, even in the context of the rising cost of natural resources.
Demonstrating that we consider the social and environmental impacts ensures that we meet the
legal requirements in the Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012). This legislation can help
commissioners achieve better value for money from procurement activity and promotes
communication between commissioners and providers to enable services to be designed more
effectively and innovatively.
We acknowledge this responsibility to our patients, local communities and the environment by
working hard to minimise our footprint.
NHS Lambeth CCG’s Sustainability Policy and updated Sustainable Development Management
Action Plan were originally approved by the Governing Body in March 2014 and we continue to
develop our work in this area.
The table below sets out where sustainability is embedded in our policies and procedures.
Area
Commissioning (environmental)
Commissioning (social impact)
Suppliers’ impact
Travel

Is sustainability considered?
Yes
Yes
Yes
No

Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in direct effects on the healthcare
estates, but also to patient health. In recent years, examples have included the effects of heat
waves, extreme temperatures and prolonged periods of cold, flood and droughts. We are working
with partners to develop and implement a number of policies and protocols in partnership with other
agencies including our business continuity plans.
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Partnerships
As a commissioning organisation, we need effective contract mechanisms to deliver our ambitions
for sustainable healthcare delivery. The NHS policy framework provides the context for
commissioners and providers to operate in a sustainable way. As a CCG we will use contracting
mechanisms as a lever and to provide evidence of this commitment.
We have a range of strategic partnerships working with local partners, including NHS and other
providers, the London Borough of Lambeth, Community Health Partnerships, NHS Property
Services and with existing Lambeth-wide environmental partnership groups. We are moving towards
greater integration with the Council and provider partners by developing delivery alliances through
Lambeth Together that will strengthen our ability to deliver our objectives.
For commissioned services, here is the sustainability comparator for our main healthcare providers:

Organisation Name

Sustainable
Development
Management
Plan (SDMP)

Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS
Foundation Trust

Yes

King’s College Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust

Yes

London Ambulance Service
NHS Trust

Yes

St George’s University
Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust
South London and Maudsley
NHS Foundation Trust

On track for
34%
reduction
1. On track to
meet target
2. Target
included but
not on track to
be met
2. Target
included but
not on track to
be met

Using
Sustainable
Development
Assessment
Tool (SDAT)

Healthy
Travel Plan

Adaptation
Plan

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

1. On track to
meet target

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

1. On track to
meet target

Yes

Yes

Yes

Performance
As part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute towards the
level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of this system by 34% (from a 1990
baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction by 2020. Here is how we have done:
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Provider Performance

Organisation Name

Guy’s and St Thomas’
NHS Foundation Trust
King’s College Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust
London Ambulance
Service NHS Trust
St George’s University
Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust
South London and
Maudsley NHS Foundation
Trust

Core carbon
emissions
per Full
Time
Equivalent
(FTE)

Core carbon
emissions
per FTE change
since
2013/14

63.9

Water use
per FTE

Water usage
per FTE
change
since
2013/14

% of waste
not going
directly to
landfill

-14.10%

42.7

5.20%

5.20%

49.4

-42.70%

27.1

13.10%

13.10%

7.0

-40.30%

12.6

-39.30%

-39.30%

41.8

Data not
available

30.6

-42.90%

-42.90%

13.3

19.50%

Data not
available

Data not
available

Data not
available

CCG Performance
Financial Data (Spend)
Total Energy Cost (all energy supplies)
Electricity Cost
Gas Cost
Water Cost
Resource Use
Electricity Consumed
Gas Consumed
Water/Sewerage Consumed

Units
£
£
£
£
Units
kWh
kWh
m3

2018/19
38,719
33,492
2,476
2,751
2018/19
223,275
71,522
494

2017/18
26,766
22,371
3,049
1,346
2017/18
232,866
119,773
477

As a CCG, although our environmental impacts are small relative to our local providers and other
partners, we recognise our responsibility to work towards the same standards. We know that every
action that we take counts and we are a lean organisation trying to realise efficiencies across the
board for cost and carbon reductions. Air pollution, accidents and noise all cause health problems
for our local population, patients, staff and visitors and are caused by cars as well as other forms of
transport. In June 2016 Lambeth Council published its Air Quality Action Plan for 2017-2022. During
2019/20 the CCG will be working with Lambeth Council to confirm our ongoing commitments within
the implementation plan.
NHS Lambeth CCG has a Sustainability Governing Body Lead and a Clinical Governing Body
Member Sustainability Champion, who is also chair of the CCG and Lambeth Council Staying
Healthy Programme Board.
Our CCG sustainability initiatives include:




We are moving towards a paperless NHS by supporting staff to reduce the use of paper,
including by use of technology such as a system that produces electronic committee and
board papers. This reduces the environmental impact of paper, reduces the cost of paper to
the NHS and helps improve data security
We commit to switching off lights and computers when not in use and encourage use of the
stairs where possible
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We support a culture for active travel for staff to improve their
wellbeing and reduce sickness, for example, by promoting
cycling and walking to work initiatives
We support work in the borough to improve local air quality
and the health of our community by promoting active travel,
through our providers and to the patients and public that use
the services we commission
We continue to work with our local trusts and primary care to
support the full implementation of ERS (electronic referral
service) paper switch-off for routine GP referrals into
consultant-led secondary services
The CCG and Lambeth Council jointly commission services
with a commitment to promote health and wellbeing. At the
Lambeth Country Show in July 2018 we distributed reusable
water bottles displaying the ‘Five Ways to Wellbeing’
messages to thousands of residents of Lambeth and other
boroughs
The CCG and Lambeth Council have joint community
equipment service operating from a local depot providing community equipment to patients
in their homes. There are some satellite stores based in GSTT and KCH, which allows
equipment to be issued directly to patients on discharge from hospital. This has reduced the
number of delays for patients waiting in hospital for equipment and the number of delivery
visits. Wherever possible and cost effective, community equipment is retrieved when no
longer needed. It is cleaned, serviced and returned to the store for reissue. Reuse of goods
and community equipment in the NHS saves money for the NHS and Councils, reduces
emissions from procuring and delivering new goods and provides social value when items
are re-used in the community
The London Ambulance Service (LAS), as they modernise their ambulance fleet, are using
the opportunity to implement new standards for the vehicle design and performance. They
will move to progressively lower emission engines with new vehicles meeting London’s ultralow emission standards with the aim of moving to hybrid and electric vehicles. This will
involve trialling hybrid and fully electric vehicles to determine how they can best be
integrated into fleet and operational activities
The CCG continues to work with partners to reduce medicines waste, where it is estimated
that £300 million of NHS prescribed medicines are wasted each year. The CCG is providing
a training resource for practice administrative staff to support patients to only ask for
medicines they need and using a public campaign including digital messaging and
promotional materials, an example of which is provided on page 47 of this report.

Accountable Officer’s signature

Andrew Eyres
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019
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Accountability Report
Corporate Governance Report
The Corporate Governance Report explains the composition and organisation of our governance
structures and how they support the achievement of our objectives. It includes a Members’ Report,
statement of the Accounting Officer’s responsibilities and our Annual Governance Statement.

Members Report
The CCG is a membership organisation with responsibility for commissioning healthcare services
for the population registered with Lambeth practices and bound by an agreed constitution.

Our Membership
Our membership comprised 42 Member Practices in Lambeth as at 31 March 2019 as detailed
below. The Member Practices work together in three localities: North, South East and South West.
Two practice mergers occurred during the year. Dr Santamaria & Partner and Clapham Family
Practice merged to create Clapham Family and Crown Dale Practice and Tulse Hill Practice merged
to create North Wood Group Practice.
North Locality
Beckett House Practice
Binfield Road Surgery
Grantham (Dr S
Wickremesinghe)
Hurley Clinic
Lambeth Walk Group Practice
Mawbey Group Practice
Riverside Medical Practice
The South Lambeth Rd
Practice
Springfield Primary Care
Centre
Stockwell Group Practice
The Vauxhall Surgery
Waterloo Health Centre

South East Locality
Akerman Medical Practice
Brockwell Park Surgery

South West Locality
Brixton Hill Group Practice
Clapham Family Practice

The Corner Surgery

Clapham Park Group Practice

The Deerbrook Surgery
Herne Hill Group Practice
Herne Hill Road Medical
Practice
The Knights Hill Surgery

Dr Curran & Partners
Dr Masterton & Partners

Minet Green Health Practice

Edith Cavell Practice
The Exchange Surgery
Grafton Square Surgery (Dr
Ala's Surgery)

North Wood Group Practice

Hetherington at the Pavilion

The Old Dairy Health Centre
Paxton Green Group Practice
Vassall Medical Centre

Hetherington Group Practice
Palace Road Surgery
Sandmere Road Practice
Streatham Common Group
Practice
Streatham High Practice
The Streatham Hill Group
Practice
Streatham Place Surgery
The Vale Surgery
Valley Road Surgery

The Lambeth Collaborative Forum is composed of representatives nominated by each member
practice of the CCG. This is explained in more detail on page 73.
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Our Governing Body
The Governing Body has strong clinical leadership. You can read more about its composition,
attendance records for Governing Body meetings and the committees of the Governing Body in our
Annual Governance Statement on page 73.
An up to date register of interests for Governing Body Members can be seen on our website.
Dr Adrian McLachlan has been the Chair and Andrew Eyres has been the Accountable/Chief Officer
throughout the year and up to the signing of the Annual Report and Accounts. Our Chief Financial
Officer is Christine Caton.
Andrew Eyres is also Accountable Officer for NHS Croydon CCG as a half time secondment from
NHS Lambeth CCG.
Graham Laylee, Lay Member and Audit Committee Chair left the CCG in September 2018 and was
replaced by Emir Feisal in October 2018. Dr John Balazs left the Governing Body in July 2018 and
Dr Azhar Saleem was elected to the Governing Body in July 2018.
Una Dalton is Director of Governance and Development/Deputy Chief Officer, Moira McGrath is
Director of Integrated Commissioning for Adults, Tony Parker is Director of Integrated
Commissioning for Children, and Andrew Parker is Director of Primary Care Development.

Audit Committee
Details of our Audit Committee are included in the Annual Governance Statement – see page 78.
Our Audit Committee comprises the following members:






Graham Laylee, Audit Committee Member and Chair (until Sept 2018)
Emir Feisal, Audit Committee Member and Chair (from Oct 2018)
Ami David, Audit Committee Member
Jackie Ballard, Audit Committee Member
Dr Sadru Kheraj, Lambeth Collaborative Chair

Personal data related incidents
NHS Lambeth CCG contracted with the NEL Commissioning Support Unit (NELCSU) to provide us
with expert advice and support on information governance. All information governance breaches are
reported to the Integrated Governance Committee in accordance with our Information Governance
policies. We have not reported any information breaches by the CCG to the Information
Commissioners Office.

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved confirms:



so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s
auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit report
the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make him or
herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditor is
aware of it
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Modern Slavery
NHS Lambeth CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and
human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual Slavery and Human
Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.

Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning Group
shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS Commissioning
Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer
of NHS Lambeth Clinical Commissioning Group.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable
Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:








The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is
answerable,
For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that
the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction),
For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities).
The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money,
Ensuring the Clinical Commissioning Group exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in
accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),
Ensuring that the Clinical Commissioning Group complies with its financial duties under
Sections 223H to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each Clinical
Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on
the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and
must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its
income and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:






Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting
and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government Financial
Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in
the accounts; and,
Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and
Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts and the
judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable
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As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that NHS Lambeth Clinical Commissioning
Group’s auditors are aware of that information. So far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the auditors are unaware.

Andrew Eyres
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019
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Annual Governance Statement
Introduction and context
NHS Lambeth Clinical Commissioning Group is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1
April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services
for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to
arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet
the reasonable requirements of its local population.
As at 1 April 2018, the Clinical Commissioning Group is not subject to any directions from NHS
England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that
supports the achievement of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s policies, aims and objectives,
whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge
my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my
Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the Clinical Commissioning Group is administered prudently and
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial
propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the Clinical Commissioning Group as set out in this Annual Governance
Statement.

Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and
complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as are relevant to it.
The Constitution sets out the terms on which NHS Lambeth CCG shall exercise its statutory function
of commissioning services for the purposes of the health service in England. It has been agreed by
all member practices.
Along with the Constitution, the CCG’s Governance Arrangements Framework outlines the way in
which the CCG is governed.
Collaborative Forum
The Lambeth Collaborative Forum is composed of representatives nominated by each member
practice of the CCG. It is chaired by one of the Member Practice representatives (i.e. not a member
of the Governing Body) who is elected by the member practices. Following election, Dr Sadru
Kheraj was appointed from 1 December 2016 to 30 November 2019. The Collaborative Forum is
accountable to member practices and assesses the Governing Body. The Collaborative Forum is
the representative forum through which NHS Lambeth CCG acts to fulfil its duties to:
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a) Decide on those matters reserved to the member practices under the Scheme of
Reservation and Delegation
b) Through which the member practices hold the Governing Body and its committees to
account
The main responsibilities of the Collaborative Forum include:





Agreeing the timing and process for the election and selection of Clinical Members to the
Governing Body
Informing and formally agreeing changes to the Lambeth CCG Constitution, subject to
approval from NHS England (London)
Taking reasonable steps to support the delivery of the CCG mission and vision to improve
health outcomes, reduce inequalities, improve quality and make effective use of resources
Ensuring two-way communication between the Governing Body and the member practices

The Collaborative Forum Chair has overseen and validated four election and selection processes
for Clinical Members on the Governing Body (three concluding in July 2018 and one concluding in
January 2019). There been no constitutional changes needing agreement so the Collaborative
Forum has not met formally this year. Engagement with Member Practice Representatives has been
undertaken throughout the year via bi-monthly webinars with the Governing Body, six weekly
Locality meetings, monthly eBulletins and ad hoc email correspondence. The CCG Chair and
Collaborative Forum chair have met throughout the year to discuss communication and
engagement with member practices in the development and delivery of our strategic plans.
The Governing Body
The Governing Body has the following functions conferred on it by sections 14L (2) and (3) of the
National Health Service Act 2006, inserted by section 25 the 2012 Act, together with any other
functions connected with its main functions as may be specified in regulations or in the CCG’s
constitution.
The Governing Body has responsibility for:






All functions of the CCG, excluding those reserved to the member practices, as set out in the
CCG Constitution
Ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its functions
effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance with the CCG’s principles of good
governance (its main function)
Determining the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to employees or other
persons providing services to the CCG and the allowances payable under any pension
scheme it may establish as advised by the Employment and Remuneration Committee
Approving any functions of the CCG that are specified in regulations
Approving any agreement entered into pursuant to section 75 of the NHS Act and any
decisions that are referred to it by the parties to any such agreement

The functions of the Governing Body may be exercised by any of the following on behalf of the
Governing Body:




Any committee, sub-committee, or joint committee of the Governing Body
A member of the Governing Body
A nominated member of the CCG who is an individual (but is not a member of the Governing
Body), e.g. a member of the Lambeth Clinical Network or officer
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The governance structure of the CCG until 31 March 2019 is comprised of the NHS Lambeth CCG
Collaborative Forum, Governing Body and its committees and sub groups as set out in the diagram
below:

The CCG is also a member of Committees in Common and groups that are comprised of members
of a number of NHS or other organisations, where it is beneficial to address shared interests. This
includes working with CCGs across south east London and across London as a whole. The CCG
continues to work in partnership with the Lambeth Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB) and the
Children and Young People’s Partnership Board, Safer Lambeth Partnership, Lambeth Adult and
Children’s Safeguarding Boards and the Commissioning for Older People and Mental Health
Committee in Common.
The Governing Body adhere to the Nolan Principles which set out the ways in which holders of
public office should behave in the discharge of their duties and as a guiding principle for decision
making. The Nolan Principles adopted by the Governing Body and its committees and sub-groups
are:
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)

Selflessness
Integrity
Objectivity
Leadership
Openness
Honesty

As a part of the NHS, the Governing Body affirms its commitment to the rights and values set out in
the NHS Constitution and the seven key principles that guide the Governing Body in all its actions:
1) The NHS provides a comprehensive service available to all
2) Access to NHS services is based on clinical need, not an individual’s ability to pay
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3) The NHS aspires to the highest standards of excellence and professionalism on the
provision of high quality care that is safe, effective and focussed on the patient experience
4) NHS services must reflect the needs and preferences of patients, their families and carers
5) The NHS works across organisational boundaries and in partnership with other
organisations in the interest of patients, local communities and the wider population
6) The NHS is committed to providing best value for taxpayer’s money and the most costeffective, fair and sustainable use of finite resources
7) The NHS is accountable to the public, communities and patients that it serves
Attendance record for Governing Body meetings
The record of Members’ attendance for the Governing Body Meeting in Public is below.
Attended

Apologies Received

Dr Di Aitken
Dr John Balazs/Dr Azhar Saleem
Jackie Ballard
Christine Caton
Una Dalton
Professor Ami David
Andrew Eyres
Sue Gallagher
Dr Martin Godfrey
Dr Harpal Harrar
Ruth Hutt
Dr Penelope Jarrett
Dr Michael Khan
Graham Laylee/Emir Feisal
Moira McGrath
Dr Adrian McLachlan
Dr Rajive Mitra
Dr Nandini Mukhopadhyay
Andrew Parker
Tony Parker
Catherine Pearson

Non-Attendance

Not applicable

May

Jul

Sep

Nov

Jan

Mar

JB

JB

AS

AS

AS

AS

GL

GL

GL

EF

EF

EF

The Governing Body provides oversight, challenge and review of local issues and management
response to commissioning activities. The Governing Body delegates detailed scrutiny of all risks to
the Integrated Governance Committee, and oversight and assurance on the systems of internal
control, including risk, to the Audit Committee. These Committees report to the Governing Body in
line with the principles contained within the CCG’s Governance Framework. The Corporate
Business Manager holds minutes and records for attendance for the Governing Body. Information
for committees and sub-groups is reported to the Governing Body on a review basis by clinical and
executive leads.
The Governing Body meets in public and publishes all papers, agendas and minutes on the CCG’s
public website. A public forum is held in advance of all Governing Body meetings where members of
the public can raise any issue directly with Governing Body members.
The Governing Body met in public six times during 2018/19 and was quorate at each meeting.
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Key issues covered over this period include:





















Update on CCG programmes
Finance report
Public Health for Lambeth and Clinical Network updates
Updates of the Committees of the Governing Body including the Integrated
Governance Committee, Primary Care Commissioning Committee and the Audit Committee
Patient experience stories
Lambeth Practice Nurse Lead Update
CCG Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response
Planning and Commissioning Intentions 2019/20 update
Audit Committee Terms of Reference approval
2018/19 Operating Plan and Performance and Finance Risk Assessment
Involving People Strategy sign off
NHS Lambeth CCG 2018/19 Business Plan approval
Establishment Agreement Proposal: participation in South East London Committees in
Common approval
South East London Risk Share arrangements endorsement
Lambeth Together Development: integrating health and care in Lambeth
Living Well Network Alliance Accommodation and Community Support Framework
Agreement
South East London Treatment Access Policy
Community Diagnostics Business Case
Diabetes Intermediate Care Team (DICT) Service Review and Contract Review

An effectiveness review was carried out in February 2019 to assess the ongoing effectiveness of
the Governing Body.
South East London Commissioning Collaborative
The South East London Clinical Commissioning Groups from Lambeth, Southwark, Lewisham,
Bexley, Bromley and Greenwich work as together as part of a Collaborative Framework. The
collaborative itself is not an organisation or legal entity however the role of the Collaborative is to
make recommendations to the individual Governing Bodies of the CCGs on matters relating to the
services where a collaborative approach is likely to benefit patients and/or the functioning of the
individual CCGs. The Framework records the intentions of the six CCGs in South East London in
relation to partnership working. More information about the alliance and shared executive roles can
be found on our website.
South East London Committee in Common (OHSEL)
The Committee in Common brings members of each CCG's governing body together for decision
making on issues that affect every borough.
The meetings are held in public and residents are invited to attend. The committee’s purpose is
strategic decision making, with particular reference to Our Healthier South East London strategy, as
a prime committee of the respective CCGs Governing Body. The Committee met six times in the
year.
The role of the Committee in Common is to take decisions on behalf of the CCGs; decisions will be
taken in public by the representatives of the respective CCG and will be taken only after
consideration of the issues by the CCG Governing Body and the engagement of the CCG
membership.
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Information about meetings can be found here.
South East London (SEL) CCG’s Integrated Governance and Performance Committee
The SEL Committee was established in Autumn 2018 to enable shared oversight of the delivery of
specified objectives that relate both to south east London CCGs and to commissioned providers
within the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) area. The Committee operates under
mandate from CCG governing bodies with a remit to undertake assurance and coordination
functions only in relation to those areas considered to be in-scope and defined in the terms of
reference. The committee’s ‘assurance only’ remit will be reviewed following an initial period.

Committees of the Governing Body
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee provides oversight and assurance on the systems of internal control, including
an overview of internal and external audit services, governance and risk management and financial
reporting. The committee agrees an annual audit plan with reference to the CCG Risk Register. The
Audit Committee has a specific remit around reviewing and providing verification on the systems in
place for risk management as part of its assurance for CCG governance.
The Audit Committee also acts as the CCG’s Auditor Panel in accordance with the Auditor Panel
Terms of Reference. The Auditor Panel is an advisory body that advises the CCG’s Governing Body
on the selection and appointment of external auditors.
The Audit Committee met six times during the year and was quorate at each meeting. The
committee is chaired by the lay member leading on governance, risk and audit. Membership is
detailed on page 70. Significant issues that the committee considered and reviewed over this period
include:











Internal audit reporting and recommendations
Cyber security review (in conjunction with nine CCGS’s)
Service auditor reports
Risk management review
Annual financial reporting
Conflict of interest reporting and updating
Assurance mapping
Counter fraud arrangements
Living Well Network Alliance contracts
Governance review and update

The annual effectiveness review of the Audit Committee was completed. The Audit Committee also
undertook an annual assessment including a self-assessment of effectiveness questionnaire in line
with the Healthcare Financial Management Associates (HFMA) Audit Committee Handbook as part
of the assurance process. The internal audit plan was approved in at the March 2019 meeting.
Primary Care Commissioning Committee
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee in Public (PCCCIP) is responsible for the exercising of
the delegated commissioning responsibilities for Primary Care services in Lambeth. The meeting is
held in public bi-monthly with representation from:
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Members with voting rights
o 3 Lay Members
o CCG Chair
o 2 Governing Body GP Members
o Registered Nurse
o CCG Chief Officer
o CCG Chief Financial Officer
o CCG Director of Primary Care Development
Non-Voting Members
o Local Medical Committee Representative
o Healthwatch Representative
o Local Authority Representative of the Health and Wellbeing Board (Elected Member
or Mandated Officer)

The Committee exercises those delegated responsibilities in accordance within NHS Lambeth
CCG’s Constitution and Scheme of Delegation. Key issues addressed since April include:




















Primary Care Update, Quality Report and Dashboard
Finance report
Practice Merger Business Cases for approval
Clinical Quality Review Group Terms of reference approval
Revised London Primary Care Commissioning Operating Model ratification
Primary Care Commissioning Committee in Public Effectiveness Review
Primary Care Equalities Annual Report for 2017/18 approval
Premium Specification Contracts endorsement
Primary Care Access in Lambeth
GP Federations Annual Report for 2017/18
GP Delivery Framework 2017/18 and 2018/19 update
Primary Care Commissioning Intentions 2019/20 approval
2019/20 Planning Guidance and Allocations update
New GP Contract and 10 Year Long Term Plan
Primary Care Workforce Update
Partnership Change – The Vauxhall Surgery
Effectiveness Review: Primary Care Commissioning Committee
Enhanced Services Update
Online Consultations Update

The committee met in public six times during 2018/19 and was quorate for all meetings. An annual
effectiveness review of the meeting was completed in February 2019.
Primary Care Commissioning Working Group
The Primary Care Commissioning Working Group (PCCWG) is an internal working group to discuss
the CCG’s day-to-day primary care workstreams, as well as being responsible for supporting the
business of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee – Part 1 (in public). In accordance with its
terms of reference, the PCCWG can take urgent planned/unplanned decisions for primary care
matters delegated to the CCG from NHS England, as well as CCG-only decisions, by constituting
itself as the Primary Care Commissioning Committee (PCCC) - Part 2 (in private).
The PCCWG operates under the same governance arrangement as the PCCC when taking
decisions, except for its role as a regular internal working group. The PCCWG covers similar
standing items as the PCCCIP, but the decisions it takes are either CCG-only or taken on an urgent
planned/unplanned basis (i.e. they cannot wait till the subsequent PCCC to take place, but will be
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reported there retrospectively). The PCCWG has a smaller membership than its public counterpart,
including lay members. It meets bi-monthly with representatives made up of: Lay members,
Registered Nurse who is also a member of the Governing Body of the CCG, The Accountable
Officer, Chair of the CCG, two Governing Body GP members, Chief Financial Officer, and Director
of Primary Care Development.
The group met six times during 2018/19 and was quorate for all meetings. Significant issues
discussed within this committee included:











Primary Care risk register and issues report
Regular primary care finance reports and due diligence and VfM exercises
Flu vaccine supply issues and uptake analysis
Primary Care Commissioning
SCF Transformation funding
Quality within Primary Care
Practice data analysis – analysis of trends and activity patterns
Primary Care Business case approval
Challenges of GP delivery framework / new GP contract
Recommendations for online GP consultation pilots

An annual effectiveness review of the meeting was completed in February 2019.
Engagement, Equalities and Communications Committee
The Engagement, Equalities and Communications Committee is responsible for developing,
monitoring and driving forward our Communications and Engagement Strategy and our Equalities
Strategy. The Committee ensures that there is appropriate ongoing patient and public engagement
in CCG decision making and monitors implementation of the strategy, ensuring that engagement
happens in a timely way and that CCG business, and equality and diversity issues are progressed
in line with our vision and best practice.
The committee has representation from the Lambeth Patient Participation Group Network,
Healthwatch Lambeth, Lambeth CCG’s lay member for patient and public involvement,
representatives from Lambeth’s voluntary / community sector and London Borough of Lambeth. It is
chaired by a Governing Body GP clinical lead.
The committee met four times during 2018/19 and was quorate for all meetings. Significant issues
covered during the year included:










Regular updates from Healthwatch and PPG Network
Quarterly updates on Engagement and Equalities work
Lambeth Together Strategy and how the committee could be involved
Engagement opportunities within Lambeth and Southwark Strategic Partnership
NHS England Improvement and Assessment Framework submission
CCG staff Intranet improvements
Engagement review on interpretation services within the borough
A comprehensive review of Translation and interpretation services available in Lambeth and
across South East London
Engagement strategy for Lambeth Together is being mapped out

An annual effectiveness review was completed in February 2019.
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Employment and Remuneration Committee
The Employment and Remuneration Committee approves remuneration allowances and terms of
service for staff and those who provide services to the CCG, having proper regard to the
organisation’s circumstances and performance and to the provision of any national arrangements
where appropriate. The committee membership includes three lay members, one of whom is the
committee chair, two CCG Governing Body members, with committee members standing down
when matters relating to them are discussed. The committee met three times and was quorate on all
occasions. The committee considered issues relating to employee relations, Executive leadership
roles, employment policies and recruitment.
An annual effectiveness review of the meeting was completed in February 2019.
Lambeth Borough Prescribing Committee
Lambeth Borough Prescribing Committee (LBPC), whose members are drawn from local GPs,
practice nurses and community pharmacists, meets on a bi-monthly basis.
Key highlights of the committee’s work in 2018/19 were:








Providing clinical leadership in the development of the 2018/19 Medicines Optimisation
Scheme and supporting resources for practices
Full participation in the South East London Area Prescribing Committee including committee
chairing roles and the hosting function sitting within Lambeth CCG
Providing clinical recommendations to the local authority to assist in the development of
patient group directions (PGDs) to support practice nurses, community pharmacists and
community services such as Sexual and Reproductive Health in providing a safe and
effective service to patients
Providing local clinical views on NHS England and Department of Health and Social Care
consultations relating to items which should not routinely be prescribed in primary care and
gluten-free product prescribing
Providing clinical recommendations on the implementation of national safety alerts
Approving local prescribing guidance relating to antimicrobials, sexually transmitted
infections and oral nutritional supplements

An annual effectiveness review took place in February 2019.
Integrated Governance Committee
The Integrated Governance Committee (IGC) monitors and provides the Governing Body with:
assurance on risk and performance management to support delivery of the CCG objectives;
reviewing quality and safety of services commissioned, including serious failures in quality and
ensuring remedial action is taken; ensuring compliance with relevant statutory, legal and code of
conduct requirements including safeguarding, serious incidents, infection control, information
governance and health and safety; approving CCG policies for handling complaints, business
continuity and emergency planning; handling Freedom of Information requests; and providing
assurance on delivery of quality standards, finance and quality, innovation, productivity and
prevention (QIPP) programmes, as well as data quality assurance.
This committee met six times in 2018/19. Membership includes all members of the Governing Body
and is chaired by a lay member. Every meeting was quorate and significant issues addressed were:
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Policy approval
Integrated Governance Performance Report which includes quality assurance and the Board
Assurance Framework
Deep dives into various programme areas
Updates from sub groups
Patient experience stories
Finance report
Service Level Agreement approval

An effectiveness review of the IGC meetings and work plan was completed and this will inform the
work of the committee during 2019/20. The IGC is advised by, and receives assurance from its
working groups and Programme Boards.
Integrated Governance Committee Working Groups and Programme Boards:
Sub group
Finance and QIPP Working Group
Health and Safety Working Group
Information Governance Steering Group
Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham
Infection Control Committee
Safeguarding and Looked After Children
Working Group
Serious Incident Review Group
Children and Maternity Programme Board
Integrated Commissioning Adults
Programme Board
Staying Healthy Programme Board
Primary Care Commissioning Working
Group

Management Lead
Christine Caton
Una Dalton
Una Dalton

Clinical Lead / Chair
Dr Nandini Mukhopadhyay
n/a
Dr Adrian McLachlan

Una Dalton

Ruth Hutt

Tony Parker

Dr Alison Barnwell

Una Dalton
Tony Parker

Dr Adrian McLachlan
Dr Nandini Mukhopadhyay

Moira McGrath

Dr Di Aitken
Dr Raj Mitra

Andrew Parker

Dr Adrian McLachlan

Finance and QIPP Working Group
The Finance and QIPP Working Group is chaired by the clinical Governing Body financial lead
member, with membership including two Governing Body lay members, with a lay member (the
audit chair) as deputy chair, clinical Governing Body members and the Chief Financial Officer. The
meeting is attended by CCG directors, the Assistant Director of Strategy and Performance and other
assistant directors and CCG staff as appropriate. The Group is accountable for overseeing a robust
organisation-wide system of financial management, including delivery of QIPP.
The group met eleven times in 2018/19 and was quorate for all of these meetings. Significant issues
considered over this period include:









Annual Financial report, prior to submission to the Audit Committee and monthly outturn
reporting
Deep dives into individual programme areas
Regular feedback from the Business Intelligence Operating Group (BIOG)
Review of Risk Register
2018/19 Operational planning and QIPP development
Strategic planning
Regular updates from the Committee in Common for Mental Health and Older People
2018/19 Financial Recovery Plan
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The 2018/19 work plan was completed in April and an effectiveness review took place in January
2019.
Health and Safety Working Group
The Health and Safety Working Group is chaired by the Interim Head of Governance and Quality
(CCG Competent Person for Health and Safety) with attendance by the Business Support Manager,
NHS Property Services and HR Business Manager (NELCSU). The group met three times in
2018/19 and was quorate at two of these. It was noted that no decisions were made at the nonquorate meeting. Issues covered during this period included:




Incident monitoring
Mandatory Training
Health and Safety Audit

An annual effectiveness review took place in January 2019.
Information Governance Steering Group
The Information Governance Steering Group is chaired by the Director of Governance and
Development. Membership includes directorate representatives from across the CCG, NEL CSU IG
and ICT Teams. The group met six times and was quorate on five occasions. Significant issues
considered over this period included:












Continued General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) compliance
Policy review and approval
Freedom of Information
Caldecott issues
IG staff survey report
Subject assess and Freedom of Information requests
Fair processing notices
Cyber Security
Information Governance Risk Register
Information Asset Management
Information Governance hub reports

The Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) for the CCG is the Chief Officer, Andrew Eyres and the
Caldicott Guardian is the CCG Chair, Adrian McLachlan. The Director of Governance and
Development provides the information governance leadership role.
An annual effectiveness review took place in February 2019.
Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham Infection Control Committee (LSLICC)
The Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham Infection Control Committee has representatives from all
three local acute trusts (including the community services infection control leads), the CCGs’
medicines management teams, Public Heath England, South East London Health Protection Team,
and Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham Councils Public Health services. The committee also
invites representatives from other relevant organisations e.g. Brixton Prison and NHS England. The
committee reports into the Integrated Governance Committee in each CCG.
The aim of the committee has been to provide assurance to CCGs and LA committees/ boards that
residents and registered patients were duly protected from health care associated infection and
infectious diseases adequately managed.
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The LSL ICC had three functions:





Assure local leaders and organisations of robust and comprehensive infection, prevention
and control (IPC) arrangements. Assurance reporting is provided to the Directors of Public
Health, CCGs and CSUs (acting on behalf of CCGs). It is provided through LSL ICC
quarterly and annual report, LSL ICC and its related governance structures (e.g. Clostridium
difficiIe (CDI Panel)
Strategic role supporting the local implementation of IPC/antimicrobial resistance (AMR)
priorities and allowing partnership approach working across the system. It has been
supported by updating the local intelligence about IPC/AMR
Operational delivery including primary care audits, primary care training, and Clostridium
Difficile Infections Root Cause Analysis

Following the review of the LSL ICC functions, there have been changes in the LSL ICC functions:



Lambeth and Southwark CCGs are providing the operational functions via the IPC nurse
post
It was agreed at the LSL ICC December 2018 that the assurance functions on IPC/AMR is
now with CCGs

The committee met quarterly in 2018/19 and was quorate on each occasion.
Significant issues considered over this period include:








Management of catheter in the community and, prevention and management of Urinary
Tract infections (UTIs)
Improvement of local EColi bloodstream infection surveillance
Communicating to the public on antimicrobial resistance
Continued an infection prevention audit programme for primary care in Lambeth and
Southwark
Continued to coordinate and facilitate Clostridium difficile external review panel meetings
A review of seasonal flu vaccination
Prevention of bacterial infection in people who inject drugs (PWID)

An annual effectiveness review took place in February 2019.
Safeguarding and Looked After Children (SLAC) Working Group
The Safeguarding and Looked After Children’s Working Group is chaired by the Director of
Integrated Commissioning, who has the executive role within the CCG for Safeguarding and Looked
After Children (LAC), reporting directly to the Integrated Governance Committee and to the
Governing Body. Membership includes the Consultant in Public Health, Governing Body Clinical
Lead for Children, designated professionals, named GP, Trust named professionals, CCG
commissioning colleagues, Children’s Social Care and representation from the Children’s
Safeguarding Board.
The group met four times and was quorate on each occasion.
Significant issues considered over this period included:





Safeguarding Annual Report
Review of Children’s Social Care – OFSTED
GPs and Independent Contractors Update
Looked After Children (LAC) Health Updates
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Lambeth Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) and Sub Working Groups
Provider Performance and Quarterly Reports

An annual effectiveness review took place in February 2019.
Serious Incident Review Group
The Serious Incident Review Group is chaired by the NHS Lambeth CCG Director of Governance
and Development with membership including the CCG Chair, Interim Head of Governance and
Quality and the GP Clinical Quality Lead.
The group met eight times in 2018/19 and was quorate on each occasion. Significant issues
covered during the year included:









Serious Incident Framework review
Closing serious incidents signed off at provider meetings
Review of serious incident trends
Agreeing dissemination of learning from serious incidents
Receiving regular national and regional updates on incidents and serious incident
management
Quality alert report discussion (themes and trends)
Quality visits
Input into NHSE consultation ‘Developing a patient safety strategy for the NHS’

An annual effectiveness review took place in February 2019.
Children’s and Maternity Programme Board
The Children and Maternity Programme Board is established to support the delivery of NHS
Lambeth CCG operational plan, as well as the Lambeth Children & Young People’s Plan 2018-22.
The board is chaired by the Clinical Lead for Children’s Services and members include the
Integrated Director for Children’s services, CCG and Local Authority Commissioners, Governing
Body Nurse Member and Public Health representatives. The board met twelve times during the year
and was quorate on each occasion. Key items for discussion across the year were:







Review of the SLAC specification
Regular finance monitoring
Regular updates from CAMHS
Regular review of the performance dashboard
Regular updates from Lambeth made / Better Start / LEAP / Early Help / Healthy and Happy
/ Children with Disabilities and Long Term Conditions / SLAC/ LAC / CYPHP
LEAP reported on research undertaken on patient experience

Committee in Common (also known as the Commissioning Committee for Mental Health and
Older People)
The Committee in Common supports integrated decision making between Lambeth Council and
NHS Lambeth CCG. The committee focus is on our shared work for commissioning for older people
and mental health. This committee is chaired by Cllr Jim Dickson, who also chairs the Lambeth
Health and Wellbeing Board. Membership includes lead councillors, CCG Governing Body members
and lead managers including from the integrated commissioning teams. The committee is
responsible for leading, reviewing and monitoring the Better Care Fund and pooled funds for mental
health for the Integrated Personal Support Alliance. The committee met eight times during 2018/19.
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An annual effectiveness review of the meeting was completed in February 2019.
Integrated Adults Programme Board
The Lambeth Integrated Commissioning Adults Programme Board is established to support the
delivery of NHS Lambeth CCG Operational Plan. The Board brings together work previously
undertaken in the Planned and Unplanned Care Programmes into a single programme comprising
of four key workstream focus areas, namely Urgent Care, Older People, Long Term Conditions
(LTCs) and Planned Care. Membership includes the CCG Integrated Director, Clinical Leads,
Commissioners and Lambeth Council representatives.
The Board met eight times in the year and was quorate on each occasion. Key items discussed
included:







An effectiveness review
Regular updates from Urgent Care / Elective Care Update / LTC / ultrasound
Regular review of the risk register
Approval of various policies including Ear Wax policy
Due diligence for community pharmacies and opticians
Recommendation of the Minor Eye conditions scheme for approval at the governing body

Staying Healthy Programme Board
The Lambeth Staying Healthy Board is the lead partnership body reporting directly to the Health &
Wellbeing Board on strategy, action, investment and progress to prevent ill health, promote health
and wellbeing and reduce health inequalities of the Lambeth population. The Board is led jointly by
Lambeth Council and Lambeth CCG with the Director of Public Health and a Staying Healthy
Clinical lead acting as co-chairs.

Safeguarding
Lambeth Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB): This is a statutory partnership with lead
responsibility for coordinating and scrutinising the effectiveness of what is done locally to improve
safeguarding outcomes for children and young people and promoting the welfare of children in
Lambeth. The LSCB makes sure that all organisations work together effectively to promote the
safety of children and young people in Lambeth. The Board meets six times a year and the meeting
is chaired by an independent person.
The Board is made up of senior leads from Lambeth children social care, schools, the police, health,
probation, voluntary and community sector and other organisations. The CCG is a key partner on
the board, represented by the Clinical Commissioning Lead GP for Children, the Designated Nurse
for Child Protection, the Designated Doctor and the Director of Integrated Commissioning for
Children.
Lambeth Adults Safeguarding Board: This is a statutory board that co-ordinates safeguarding
adults work in Lambeth. The Board has an Independent Chair and is a multi-agency partnership that
includes a range of organisations such as the Police, NHS Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG),
Fire Services, NHS Hospital Trusts and Lambeth Adults Social Care. The Safeguarding Adults
Board is a strategic lead body in Lambeth that is responsible for maintaining consistent, cohesive
partnership working by coordinating local partnership arrangements, to safeguard adults at risk,
from harm.
The CCG is a core member of the Lambeth Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB), and key providers
present assurance data such as training statistics and activity information at least annually. The
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CCG also attends the respective provider Adult Safeguarding committees, developing close working
relationships with all provider Named Adult Safeguarding Leads, via both a supervisory relationship,
and through joint working at the LSAB and associated subgroups.

UK Corporate Governance Code
NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.
However, we have reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing upon best
practice available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code that we consider
to be relevant to the CCG and best practice.
This Governance Statement is intended to demonstrate how the CCG has regard for the principles
set out in the code as considered appropriate for CCGs for the financial year ended 31 March 2018.

Discharge of Statutory Functions
In light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has
reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that
the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of
the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those
functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. Directorates
have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity to undertake all
of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.

Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
Our risk management policy and process lays down risk management duties and responsibilities for
all staff at different levels in the organisation as well as Governing Body members. It presents a
framework for CCG policies designed for proactive and reactive risk management to the CCG’s
objectives.
The policy and process describes the key principles, processes, procedures and responsibilities in
place within the organisation in order to ensure best practice risk management is consistent across
the organisation and encourage appropriate risk taking, effective performance management and
organisational learning in order to continuously improve the quality of the services provided. Key
definitions are based on the Management of Risk (M_O_R) Glossary.
These systems ensure the identification, analysis, scoring and recording of risks and the
consequences of their potential impact through the use of risk assessment. Risks are scored by
multiplying an individual likelihood (probability) score with an individual severity (impact) score using
a 5x5 matrix for scoring risks. The risk grading and prioritisation method adopted by the CCG is
consistent with guidelines provided by the National Patient Safety Agency. Risks which attract the
highest scores are therefore graded red and warrant immediate attention by relevant personnel.
Risks that score 12 or above are escalated to the Board Assurance Framework (BAF). The final
BAF for 2018/19 is located here.
Risk management processes should be applied proactively to:
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Commissioning intentions
Corporate objective setting and business planning
Programme board objective setting
Major bids or projects
Contracts
Moving premises
Organisational change
Joint strategic planning

Risks to equity of access, quality, experience and outcomes including risk of direct or indirect
discrimination and risk to good relations between people of different groups should be considered
when identifying risks. Business cases and Project Initiation Documents should include both
equality and quality impact analyses.
The stages for managing risk within the policy are:
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)
7)
8)

Establish the context
Identify issues
Risk identification
Risk prioritisation
Risk scoring
Risk treatment plans
Monitor and review
Communicate and consult

This applies to all risk, including corporate, financial, clinical, operational and reputational risks.
Where there is interface between organisations, it is more likely that the highest risks exist and
clarity about responsibilities and accountabilities for those risks is most difficult to ascertain. NHS
Lambeth CCG endeavour to involve partner organisations in all aspects of risk management as
appropriate. This can be seen in a number of the strategic risks detailed on pages 92-98, where
work across organisations is part of the mitigations, for example the Living Well Alliance and Better
Care Fund.
As part of the closer joint working between the CCG and Lambeth Council, the CCG has been
meeting with the Council Risk Manager to look at how risk processes might be aligned and review
where risks relevant to integrated services are reviewed. This includes those risks on the CCG
registers related to mental health and older people that are reviewed at the Committee in Common
with Lambeth Council.
The newly established South East London CCG’s Integrated Governance and Performance
Committee has an agreed Risk Management Framework and Board Assurance Framework to
ensure oversight of risks relevant to multiple organisations across the SEL footprint.
Risk registers are maintained at programme board, directorate and corporate levels and the CCG
ensures that risks are managed at each level. The Board Assurance Framework is reviewed
regularly by the senior management team, Integrated Governance Committee and Governing Body.
All staff are responsible for managing risks within the scope of their role and responsibilities, as
employees of the CCG and as professionals working to professional codes of conduct. The
Governing Body promotes reporting of incidents, risks and hazards through the CCG’s Risk
Management Policy and Procedure. This is supported by a range of policies which are in place for
the CCG.
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Risk appetite
The Governing Body has agreed that it will work towards a ‘mature’ risk appetite. The CCG has no
appetite for financial crime risk, a zero tolerance for regulatory breaches, safeguarding adults and
children, and a ‘high’ appetite for reputational and innovation/service delivery risks.

Capacity to Handle Risk
The Chief Office has overall responsibility for risk however leadership for specific risk management
areas have been delegated to individual directors and risk management specialists as mentioned
below.
Chief Officer
The Chief/Accountable Officer is the member of the Governing Body responsible, with overall
executive responsibility for risk management and for the overall co-ordination and monitoring of the
implementation of the policy in the CCG. Leadership for specific risk management areas have been
delegated to individual directors and risk management specialists as mentioned below.
The Chief Officer has responsibility for signing the Annual Governance Statement on behalf of the
Governing Body. This Statement is a comment on how risks are identified, evaluated and controlled,
together with confirmation that the effectiveness of the internal system of control has been reviewed
and supports achievement of the organisational objectives.
The Chief Officer is the CCG’s Senior Information Responsible Officer (SIRO) for information
governance.
Chair
The Chair is the CCG’s Caldicott Guardian.
Chief Financial Officer
The Chief Financial Officer has delegated responsibility for all aspects of financial and information
risk related to Lambeth’s financial arrangements and statutory obligations.
Director of Governance and Development/Deputy Chief Officer
The Director of Governance and Development is responsible for advising on and co-ordinating nonclinical risk management activities within the CCG and is responsible for ensuring that appropriate
reports are created from the risk register, events and risk management training databases and that
these are presented to the Governing Body in order to learn from good practice.
The Director of Governance and Development is also the Emergency Planning Lead, the Health
and Safety Accountable Officer and Deputy Senior Information Risk Officer for the CCG and is
responsible for risks related to infection prevention and control across acute and community based
services.
All directors
Directors are responsible for providing risk management leadership and sponsorship across the
CCG. Each director is responsible for the management of risk in their own area of responsibility,
ensuring that risks are identified, the Directorate / Programme Board Risk Register is updated and
action plans are appropriate to the level of risk. The Directorate / Programme Board Risk Register
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and the CCG’s risk register for escalated (significant) risks and action plans should be updated and
monitored bi -monthly.
The Board Assurance Framework and risk registers
The Board Assurance Framework is formed of strategic CCG risks against corporate objectives.
Programme, governance and finance risk registers comprise operational risks. The Board
Assurance Framework is reviewed by the Governing Body members on a monthly basis through the
Integrated Governance Committee and then the subsequent Governing Body Board meeting. The
risk report includes a heat map to ensure the CCG has clear oversight of its highest risks.
Programme risk registers, including the implementation of actions are monitored and reviewed via
the programme board meetings. Risks rated 12 or more from the programme risk registers are most
likely to directly affect the organisation’s objectives and are escalated to the Board Assurance
Framework for greater visibility by the Governing Body, along with the actions being taken to
address the risk.
The Audit Committee and Integrated Governance Committee support the effective management of
risk within the CCG. The Integrated Governance Committee provides scrutiny and discussion of
risks on the Board Assurance Framework and risk registers. The Audit Committee provides
assurance to the Governing Body through:







Assessment of relevant internal and external audit work on systems of control
Assuring the effectiveness of external and internal audit and counter fraud services
Ensuring that the scope of internal audit provides adequate coverage and review of
fundamental systems
Commenting on the nature and scope of the external audit plan
Reviewing the annual financial statements before submission to the Governing Body,
focusing particularly on changes in, and compliance with, accounting policies
Practices, major judgmental areas, and significant adjustments resulting from the audit

Risk Assessment
The heat map showing all risks as at 31 March 2019 is as below:

Page 90 of 129

Risk Matrix
Likelihood

Impact
1 Negligible

Risks scoring 12 and above
2 Minor

3 Moderate

4 Major

5 Catastrophic

1 Rare

1x1=1

1x2=2

1x3=3

6

2 Unlikely

2x1=2

2x2=4

1

3 Possible

4x1=4

2x3=6

3x2=6

2

4 Likely

3

1
2x4=8

3x3=9

2x5=10

3x4=12

3x5=15

4x3=12

4x4=16

4x5=20

5 Almost Certain

1x5=5

2x5=10

3x5=15

2M

Community Nursing Vacancy Level

4x4=16

2U

A&E Performance

4x4=16
4x4=16

2V
2X

Cancer referral to treatment 62 days
Long waiters (52 weeks)

4x4=16

6C1

IT Service Delivery

4x4=16

7A

Financial Planning Risk

4x4=16

2Y

PTL list size

8 3x4=12

2A

Community Nursing Service Improvement Plan

3x4=12

2Z

Delivery of Medicines Optimisation Scheme

3x4=12

3Q

Alliance service transformation

3x4=12

3R

Psychiatric bed demand

3x4=12

5ACPCC

Sustainability of Federations

3x4=12

6M

Data security - incident software

3x4=12

7B

QIPP delivery risk

3x4=12

8E

Premises needs at Crown Dale

10 4x3=12

7

10
4x2=8

1x5=5

8

12

3x1=3

1x4=4

7 4x4=16

4x5=20

5x5=20

5AFPCC

Delegated primary care budgets

4x3=12

6Q

BCP Risk - loss of telecoms

4x3=12

6S

BCP Risk - loss of utilities

4x3=12

6T

BCP Risk - internet fraud

4x3=12

8B

Lower Marsh Lease

4x3=12

8A

Premises needs at Waterloo Health Centre

4x3=12

8C

Premises needs at Nine Elms

4x3=12

6G1

Telephony offer to general practice

4x3=12

6I1

Building security and IG risk

4x3=12

6J1

NEL engagement with CCG IG process

Zero Tolernance Risks
2x5=10

1A

Safeguarding children (Zero Tolerance Risk)

2x4=8

2B

Safeguarding Adults

All risk registers were thoroughly reviewed at the beginning of the financial year and risks were
considered and identified as part of the business planning and QIPP processes.
This resulted in a number of risks being removed from the Board Assurance Framework (BAF) and
replaced with new risks for 2018/19. Further details are provided in the descriptions below. Four
existing risks were either escalated from the programme or directorate registers to the Board
Assurance Framework during the year and later downgraded or on the BAF at the beginning of the
year and later downgraded to programme level.
These included:





Cyber security risks – this was escalated to the BAF in May 2018 pending the completion of
actions and assurances from an internal audit and then downgraded to the directorate risk
register in July 2018
Risk of measles outbreak – this was escalated to the BAF in May following an outbreak of
measles nationally, but was downgraded to the programme board register in July 2018 as
few cases were seen in Lambeth
E.coli blood stream infection (BSI) reduction target - this was escalated to the BAF in May
due to concerns that the target would not be reached but was downgraded to the directorate
register in July 2018 as cases remained in trajectory
Better Care Fund targets – this was downgraded on the BAF in March 2019 as trajectories
have been revised and the risk to delivery of the target has reduced

As at 31 March 2019, there were 25 risks rated 12 or greater on the CCG BAF for which the risk
profile is as follows:



High risks (red): 7
Significant risks (amber) – including zero tolerance risks: 18
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Halving the number of patients waiting more than a year for treatment
This was a new risk added to the BAF in May 2018.
There have been significant challenges in elective care within south east London for several years.
In 13/14, Kings College Hospital (KCH) had to suspend reporting on their waiting list due to
recording issues. When reporting resumed in 15/16, the size of the PTL had grown significantly and
a number of patients were reported to have waited in excess of 52 weeks for treatment. Further
validation and recovery plans have been actioned, and whilst RTT performance has marginally
improved, 52 week waits have remained high given backlog in the system. The main focus for KCH
for 18/19 is to reduce to zero the number of patients waiting more than a year for treatment.
However, the Trust have struggled to reduce the number of long waiters and it is expected that
there will continue to be Lambeth patients waiting in excess of 52 weeks at the end of the year.
Guy’s and St Thomas’ (GSTT) is also likely to report long waiters by year end, however the scale of
the issue is significantly smaller than that of KCH.
Ensuring that waiting lists are no bigger in March 2019 as they were in March 2018
This was a new risk added to the BAF in May 2018.
The CCG along with the all acute trusts submitted trajectories at the start of the year to meet this
priority. However, there is a significant risk that Lambeth CCG will fail to meet the requirement to
maintain the size of their PTL due to significant increases in referrals across Q1 and Q2 2018/19,
which far exceeded plan, particularly referrals to Guy’s & St Thomas’ Trust (GSTT). Joint
submissions between STP and acute trusts have been made to regulators in relation to an elective
recovery plan. Kings College (KCH) have confirmed that they will not be below the March 2018
position by the end of the financial year. GSTT have reported that they are unlikely to be able to
meet this target due to significant increases in referrals (trust -wide). Focused work has been
undertaken in each CCG to work with practices to encourage greater uptake of advice and guidance
(both through e-RS and Consultant Connect); the diagnostic support tool VisualDx; and the range of
existing community services. The Planned Care Boards are overseeing the work programme and
continue with plans to increase new community services and explore widespread adoption of
referral assessment services to help ensure that patients are seen in the right place, by the right
clinician, first time.
Access performance levels for access to cancer treatment improvement trajectories
There is an ongoing risk of not achieving these access performance levels for timely access to
cancer treatment (as measured by the standard for 62 days from GP referral to treatment). An
escalation meeting with the south east London (SEL) system regulators in May agreed a 2018/19
SEL 62 day recovery plan. The agreed trajectory was for the SEL sector to return to 85%
performance from November 2018. To support delivery a new operating model focussed on rapid
improvement – the Shared Care Cancer Delivery Team’ (SCCDT). The SEL system provided a
detailed update on the progress of the 62 day recovery plan to regulators in July and September
2018. An escalation meeting was held between SEL and regulators in November 2018.
Performance has not improved as anticipated so far in 2018/19 however the sector have been
commended on the system approach being taken to address the issues, but there was a need to
increase the pace of improvement.
Access performance levels for A&E improvement trajectories
There is an ongoing risk that acute trusts will not achieve improvement trajectories to meet the 95%
A&E target. At GSTT, a trajectory to meet the target by March 2019 was agreed with regulators in
line with the approach across London. The high intensity user service was introduced during 2018
and will continue through 2019. Winter arrangements were made to make primary care
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appointments available with a GP co-located at St Thomas’ through the support from GP
Federations and using mobile EMIS. GSTT also offered mutual aid to Kings to support stroke
rehabilitation for Lambeth and Southwark patients and thus release stroke beds at Denmark Hill
site. The improvement trajectory has remained difficult to achieve despite this and St Thomas’ has
seen increased A&E attendances that are above their plan for most of 2018/19. The introduction of
the new integrated urgent care (111) service from February 2019 aims to further reduce the number
of patients who feel they need to attend A&E to receive care as the new model is based on more
patients receiving the care they need in primary care making use of GPs, nurses and pharmacists
available by telephone and supported by on-line tools for patients.
Community nursing vacancy levels
Guy’s and St Thomas NHS Foundation Trust (GSTT), like other community trusts in the capital
continues to experience high levels of vacancies with a vacancy rate of around 18 – 20%. The Trust
has made very good progress with recruiting senior staff in District Nursing and have an ongoing
recruitment and retention strategy in place which includes a Transition Training Programme,
increased number of district nursing and student nursing placements, rotations between acute and
community and promoting flexible working. In 2019 the Trust also introduced the Nurse Associate
Programme with 34 new recruits enrolled on the programme. Following a very successful evaluation
of a new model of neighbourhood nursing based on Buurtzorg, this is being rolled out across District
Nursing, which will be very beneficial for patients and staff. Recruitment levels are monitored
internally in GSTT and at regular contract monitoring meetings.
Nine Elms Vauxhall
Significant population growth is being seen in north Lambeth as a result of the Nine Elms Vauxhall
(NEV) Development. The CCG received approval for Section 106/Community Interest Levy (CIL)
Funding to develop three practices in the area. The CCG is working with practices to develop
implementation plans for completion during 2019/20 in a way that meets population need and we
continue to monitor population growth to determine how this can best be met.
Delivery of Medicines Optimisation Scheme
This risk was re-framed for 2018/19.
There is a potential risk regarding delivery of financial balance for the CCG primary care prescribing
budget, which is projected to end in an underspend position for 2018/19. A strong programme of
clinically led medicines support for prescribers and a robust medicines QIPP plan has been
operational throughout the year and has delivered significant QIPP savings as planned. Significant
collaborative work with practices and our GP federation colleagues along with successful
recruitment of practice pharmacists via the NHS England practice pharmacist programme has also
impacted on delivery.
Lambeth CCG performs extremely well on the majority of cost effective prescribing indicators and
there are limited areas for short term prescribing savings – most areas identified for cost effective
interventions are complex, such as reductions in inappropriate polypharmacy. We continue to lead
the SEL Area Prescribing Committee which is exploring further initiatives for cost effective
prescribing by working at scale, such as the self-care agenda, reducing medicines waste in repeat
prescriptions and exploring opportunities flagged by the RightCare data. On a quarterly basis,
national benchmarking data is utilised, best practice sharing initiatives are scoped and potential
further cost saving initiatives are explored. Integration of the medicines and long term conditions
programmes ensures that medicines are optimised for people living with long term conditions to
help them to stay as well as possible and avoid unnecessary acute care – this is acknowledged as a
key outcome along with our prescribing expenditure.
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Living Well Network Alliance Service Transformation
This was a new risk added to the BAF in May 2018.
People with mental health problems have a range of support needs often requiring services from a
variety of providers including primary care, social care, voluntary and community sector and
secondary care. In response to this the Living Well Network Alliance (LWNA) was created (1 July
2019) to help improve outcomes by putting into place joined up services and support for Lambeth
residents with mental health problems. The LWNA is responsible for c£66m annual budget and is
currently working up service transformation proposals with a wide range of stakeholders and
partners including people with lived experience. The key ambition to radically improve services and
support available within the community as a means to reduce the investment in hospital and bed
based services where the experience of people is often poor with limited impact on the outcomes
people and indeed services and staff want to achieve.
The core community service offer will be delivered by three living well centres which will consist of
multi-disciplinary/agency teams. The aim will be to improve access to early help building on the
living well network hub and support people managing crisis within their own home and community
rather than hospital. The key risk is that these service changes take longer to impact and that we
continue to see high usage of bed case care. The LWNA is working with partners to expedite
service changes with all key partners committed to its aims and delivery plans.
South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust acute psychiatric beds
This was a new risk added to the BAF in May 2018.
South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SLaM) are the main provider of acute
psychiatric beds in Lambeth. Since July 2018, these services have been included within the Living
Well Network Alliance (LWNA) (which is a multi-agency partnership) which has as one of its
ambitions to enable earlier intervention and improved recovery and relapse rates and thereby
reduce the overall demand for acute psychiatric beds. There is a risk that the delivery of this service
redesign struggles to reduce relapse rates and use of beds. The LWNA provides a significant
opportunity to reduce this risk as it entails the whole system working together to achieve service
transformation in community and acute services. During the year good progress has been achieved
to reduce length of stay and support more timely discharge. This has been achieved has been by
SLaM. Social care, working with voluntary and community sector and housing providers (via the
LWNA), including a number of very successful multi agency discharge events (MADE).
Reporting is expected to show a reduction in occupied bed days for those known to services and an
increase in admissions for those not previously known to services. There are significant demand
pressures in relation to acute beds such that the Occupied Bed (OBD) Trajectory agreed with SLaM
(and since July 2018 with the LWNA) is still over performing. Commissioners are working closely
within the alliance which has developed a recovery plan which is being reviewed on a weekly basis.
Service Improvement Plan for community nursing
The capacity and quality of community nursing service provision was identified as a risk and a
service improvement plan agreed to address concerns in 17/18 which have all now been met and
therefore the risks addressed and decreased. During 18/19 progress has been achieved with mobile
working, progress on reporting KPI’s, stabilisation of the care notes IT system, discharge letters and
the production of a community service guide. The Trust has also successfully transferred patients
from warfarin to DOACS in a successful partnership with primary care. The Trust continue to meet
with primary care at the bi monthly Quality Forum where clinicians come together to discuss issues
and service improvements.
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Challenges to the delivery of a sustainable financial position in the context of lower levels of
growth in the period to 2020/21
CCGs have received lower levels of growth than previously, at the same time as healthcare demand
and complexity are increasing. The CCG is implementing its transformation programmes at borough
and SEL STP level, including QIPP schemes and effective demand management. CCGs are
required to deliver both individual and shared STP control totals and we have agreed these for
2019/20 and submitted our Operating Plan to NHSE on 4 April. From 2019/20 CCGs have been
issued with new allocations for the period to 2023/24 and we are refreshing our annual and five year
plans for this. NHS Lambeth CCG and LB Lambeth are producing a Medium Term Financial
Strategy (MTFS) to support our new Lambeth Together joint strategy. The CCG is working with
providers and commissioners to develop service improvement opportunities at scale and support
the productivity programmes in areas such as estates. From 2019/20 we will see commissioners
and providers working more closely together as we move towards becoming an integrated care
system (ICS). In Lambeth, through Lambeth Together we are developing delivery vehicles, bringing
together providers and commissioners in alliance contracts to deliver improved outcomes and
managing increasing demand for healthcare within the available the financial resources.
Delivery of QIPP
In 2018/19, the CCG has a QIPP target of 3.6% (£19.513m) and a track record of delivery over
previous years. QIPP delivery is a key driver of the financial sustainability of the CCG, particularly
as we go into 2019/20 with QIPP of 3.3% (£18.671m) and a need to manage increasing acuity and
demand. The CCG has robust oversight of QIPP delivery in place, through our programmes to the
Finance and QIPP Working Group who provide assurance to the Integrated Governance
Committee. Our integrated programme boards are responsible for delivering our schemes. During
2018/19 we used Accountable Officer/CFO challenge sessions to review delivery in detail and
identify scope for stretching targets to support our individual and SEL wide Financial Recovery
Plans. The CCG has built QIPP into block contracts or used risk share arrangements where this is
feasible to mitigate risk. During 2018/19, SEL CCGs have worked together, sharing management
capacity and skills to implement QIPP in areas such as continuing healthcare and medicines
optimisation. We have built on this work to deliver part of our 2019/20 QIPP plans. This is managed
through the SEL Planning and Delivery Group and we have further oversight through the SEL
Integrated Governance and Performance Committee.
GP and CCG IT Service
The IT service for Lambeth CCG and Lambeth GPs was re-procured in 2016. The contract was
awarded to NELCSU. The service has not met expected service standards and this has been
reflected in our customer satisfaction scores. A Lambeth specific remediation plan has been agreed
and a series of IT specific SEL contract meetings have been established to monitor progress of the
service across the four SEL CCGs currently purchasing this service.
Primary Care Delegated Budgets
The CCG received an allocation for 2018/19 Primary Care Delegated Commissioning that does not
meet the budgets set. In our 2018/19 Operating Plan, the CCG put in additional funding to manage
this shortfall. This has been further mitigated during 2018/19 by use of the 0.5% contingency set
aside within those budgets, as well as unallocated prior year balances and underspends from the
overall CCG allocation. For 2019/20 we continue to work closely with the SEL Primary Care Finance
Team to understand and agree the detailed budgets and identify scope for budget reduction,
recognising that the majority of the budget is based on contracts.
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Lambeth Federations Sustainability
This was an existing risk that was escalated from the local risk register in March 2019.
The GP Federations in Lambeth are currently commissioned by Lambeth CCG to provide the
Access Hubs, the GP Delivery Framework and, through a broader contract, resilience support to
practices and other schemes associated with the implementation of the GP Forward view. They also
hold the public health contract with Lambeth Council. As relatively new organisations, it is important
to ensure they have the necessary resources, skills set and capacity to deliver on all contracts.
There is a contract process in place and regular contract meetings, a Mobilisation plan for GP
Delivery Framework and a Project Plan for GP Forward View. Federations Business Plan and
accounts have been reviewed by the CCG. The risk was escalated to the BAF due to the possible
impact of changes in funding in the new GP contract and in particular the development of Primary
Care Networks (PCNs), requiring the development of new contractual arrangements between the
Federations and those emerging PCNs.
Telephony Services to General Practice
This risk was added to the BAF in March 2019.
There is a planned migration of telephone lines to Health and Social Care Network (HSCN) and a
risk to working telephones in the GP Practices who take Telephony Services from NEL CSU. There
are a number of lines providing N3 Telephony (Voice) Services which NEL CSU are not planning to
migrate across to HSCN. A project plan has been agreed and being implemented to address.
Building Security
This risk was added to the BAF in March 2019.
The CCG is required to ensure that appropriate measures are in place under GDPR and the Data
Protection Act 2018 to safeguard personal confidential information and sensitive commercial
information. The CCG works in an open plan office and shares floor space with a number of other
organisations, therefore, there are a lot of visitors to the building. The building is managed by NHS
Property Services. A number of actions need to be taken to improve building security including
Clear Desk Policy, swipe card access, ongoing staff training and awareness and review of
information storage.
ICT Engagement with CCG Information Governance Processes
This risk was added to the BAF in March 2019.
The Data Security and Protection Toolkit (DPST) requires that the CCG’s Information Governance
Steering Group includes the ICT provider through attendance and the provision of regular reports on
IT security and assurance regarding the management of ICT risks. The CSU IG team liaises with
the ICT team to ensure that DSPT requirements are met and that the ICT service provided is
compliant with the Data Protection Act 2018. Further assurance and support from ICT at the
Information Governance Steering Group needs to be more consistent.
Incident Management System
There is a risk CCG data held on the software system is not securely protected due to information
governance gaps in the contract, resulting in a potential breach of data and loss of public
confidence in the CCG. Ongoing liaison with the supplier continues to agree a GDPR compliant
contract.
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Business Continuity Management – Loss of Telecoms
London Health Resilience Partnership Risk Register lists a risk of a significant failure of the major
utility infrastructure as a medium risk. This would mean a widespread loss of the of telecoms
network for over a 24 hour period, rendering the site unusable for the duration of any interruption.
The CCG has a corporate business continuity plan which is reviewed regularly as well as ICT
provider disaster recovery arrangements. There is an annual business continuity testing and
exercising regime, participation in appropriate multi-agency exercising and review of
communications procedures and details.
Business Continuity Management – Loss of Utilities
London Health Resilience Partnership Risk Register lists a risk of a significant failure of the major
utility infrastructure as a medium risk resulting in a widespread loss of the water, gas, electricity for
over a 24 hour period rendering the site unusable for the duration of any interruption. The CCG has
a corporate business continuity plan which is reviewed regularly. There is an annual business
continuity testing and exercising regime and participation in appropriate multi-agency exercising.
Business Continuity Management – Data breach
There is a risk that staff may be targeted by internet fraudsters looking to exploit their personal
information to gain access to the secure computer servers. This could lead to a major data breach
and a potential loss of secure patient data. The CCG has a corporate business continuity plan which
is reviewed regularly as well as internal Information governance best practice and arrangements.
There is an annual business continuity testing and exercising regime and participation in
appropriate multi-agency exercising. The CCG is compliant with the Data Security and Protection
Toolkit.
Lower Marsh Lease
1 Lower Marsh is the headquarters for NHS Lambeth CCG. The lease on this building expired in
September 2017. NHS Lambeth CCG worked with NHS Property Services (NHSPS) as head
leaseholder, and NELCSU, as fellow sub leaseholder to complete an option appraisal which
determined Lower Marsh as the preferred option with a five year lease. This was approved by the
Governing Body. In recent months, a new opportunity has arisen offering co-location with council
services in central Brixton at a lower cost and the CCG is undertaking an option appraisal to
determine the way forward.
Waterloo Health Centre Lease
This was an existing risk escalated from the local risk register to the BAF in Dec 2018.
The practice has a lease that expires in the near future (2021). Discussions are taking place with
the landlord as regards lease extension. The CCG are to confirm options with practices and secure
funding for a feasibility study.

Zero Tolerance Risks
The CCG also has two zero tolerance risks. These are risks which the Governing Body identified as
important to continue to monitor.
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Safeguarding adults
Lambeth CCG continue to have a zero tolerance risk approach to Adult Safeguarding and gives the
highest priority towards its statutory responsibilities to safeguard adults at risk in Lambeth.
The CCG is a core member of the Lambeth Safeguarding Adults Board, and has contributed
significantly to the work of the Board in 2018/19. The CCG has made progress on addressing
previously identified risks around Mental Capacity Act practice, and with supporting partners in
Primary Care to be more cognisant of Adult Safeguarding practice. Further work continues on both
of these issues.
Additionally, as a result of new and forthcoming changes to Adult Safeguarding law and practice,
new risks have emerged during 2018/19 which will require attention over the coming months. For
example, the newly introduced Adult Safeguarding Roles and Competency Framework provides a
key challenge for health organisations towards ensuring practitioners attain adult safeguarding
competence commensurate with their role. Likewise, the proposed MCA Amendment Bill is likely to
create a significant change in how Deprivation of Liberty authorisations are administered. The CCG,
along with its partner organisations and commissioned services, is taking steps to monitor and
mitigate those specific risks, as well as others which may arise during the coming year.
Safeguarding children
Lambeth CCG has a zero tolerance to risks associated with safeguarding children. Safeguarding is
embedded within the wider duties of the CCG. The overarching risk is that a child will die or be
subject to harm if the right processes, systems and governance are not in place to prevent it. Key
risks are overseen by the Safeguarding and Looked After Children Working Group. The Working
Group is chaired by a Lead Director who is a member of Lambeth Safeguarding Children Board.
The CCG adheres to the London child protection procedures and the NHS England Safeguarding
Vulnerable People in the NHS-Accountability Assurance Framework. The growing areas within the
safeguarding agenda such as Child Sexual Exploitation, Female Genital Mutilation, Serious Youth
Violence and Prevent have been integrated into our commissioning and training strategies.

Other sources of assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify
and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should
they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.
Detail on how the control mechanisms work is covered under the CCG’s Risk Management Policy
and Process (section 1.4) with the CCG risk reporting and escalation process at Appendix 1 and
details of how risks should be managed, according to the risk grading, at Appendix 2.
Policies and Training
We have a number of policies and procedures in place to support the risk management process.
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Standards of Business Conduct Policy (including Conflict of Interests and Joint Working with
Pharmaceutical Industry)
Incident Management Policy and Procedure
Business Continuity Management Plan
Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR) Policy
Complaints Handling Policy and Procedure
Health and Safety Policy
Information Governance Framework and suite of policies and procedures
Procurement Policy
Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy
Whistleblowing Policy
Standing Financial Instructions and Prime Financial Policies
HR Policies

Staff are trained and equipped to manage risk in a way that is appropriate to their authority and
duties. The following risk training / workshops were conducted for the CCG during the year:







Business Impact Assessment and Business Continuity Planning training for senior CCG staff
Individual risk management sessions
Survey to test the information governance knowledge of CCG staff
CCG Incident reporting processes
Briefings and information regarding changes to information governance following
implementation of the General Data Protection Regulations
Mandatory staff training, including:
o Information governance
o Health and safety awareness
o Display Screen Equipment Assessment
o Fire safety awareness
o Equality and diversity
o Safeguarding awareness (adults and children’s)
o Counter Fraud and Bribery
o Conflicts of Interests

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June 2017)
requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest management. To support
CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a template audit framework.
An internal audit of conflicts of interests was undertaken with an outcome of substantial assurance
(see page 105 for further details).
Emergency Planning and Business Continuity
The CCG undergoes an annual Emergency Prevention, Preparedness and Response (EPRR) selfassessment and assurance visit by NHS England. The purpose of this process is to assess the
preparedness of the NHS, both commissioners and providers, against the NHS Core Standards for
EPRR. NHS Lambeth CCG is supported in this process by NEL CSU Senior Business Resilience
Lead. We achieved an assessed level of compliance of Substantial in November 2018.
Data Quality
We have robust processes and governance arrangements in place to ensure that the quality of data
used by the membership body and Governing Body is accurate and fit for purpose. All data that is
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forwarded to the Governing Body has been discussed, and analysed at a minuted committee
meeting prior to being submitted for discussion or noting or for a formal decision at the Governing
Body.
Acute provider data
Through our contracts with the hospital trusts we have agreed levels of accuracy and quality which
they contractually have to adhere to. This is detailed in the information requirements schedule of
their contract and ensures that data is acceptable for use and fit for purpose. The data quality for
acute trusts in respect of activity and payments is monitored and checked through monthly
compliance reporting. This covers areas such as data completeness and financial charging through
processes such as claims management and through monitoring groups such as the finance and
information groups set up for each contract. Where data quality is identified as an issue, plans are
put in place to improve. This is done through the Data Quality Improvement Plan (DQIP) which is
embedded into the contract. Yearly audits are also carried out for Payment by Results to review
coding and charging practice.
In addition, performance and quality information is monitored regularly through the Clinical Quality
Review Group and other performance meetings and if data quality is identified as a problem, then
remedial action is taken to correct. Where there are known errors or questions of accuracy then the
NEL Commissioning Support Unit or the Integrated Contracts and Delivery Team would endeavour
to report this to the CCG who can then inform the Governing Body and Integrated Governance
Committee on the degree to which information provided is suitable for assurance or decision
making. Where the CCG comments back on data quality this is fed back into the processes
described.
Community provider data
The 2018/19 Guy’s and St Thomas’s NHS Foundation Trust community contract is an integrated
contract with the acute trust and has similar processes and agreements in place for assuring data
quality and accuracy. The Standard NHS Multilateral Model Contract covers similar sections to the
acute contract. All data reporting is carried through the monthly community contract meeting which
receives the following assurances:





Regular performance reports
Activity and finance Quarterly Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) reports
Quarterly quality indicator reports
Data completeness reports

Mental health provider data
The South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust has similar processes and agreements in
place for assuring data quality and accuracy. The Standard NHS Contract covers provider data. All
data reporting is monitored through the monthly mental health core contract meeting which receive:







Regular performance reports
Activity and finance monitoring reports
Quarterly CQUIN reports
Quarterly quality indicator reports
Service audits
Data completeness reports
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Primary care and prescribing data
Monthly GP practice packs are created for both individual GP practices and GP Federations by the
CCG Business Information Team. These are based on data received from a variety of sources,
including information from GP systems, acute trusts (hospitals) and national data. The information is
checked and analysed by the Business Information Team, to produce data reports as well as
ongoing commentary on trends and key focus areas. This and other performance data related to the
CCG GP Delivery Framework and Premium Specification is reviewed and discussed with practices
at regular reviews with their locality managers. The CCG is able to extract data for social
demographic information and quality improvement to promote equity of care in service redesign.
Any remedial actions required by any of the data providers outlined above are agreed at the
meetings as described above and any changes, including to services or financial elements, are
confirmed with contract variation letters to the trusts. Data Quality Improvement Plans (DQIP) are in
place where necessary to improve identified areas of concern.
Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which the
NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal identifiable
information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an information
governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to the clinical
commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with
legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
The final status of the CCG’s submission of the Data Security and Projection Toolkit for 2018/19
was ‘Standards Met’.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems and
processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. We have established an
information governance management framework and have developed information governance
processes and procedures in line with the information governance toolkit. We have ensured all staff
undertake annual information governance training and have implemented a staff information
governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of their information governance roles and
responsibilities. There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious
incidents.
We have contracted with the NEL Commissioning Support Unit (NELCSU) to provide us with expert
advice and support on information governance. In addition, we have our own Senior Information
Risk Owner (SIRO), Andrew Eyres, and Caldicott Guardian, Dr Adrian McLachlan. The CCG has an
Information Governance Steering Group to monitor compliance, which includes membership from
both the CCG and NELCSU. This group reports into the CCG Integrated Governance Committee.
Due to implementation of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) on 25th May 2018 and
the introduction of the new Data Protection Act 2018, there has been a significant review of IG
Policies, the CCG’s information asset register, data flows register and the content of the CCG’s IG
Risk Register and related IG processes.
Freedom of Information (FOI) requests
We comply with our statutory duty to respond to requests for information. During the year, the CCG
received 292 requests under the Freedom of Information Act 2000, of which 99% were completed
within the stipulated 20 working days period.
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Subject Access Requests
We received six Subject Access Requests (SARs) under the Data Protection Act for the year
2018/19. The CCG did not hold the records requested, but did respond in time (redirecting to the
relevant organisation).
Quality alert and incident reporting
NHS Lambeth CCG staff use the web based Quality Alerts, Incidents and Commendations (QUIC)
system in order to report CCG incidents in accordance with the CCG Incident Management Policy
and Procedure. CCG incidents are discussed at the Serious Incident Review Group. Issues
identified regarding the office accommodation are reported onto NHS Property Services and
discussed at the CCG Health and Safety Working Group. A Health and safety risk assessment is
completed annually and monitored at this group. A security assessment was undertaken by TIAA in
February 2019.
GPs are encouraged to raise systemic quality issues with providers through the QUIC system and
highlight good practice through commendations. Further information about this can be found in the
Quality section of this annual report on page 28. Quality alerts can help identify issues of concern
within provider services that are then monitored through the Clinical Quality Review groups.
GP’s also report alerts to the CCG regarding GP IT issues. The CCG commissions GP IT services
and reports these alerts to the IT provider, NEL CSU for action and monitoring.
Management of Serious Incidents
Serious Incidents are events where the potential for learning is so great, or consequences so
significant, that they require a comprehensive response. There have been no serious incidents
reported regarding Lambeth CCG in the year.
Further information about our role in the management of serious incidents in commissioned
providers can be found in the Quality section of this report on page 28. Serious incidents can help
identify issues of concern within provider services that are then monitored through the Clinical
Quality Review groups.
Business Critical Models
Business critical models have been identified and staff are employed to develop, use and quality
assure each. The Senior Responsible Officer for each process ensures it is compliant and
appropriate, that model risks, limitations and major assumptions are understood and the use of the
model outputs is appropriate. In line with the recommendations in the Macpherson report, the CCG
has developed a framework to assure their quality and information about quality assurance
processes for those models has been provided to the Analytical Oversight Committee, chaired by
the Chief Analyst in the Department of Health.
For 2018/19, NHS Lambeth CCG has continued to work with other CCGs and NHS providers in
south east London, as part of the Our Healthier South East London Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership (STP), to develop and maintain strategic business and financial
modelling. The modelling is led through the STP Director of Financial Strategy, who reports back to
the South East London provider and commissioner Chief Financial Officer group, which is made up
of finance leads from all NHS organisations within the SEL STP. The output of the financial
modelling is reviewed by a number of internal and external stakeholders from different disciplines
and underpins the financial opportunities of the impacts of service changes over a five year period.
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Locally in Lambeth CCG, we have developed a number of business and financial models which
underpin areas such as local financial planning, QIPP delivery and service transformation. The
identified senior responsible officer is the Chief Financial Officer, who ensures that there are
effective processes underpinning the modelling, including appropriate guidance, documentation and
training, as well as sharing best practice. This includes ensuring that appropriate assurance
processes are in place to ensure the robustness of any modelling.
Service Audit Reporting (SAR) / Third party assurances
The CCG uses Service Auditor Reports (SAR) to provide assurance on the services delivered by a
number of service organisations, the effectiveness of the control environment and the adequacy and
effectiveness of the key controls in operation.
We commission a range of business and contracting services from NEL Commissioning Support
Unit (NELCSU). Many of the functions performed by NELCSU are integral to NHS Lambeth CCG’s
business operations. NHS England commissions Deloitte LLP to undertake Service Auditor
Reporting (SAR) to provide this assurance. The Deloitte’s Service Auditor Report sets out whether
the controls are operating as described against the control objectives identified. Where control
exceptions and qualifications were identified in the SARs they have been addressed by NELCSU.
The Service Auditor Report covers the financial year April 2018 to March 2019.
The CCG also receives Service Auditor Reports for the provision of financial accounting and primary
care payments services, the operation of prescription services, payroll infrastructure services and
GP payments services. The content of these reports has been considered in the conclusions drawn
about the effectiveness of the CCG’s control environment.

Control Issues
The significant control issues currently facing the CCG relate to achievement of NHS Constitutional
targets, in particular:





Access performance levels for patients waiting more than 52 weeks
Performance levels for patient waiting list size for elective appointments or treatment
Access performance levels for access to cancer treatment improvement trajectories
Access performance levels for A&E improvement trajectories

These are all reported on the BAF as strategic risks and further details about the management of
these issues can be found on page 90 and in the Performance Report on page 5.

Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of resources
The CCG has the following key processes in place to ensure that resources are used economically,
efficiently and effectively.



The CCG has a clear governance framework which is set out in the CCG scheme of
delegation, including an operational scheme of delegation, to ensure the transparency,
clarity and robustness of decision making throughout the organisation
The CCG’s governance structures have a strong focus on the effective use of resources.
The Integrated Governance Committee (IGC) is responsible for bringing together quality,
finance and performance in overseeing the delivery of the CCG’s activities. The Finance and
QIPP Working Group reports to the IGC to provide assurance that a robust organisationwide system of financial management, including delivery of QIPP, is in place and that the
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CCG is achieving value for money in delivering its objectives. This is done by detailed review
of programme and contract performance
The CCG has a clearly defined strategic planning process where commissioning intentions
underpin strategic programmes which determine investment and implementation plans.
These are joint programmes with the London Borough of Lambeth as we know that it is
through the integration of health and care that we can deliver value for money and improved
outcomes for our local population. The CCG has a prioritisation framework that is used to
determine the focus and level of investment and QIPP to deliver commissioning intentions
and a sustainable operating plan. Programmes develop business cases to justify the
improved outcomes and effective use of resources
The CCG, as part of the south east London STP works through provider and commissioner
leadership groups, and with provider and commissioning finance leads, to deliver plans at
scale and at borough level. We are working to deliver a sustainable healthcare system and
live within our means by transforming services and maximising collaborative productivity
across enablers such as estates. In 2018/19, SEL CCGs developed and implemented
collaborative QIPP schemes such as medicines optimisation and management costs. The
SEL Planning and Delivery Group and Integrated Governance and Performance (IGP)
Committee have oversight of QIPP delivery, with the IGP responsible for overseeing the
delivery of SEL wide financial plans
National NHS RightCare resources provide commissioners and providers with benchmarking
data, allowing us to compare ourselves with demographically similar peers across a range of
clinical areas. Review of the data and conversations about the opportunities it might present
for us are supported by monthly meetings with our NHS England RightCare Delivery Partner.
This information supports our thinking about any variations in healthcare locally and helps
support our decision making processes both as a CCG and in the context of care planning
and delivery across south east London. In 2018/19, NHS Lambeth CCG has continued to
use the national RightCare data in collaboration with our neighbouring CCGs to support our
strategy to improve our population’s health and health outcomes. Our RightCare initiatives
are aligned with some of our QIPP schemes, and corresponding delivery plans have been
developed. These schemes are closely monitored through our programme boards. We will
continue to use the RightCare packs, and other intelligence, to inform our value based
approach to planning and in our review of services in both quality and financial terms
The CCG has a robust process for managing financial and performance risk. The CCG’s
2018/19 Operating Plan has financial targets such as the delivery of an in year surplus of
£988k and a QIPP savings target of £19.513 million. The CCG has an agreed and
understood process for developing recovery plans to manage in year risk and deliver
underlying financial balance. The 2018/19 Operating Plan was approved by the Governing
Body in March 2018 and subject to independent scrutiny by NHS England through its
assurance process

The ratings for the Quality of Leadership indicator of the CCG Improvement and Assessment
Framework 2017/18 are on page 23 of the Performance Report.
Counter fraud arrangements
NHS Lambeth CCG has a nominated Local Counter Fraud Specialist and has a risk based work
plan in place to identify and respond to fraud risk. The Chief Finance Officer is the Executive Lead
for counter fraud. A fraud risk assessment was conducted and reported to the Audit Committee
within the financial year and an action plan in line with the Standards for Commissioners was put in
place to ensure that risk is mitigated within a specified time frame. NHS Lambeth CCG has an AntiBribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy and a Fraud Response Plan in place to support the CCG's
stance of zero tolerance to fraud and corruption. The CCG takes a proactive approach to make sure
that all those involved in the provision and use of services are engaged in countering fraud and
corruption. The CCG has a protocol in place with the London Borough of Lambeth to prevent and
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detect fraud within the borough and this will be refreshed during 2019/20. NHS Lambeth CCG's
counter fraud activities are informed by best practice guidance provided by the NHS Counter Fraud
Authority. NHS Lambeth CCG is compliant with the Bribery Act 2010. The Counter Fraud team has
held fraud awareness campaigns across the organisation, including presentations, and the
generation and distribution of publicity material.

Head of Internal Audit Opinion
RSM, Internal Auditors
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the CCG, the Head of
Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of
the CCG’s system of risk management, governance and internal control.
The Head of Internal Audit Opinion for 2018/19 is that:


The organisation has an adequate and effective framework for risk management,
governance and internal control

The Head of Internal Audit Opinion for 2018/19 can be found in Appendix 3.
During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:
Area of Audit
GDPR Data Security and Protection Toolkit
Conflicts of Interest
Risk Management and Board Assurance Framework
Financial Management and Benefits Realisation
Governance (joint SEL review)
Collaborative Working
Primary Care Delegated Commissioning (joint SEL review)

Level of Assurance Given
Advisory Review – all assertions
agreed
Substantial Assurance
Reasonable Assurance
Substantial Assurance
Reasonable Assurance
Reasonable Assurance
Substantial Assurance

Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the
internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical commissioning group who
have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have
drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made
by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other reports.
The Board Assurance Framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that
manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principles objectives have been
reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control by the Governing Body, the Audit Committee and the Integrated
Governance Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of
the system is in place.
The BAF and strategic risks are reviewed on a regular basis by programme board leads and
monthly by the management team. The Audit Committee and Integrated Governance Committee
have continually sought assurance that the Board Assurance Framework appropriately reflects the
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level of risk and incorporates mitigating action. The BAF and risk register summary is also taken to
the Governing Body through the Integrated Governance and Performance Report.
Conclusion
Independent assurance on the effectiveness of risk management and internal control has been
provided through internal audit reviews of governance and risk management and the scheme of
delegation.
In summary, the Collaborative Forum and the Governing Body can take substantial assurance that
the controls upon which the organisation relied to manage these risk areas were suitably designed,
consistently applied and effective.
I can confirm that no significant internal control issues have been identified.

Andrew Eyres
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019
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Remuneration Report
Employment and Remuneration Committee (not subject to audit)
The Employment and Remuneration Committee comprises of four members. The chair of the
committee is Sue Gallagher. A full list of members, their roles and the number of meetings each
attended is below. The terms of reference state that the committee will meet sufficiently frequently to
fulfil its work plan.

Name of member

Role

Sue Gallagher
Graham Laylee
Jackie Ballard
Emir Feisal
Adrian McLachlan

Lay Member
Lay Member
Lay Member
Lay Member
Chair of Governing Body
Member Practice
Representative
Member Practice
Representative

John Balazs
Nandini
Mukhopadhyay

Date joined
committee

Date left
committee (if
applicable)

1 Apr 2013
1 Apr 2013
1 Oct 2016
1 Oct 2018
1 Apr 2013

n/a
30 Sep 2018
n/a
n/a
n/a

No. of
committee
meetings
attended
2
0
1
2
2

1 Apr 2013

5 Jul 2018

0

1 Aug 2018

n/a

2

In addition to the members listed above, the following CCG employees provided the committee with
services and/or advice which was material to the committee’s deliberations.
Name
Andrew Eyres
Una Dalton

Role
Chief Officer
Director of Governance and Development

Service
Support/advice
Support/advice

The following person who is not an employee of the CCG also provided services and/or advice to
the committee. Charles Beardsley, Senior Associate (HR Business Partner), NELCSU, provided
independent HR advice on a number of strategic issues, which the CCG commissions NELCSU to
provide. The costs of this service are included within the overall contract with NELCSU and form
part of the CCG’s running cost.

Remuneration Policy (not subject to audit)
The committee works within the context of national pay and remuneration guidelines, local
comparability and taking account of independent advice regarding pay structures.
The CCG is not proposing a change in the remuneration of directors for future years.

Senior managers’ performance related pay (not subject to audit)
The CCG’s policy concerning senior managers’ contracts is that they are generally permanent, with
a notice period of three months. Termination payments are calculated on the basis of national pay
arrangements for Very Senior Managers/Agenda for Change.
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Senior Manager

Role

Contract Date

Unexpired
Term

Andrew Eyres

Chief Officer *
Chief Financial
Officer
Director of
Integrated
Commissioning
(Adults)
Director of
Governance and
Development

01-Apr-13

n/a - permanent

6 months

Early
Termination
Compensation
Provision
n/a

01-Apr-13

n/a - permanent

6 months

n/a

01-Apr-13

n/a - permanent

3 months

n/a

01-Apr-13

n/a - permanent

6 months

n/a

Andrew Parker

Director of
Primary Care
Development

01-Apr-13
Permanent
appointment
from October
2014

n/a - permanent

3 months

n/a

Peter Kohn

Director – Office
of London CCGs
**

01-Apr-13

Left 28 August
2018

n/a

n/a

Christine Caton

Moira McGrath

Una Dalton

Notice Period

* From 1 July 2017 Andrew Eyres also took on responsibility as Accountable Officer for NHS Croydon CCG.
This has been enacted as a half time secondment from NHS Lambeth CCG.
** The post of Director of Office of London CCGs is hosted by NHS Lambeth CCG and funded by all London
CCGs as part of the overall programme and administrative levies charge. NHS Lambeth CCG’s share of the
total charge is 4.18%.

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers
There are no senior managers of the CCG paid more than £150,000 per annum.

Directors and senior managers salaries and allowances 2018/19 (subject to audit)
Remuneration to GP members of the governing body is paid through the payroll or direct to
practices at an agreed rate.
All senior managers have been written to regarding publication of their remuneration and there have
been no objections to this publication.
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Directors and senior managers salaries and allowances 2018/19
Expense
Payments
(taxable)

(bands of
£5,000)

(Rounded to
the nearest
£100)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

£'000

£0

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

60 - 65

0

0

0

0

60 - 65

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

Name and title

Governing Body Members
Dr Adrian McLachlan – Governing Body Chair
*
Dr Sadru Kheraj – Chair of Collaborative
Forum *
Dr Sadru Kheraj – Other Clinical Work *
Graham Laylee – Lay Member and Vice Chair
(left September 2018)
Emir Feisal – Lay Member (from October
2018)
Sue Gallagher – Lay Member
Jackie Ballard – Lay Member
Dr John Balazs – Member Practice
Representative (left June 2018)*
Dr John Balazs – Other Clinical Work *
Dr Azhar Saleem – Member Practice
Representative (from July 2019)
Dr Azhar Saleem – Other Clinical Work *
Dr Harpal Harrar – Member Practice
Representative *
Dr Raj Mitra – Member Practice
Representative *
Prof Ami David – Registered Nurse Member **
Dr Nandini Mukhopadhyay – Member Practice
Representative
Dr Martin Godfrey – Member Practice
Representative *
Dr Martin Godfrey – Clinical Lead
Dr Martin Godfrey – Other Clinical Work *
Dr Diane Aitken – Member Practice
Representative
Dr Michael Khan – Secondary Care Doctor
Ruth Hutt – Interim Director of Public Health
Catherine Pearson – Healthwatch Lambeth
Representative (non-voting)
Dr Penelope Jarrett – Chair Lambeth Local
Medical Committee (LMC) Representative
Andrew Eyres – Accountable Officer ***
Christine Caton – Chief Financial Officer
Senior Managers
Andrew Parker – Director of Primary Care
Development
Moira McGrath – Director of Integrated Adults
Commissioning (Joint Post 50% with LB
Lambeth)
Una Dalton – Director of Governance and
Development
Tony Parker – Interim Director of Integrated
Children’s Commissioning (Joint Post 50%
with LB Lambeth)
Peter Kohn – Director of Office of CCG Chief
Executives (left 29 August 2018)

Long Term
Performance
All Pension
Performance
Pay and
Related
Pay and
bonuses
Benefits
Bonuses

Salary

Total

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

10 - 15
10 - 15

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

10 - 15
10 - 15

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

20 - 25

0

0

0

0

20 -25

10 - 15

0

0

0

0

10 - 15

30 - 35

0

0

0

0

30 -35

30 - 35

0

0

0

0

30 -35

10 - 15

0

0

0

0

10 - 15

45 - 50

0

0

0

0

45 - 50

30 - 35

0

0

0

0

30 - 35

60 - 65
0-5

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

60 - 65
0-5

30 - 35

0

0

0

0

30 - 35

15 - 20
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

15 - 20
0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

65 - 70
110 - 115

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

65 - 70
110 - 115

110 - 115

0

0

0

7.5 - 10

115 - 120

55 - 60

0

0

0

20 - 22.5

75 - 80

120 - 125

0

0

0

20 - 22.5

140 - 145

90 - 95

0

0

0

0

90 - 95

40 - 45

0

0

0

0

40 - 45

* This is an off payroll engagement paid through the practice
** Professor Ami David held the position of Registered Nurse Member of the Lambeth and Southwark CCG governing bodies
throughout the period. Her total salary for the 12 month period for these NHS roles was £25 -30k, expenses £0 and pension related
benefits £0
*** Andrew Eyres, Accountable Officer held the position of Accountable Officer for Lambeth CCG throughout the period. From July
2017, he was also the Accountable Officer for Croydon CCG. His total salary for the 12 months period for these NHS roles was £135£140k, expenses £0, and pension related benefits £12.5-£15k
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The total remuneration for Moira McGrath was within band £105 - £110k, of which 50% is paid by
NHS Lambeth CCG and 50% paid by London Borough of Lambeth.
The total remuneration for Tony Parker was within band £180 - £185k (full year cost), of which 50%
is paid by NHS Lambeth CCG and 50% paid by London Borough of Lambeth. This is based on the
total cost to the organisation.
Directors and senior managers’ salaries and allowances – 2017/18

Salary
Name and title

Long Term
Performance
All Pension
Performance
pay and
Related
Pay and
bonuses
Benefits
Bonuses

Total

£'000

(Rounded to
the nearest
£100)
£0

60 - 65

0

0

0

0

60-65

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

0-5
10 - 15
10 - 15
10 - 15

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0-5
10 - 15
10 - 15
10 - 15

30 - 35

0

0

0

0

30 - 35

30 - 35

0

0

0

0

30 - 35

10 - 15

0

0

0

0

10 - 15

20 - 25

0

0

0

0

20 - 25

30 - 35

0

0

0

0

30 - 35

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

30 - 35

0

0

0

0

30 - 35

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

30 - 35

0

0

0

0

30 - 35

65 - 70
5 - 10

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

65 - 70
5 - 10

30 - 35

0

0

0

67.5 - 70

95 - 100

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0
75 - 80
95 - 100

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
117.5 - 120
82.5 - 85

0
195 - 200
180 - 185

105 - 110

0

0

0

15 - 17.5

120 - 125

50 - 55

0

0

0

27.5 - 30

80 - 85

105 - 110

0

0

0

25 – 27.5

135 - 140

(bands of
£5,000)
Governing Body Members
Dr Adrian McLachlan – Governing Body Chair
*
Dr Sadru Kheraj – Chair of Collaborative
Forum *
Dr Sadru Kheraj – Other Clinical Work*
Graham Laylee – Lay Member and Vice Chair
Sue Gallagher – Lay Member
Jackie Ballard – Lay Member
Dr John Balazs – Member Practice
Representative*
Dr John Balazs – Other Clinical Work *
Dr Paul Heenan – Member Practice
Representative (to 31 July 2017) *
Dr Harpal Harrar – Member Practice
Representative (from 1 August 2017) *
Dr Raj Mitra – Member Practice
Representative *
Prof Ami David – Registered Nurse Member**
Dr Nandini Mukhopadhyay – Member Practice
Representative
Dr Nandini Mukhopadhyay – Other Clinical
Work
Dr Martin Godfrey – Member Practice
Representative *
Dr Martin Godfrey – Clinical Lead
Dr Martin Godfrey – Other Clinical Work
Dr Diane Aitken – Member Practice
Representative
Dr Michael Khan – Secondary Care Doctor
Helen Charlesworth-May – Local Authority
Representative
Catherine Pearson – Healthwatch Lambeth
Representative (non-voting)
Dr Penelope Jarrett – Chair Lambeth Local
Medical Committee (LMC) Representative
Prof John Moxham – Representative from
King's Health Partners, Co-opted Member
(non-voting)
Dr Ian Abbs – Representative from Kings
Health Partners, Co - Opted Member (nonvoting)
Ruth Hutt – Interim Director of Public Health
Andrew Eyres – Accountable Officer ***
Christine Caton – Chief Financial Officer ****
Senior Managers
Andrew Parker – Director of Primary Care
Development
Moira McGrath – Director of Integrated Adults
Commissioning (Joint Post 50% with LB
Lambeth)
Una Dalton – Director of Governance and
Development

Expense
Payments
(taxable)
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(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Amy Buxton Jennings – Director of Integrated
Children’s Commissioning (Joint Post 50%
with LB Lambeth) (up to November 2017)
Tony Parker – Interim Director of Integrated
Children’s Commissioning (Joint Post 50%
with LB Lambeth) (from January 2018)
Peter Kohn – Director of Office of CCG Chief
Executives

30 - 35

0

0

0

0

30 - 35

20 - 25

0

0

0

0

20 - 25

105 - 110

0

0

0

17.5 - 20

125 - 130

* This is an off payroll engagement paid through the practice
** Professor Ami David held the position of Registered Nurse Member of the Lambeth and Southwark CCG governing bodies
throughout the period. Her total salary for the 12 month period for these NHS roles was £25 - 30k, expenses £0 and pension related
benefits £0
*** Andrew Eyres, Accountable Officer held the position of Accountable Officer for Lambeth CCG throughout the period. From July
2017 he was also the Accountable Officer for Croydon CCG. His total salary for the 12 months period for these NHS roles was £135 £140k, expenses £0, and pension related benefits £117.5 - £120k
**** Christine Caton, CFO held the position of CFO for Lambeth CCG throughout the period. Between August and October 2017 she
also performed CFO duties for or Southwark CCG. Total salary for the 12 months period for these NHS roles was £110 - £115k,
expenses £0, and pension related benefits £82.5 - £85k

The total remuneration for Moira McGrath was within band £105 - £110k, of which 50% is paid by
NHS Lambeth CCG and 50% paid by London Borough of Lambeth.
The total remuneration for Amy Buxton Jennings was within band £65 - £70k (full year cost), of
which 50% is paid by NHS Lambeth CCG and 50% paid by London Borough of Lambeth.
The total remuneration for Tony Parker was within band £40 - £45k (full year cost), of which 50% is
paid by NHS Lambeth CCG and 50% paid by London Borough of Lambeth.

Senior managers’ pension benefits (subject to audit)
2018/19

Name and Title

Andrew (Paul) Eyres
Christine Caton
Moira McGrath
Andrew Parker
Una Dalton
Diane Aitken

Lump sum at
Total accrued
Real increase
pension age
Real increase
pension at
in pension
related to
in pension at
pension age
lump sum at
accrued
pension age
at 31 March
pension age
pension at 31
2019
March 2019
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
£2,500)
£2,500)
£5,000)
£5,000)
£000
£000
£000
£000

0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0

0
0
0
2.5 - 5
0
0

55 - 60
40 - 45
40 - 45
45 - 50
30 - 35
10 - 15

160 - 165
110 - 115
90 -95
140 - 145
65 - 70
35 - 40

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2018

Real Increase
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2019

Employer's
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£000

£000

£000

£000

1,089
757
584
977
483
291

100
78
90
103
71
0

1,242
874
706
1,124
584
287

0
0
0
0
0
0

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2017

Real Increase
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2018

Employer's
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£000

£000

£000

£000

904
641
521
890
429
1,123
223

176
109
57
78
49
88
66

1,089
757
584
977
483
1,222
291

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2017/18

Name and Title

Andrew (Paul) Eyres
Christine Caton
Moira McGrath
Andrew Parker
Una Dalton
Peter Kohn
Diane Aitken

Lump sum at
Total accrued
Real increase
pension age
Real increase
pension at
in pension
related to
in pension at
pension age
lump sum at
accrued
pension age
at 31 March
pension age
pension at 31
2018
March 2018
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
£2,500)
£2,500)
£5,000)
£5,000)
£000
£000
£000
£000

5 - 7.5
2.5 - 5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5

17.5 - 20
5 - 7.5
0
2.5 - 5
0
2.5 - 5
7.5 - 10

50 - 55
40 - 45
35 - 40
45 - 50
25 - 30
50 - 55
15 - 20

160 - 165
110 - 115
90 -95
135 - 140
65 - 70
155 - 160
40 - 45
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Cash equivalent transfer values
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the
member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable beneficiary’s) pension
payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in
another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to
transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the
benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension
scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another
scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also
include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing
additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the
guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the increase in
accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any
benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement).

Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office
This is not applicable.

Payments to past members
This is not applicable.

Pay multiples (subject to audit)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest
paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce. The
banded remuneration of the highest paid director in NHS Lambeth CCG in the financial year
2018/19 was £120,146 (2017/18: £99,912).
This was 3.02 times (2017/18: 2.45 times) the median remuneration of the workforce which was
£39,815 (2017/18: £40,703). This has increased because the salary calculation of the highest paid
director is now based on a VSM rather than Agenda for Change payscale for which there is no
midpoint.
The salary range for 2018/19 is £27,133 to £120,146 (2017/18: £26,335 to £108,908). In 2018/19 no
employees received remuneration in excess of the highest paid member of the Membership
Body/Governing Body.
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind, but
not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and the cash
equivalent transfer value of pensions.
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SEL Area
Prescribing
Committee
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Strategy
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Remuneration
Committee









Audit Committee

Lambeth Borough
Prescribing
Committee

Adrian McLachlan
Di Aitken
John Balazs (1)
Azhar Saleem (2)
Martin Godfrey
Harpal Harrar
Raj Mitra
Nandi
Mukhopadhyay
Ami David
Mike Khan
Graham Laylee (3)
Emir Feisal (4)
Jackie Ballard
Sue Gallagher
Andrew Eyres
Christine Caton
Ruth Hutt

Integrated
Governance
Committee

*







Governing Body

Engagement,
Equalities and
Communication
Committee

Governing Body membership and chairs (including committees)

* Chairs indicated by purple boxes
All members were members of the Governing Body and sub committees for the full year, 1 April 2018 until 31 March 2019, with the
exception of:
(1) Member was a member of the Governing Body and sub committees from April 2018 until June 2019
(2) Member was a member of the Governing Body and sub committees from July 2018 until March 2018
(3) Member was a member of the Governing Body and sub committees from April 2018 until September 2018
(4) Member was a member of the Governing Body and sub committees from October 2018 until March 2019
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Staff Report
Staff composition

Clinical Lead
Employee
Governing Body *
Lay Member
Local Salary
VSM
Grand Total

Female
0
49
2
2
2
1

Male
1
24
4
0
0
1
86

*Three members of the Governing Body are officers (not employees) of the CCG and are paid as such
through payroll.

Full Time
Part Time
Grand Total

Headcount
61
25
86

FTE
61.00
11.15
72.15

Headcount
2
8
3
5
9
7
7
6
2
6
1
56
1
3
3
9
2
5
1
5
1
30
86

FTE
2.00
7.80
3.00
5.00
8.60
6.30
5.29
4.31
2.00
1.22
1.00
46.52
1.00
3.00
2.73
9.00
2.00
5.00
1.00
0.90
1.00
25.63
72.15

Employees are broken down in the following NHS bands:
Gender

Female

Male

Banding
Band 4
Band 5
Band 6
Band 7
Band 8A
Band 8B
Band 8C
Band 8D
Band 9
Local Salary
VSM
Female Total
Band 5
Band 6
Band 7
Band 8A
Band 8B
Band 8D
Band 9
Local Salary
VSM
Male Total

Grand Total
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Ethnic Origin
A White - British
A White - British
B White - Irish
B White - Irish
C White - Any other White background
CJ White Turkish Cypriot
E Mixed - White & Black African
H Asian or Asian British - Indian
L Asian or Asian British - Any other Asian
background
M Black or Black British - Caribbean
N Black or Black British - African
R Chinese
Z Not Stated
Grand Total

Band
Employee
VSM
Employee
VSM
Employee
Employee
Employee
Employee

Headcount
41
1
3
1
7
1
1
3

FTE
37.21
1.00
2.93
1.00
7.00
1.00
1.00
2.99

Employee

4

3.80

Employee
Employee
Employee
Employee

5
3
1
4
75

5.00
2.60
0.50
4.00
70.03

Religious Belief
Atheism
Christianity
Christianity
Hinduism
I do not wish to disclose my religion/belief
I do not wish to disclose my religion/belief
Islam
Other
Grand Total

Band
Employee
Employee
VSM
Employee
Employee
VSM
Employee
Employee

Headcount
10
25
1
3
26
1
4
5
75

FTE
10.00
22.93
1.00
2.79
24.21
1.00
4.00
4.10
70.03

Sexual Orientation
Gay or Lesbian
Heterosexual or Straight
Heterosexual or Straight
Not stated (person asked but declined to
provide a response)
Grand Total

Band
Employee
Employee
VSM

Headcount
1
47
2

FTE
1.00
44.03
2.00

Employee

25

23.01

75

70.03

Headcount
58
2
12
1
2
75

FTE
54.33
2.00
11.20
0.50
2.00
70.03

Disabled
No
No
Not Declared
Undefined
Yes
Grand Total

Band
Employee
VSM
Employee
Employee
Employee
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Age
20-24
25-29
30-34
35-39
40-44
45-49
50-54
55-59
60-64
Grand Total

Band
Employee
Employee
Employee
Employee
Employee
Employee
Employee &
VSM
Employee &
VSM
Employee
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Headcount
2
4
5
10
12
13

FTE
2.00
4.00
4.93
9.60
9.19
12.60

13

12.11

14

13.80

2
75

1.80
70.03

Employee benefits and staff numbers (subject to audit)
Employee Benefits 2018/19
Permanent
Employees
£’000

Total
£’000

Other
£’000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages

8,547

5,073

3,474

Social security costs

500

500

0

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme

568

568

0

7

7

0

Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

8
9,630

8
6,156

0
3,474

Less: Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

(354)

(354)

0

Total – Net admin employee benefits including
capitalised costs

9,276

5,802

3,474

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
9,276

0
5,802

0
3,474

Apprenticeship Levy

Employee Benefits 2017/18
Permanent
Employees
£’000

Total
£’000

Other
£’000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages

5,019

3,956

1,063

Social security costs

504

502

1

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme

592

592

0

7

7

0

0
6,122

0
5,057

0
1,064

Less: Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

(99)

(99)

0

Total – Net admin employee benefits including
capitalised costs

6,023

4,959

1,064

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
6,023

0
4,959

0
1,064

Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

Page 117 of 129

Average Number of People Employed:
2018/19
Total Number
Total

100

Permanently
Employed Number
67

Other Number
33

2017/18
Total Number
Total

77

Permanently
Employed Number
70

Other Number
7

Sickness absence data
Sum of FTE Days Sick

Sum of FTE Days Available

603

25070

Average Annual Sick Days
per FTE
5.4

A total of 603 Full Time Equivalent (FTE) days were lost due to sickness absence in the period
January 2018 to December 2018. The CCG’s sickness absence rate for the 12 month period is
2.41%.
Sickness absence is managed via the CCG’s Promoting Attendance at Work Policy, which is
available to staff on our intranet. Complementing the policy, the Occupational Health Service
provides professional advice in the management of staff with ill health conditions or workplace
assessments and the Employee Assistance Programme service is easily accessible for staff to
access face to face or telephone counselling.

Staff policies
NHS Lambeth CCG has a number of HR policies providing clarity and guidance to staff and
managers over a wide range of workforce related matters. The CCG is committed to the elimination
of discrimination and these policies aim to ensure those with protected characteristics as defined in
the Equality Act 2010 are not disadvantaged in either recruitment or their employment.
NHS Lambeth CCG enacts this commitment through its policies such as the Recruitment Policy,
where the CCG commits to ensuring that people with disabilities are not discriminated against on
the grounds of their disability at any stage of the recruitment process.
Where any disabled applicant meets the essential criteria, within the person specification, then they
will be guaranteed an interview with any reasonable adjustments provided for.
The Promoting Attendance at Work Policy confirms that where an employee becomes disabled as a
result of sickness, NHS Lambeth CCG will make any necessary reasonable adjustments, as
required, and in accordance with the Equality Act 2010, to enable the employee to return to work.
Adjustments may include work base and working hours changes, redeploying the employee to
another suitable position and providing necessary equipment and training to assist the employee to
perform their role.

Other employee matters
The CCG has a number of staff forums such as the Health and Safety Committee, Developing and
Advancing Staff (DAS) group and Staff Briefing where workforce issues are discussed and updates
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provided. Staff are also welcome to join one of the various recognised Trade Unions. The majority
of CCG staff are employed under Agenda for Change Terms and Conditions so pay and pay
progression is governed under this system.
The CCG provides an Occupational Health service and Employee Assistance Programme which
both assist in providing advice and support to managers and staff.

Expenditure on consultancy
A total of £3.66 million was spent on consultancy during 2018/19. Primarily this was spent on the
Healthy London Partnership (HLP), the South East London Project Management Office and the
Office of London CCGs. The increased in costs over 2017/18 is attributable to HLP which the CCG
took on hosting in 2018/19.

Off-payroll engagements
The off-payroll engagements are individuals who have received payments outside the formal payroll
process. The number of individuals who have received payments outside the formal payroll process
was 33.
The Lambeth CCG engages clinicians and others professionals for support such as Clinical Network
Lead work, and is required to seek assurance that individuals, undertaking work on this basis for
more than £245 per day and that lasts longer than six months, have complied with their Tax and
National Insurance obligations.
Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months
For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2019, for more than £245 per day and that last
longer than six months:

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2019
Of which, the number that have existed:
For less than one year at the time of reporting
For between one and two years at the time of reporting
For between two and three years at the time of reporting
For between three and four years at the time of reporting
For four or more years at the time of reporting

Number
33
11
3
1
7
11

The CCG confirms that all existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have at some point
been subject to a risk based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is
paying the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought.
New off payroll engagements
For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 1 April
2018 and March 2019, for more than £245 per day and that last for longer than six months:
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Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration,
between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019
Of which:
Number assessed as caught by IR35
Number assessed as not caught by IR35

11
1
6

Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are on the
departmental payroll
Number of engagements reassessed for consistency / assurance purposes
during the year
Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the
consistency review

0
0
0

Off-payroll board member/senior official engagements
For any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior officials with significant financial
responsibility, between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019:
Number
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers
with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year
Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been deemed
“board members, and/or, senior officials with significant financial
responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure must include both on
payroll and off-payroll engagements

7

33

The senior officer engagements relate to GP governing body member, including clinical lead roles.
The CCG is planning to move all governing body members onto the payroll during 2019/20.

Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments
The CCG paid one exit package in 2018/19:
Cost of
compulsory
redundancies

Number of
other
departures
agreed

Cost of other
departures
agreed

Total number
of exit
packages

Total cost of
exit packages

NUMBERS
ONLY

£s

WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

£s

WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

£s

1

£8,415

1

£8,415

1

£8,415

1

£8,415

Number of
Exit package
compulsory
cost band (inc. redundancies
any special
payment
WHOLE
element

Less than
£10,000
£10,000 –
£25,000
£25,001 –
£50,000
£50,001 –
£100,000
£100,001 –
£150,000
£150,001 –
£200,000
More than
£200,000
TOTALS
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Number of
Cost of special
departures
payment
where special
element
payments have included in
been made
exit packages

WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

£s

Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
NHS Lambeth CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report.
Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and
charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements appended to this report. An audit
certificate and report is also appended to this report before the Financial Statements.

Equalities and staff
We understand that our workforce is our most powerful tool for delivering our strategy to improve
health, reduce inequalities in health and improve quality in services for Lambeth people. It is
therefore crucial that we recruit and retain high quality, committed individuals who will bring the best
of themselves, their experience, skills and insights to work every day. We are dedicated to providing
a positive working environment in which all our staff are treated with dignity and respect, that fosters
equality of opportunity, values diversity and is free from harassment and bullying. We are committed
to identifying, removing and minimising discriminatory working practices and to fostering good
relationships between our staff and with Lambeth communities. Our baseline Equality Delivery
System 2 (EDS2) grading for workforce was ‘excelling’, but we are not complacent.
We aim to ensure through induction and mandatory equalities training that all our staff members
have an in-depth understanding of the population profile and health needs of Lambeth in all its
diversity.
Individual requests for external training are overseen by our Developing and Advancing Staff group,
which ensures that development opportunities are fairly allocated across the organisation.
Responding to the NHS national staff survey 2018, between seven and eight staff in ten (75%) said
there were equal opportunities for career progression or promotion.

Accountable Officer’s signature

Andrew Eyres
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019
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Appendix 1 – CCG risk reporting and escalation process

Governing Body,
Directorates and
Programme Boards
identify risks and
develop risk
registers

Other identification
of risks

Governing Body,
Directorates and
Programme Boards
review risks, agree
escalation, monitor
risk action plans

Escalated risks
added to the CCG
corporate risk
register
Current risks
updated

Programme Board
highlight and exception
reports risks.
Directorate risks
should also be
highlighted

Review and update of
corporate risk register and
update of action plans,
assurance and controls –
Risk owners and
Governance Manager

Risk Register, BAF and
Heatmap reviewed by IGC
as part of Integrated
Governance and
Performance Report –
every 2 months

Risk Register, BAF and
Heatmap reviewed at
Governing Body meeting
as part of Integrated
Governance and
Performance Report –
every 2 months
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Integrated
Governance and
Performance
Report added to
CCG website

Appendix 2 – NHS Lambeth CCG risk grading and management

Definition

High Risk
15-25

Significant
Risk
8-12

Moderate
Risk
4-6

Low Risk
1-3

Further Action
Unacceptable Risk
The root causes should be identified to help determine the
most appropriate risk treatment plan.
 Report to Board identifying treatment options
 2-monthly Board Integrated Governance and
Performance Report
 Quarterly quality provider reports to Integrated
Governance and Performance Committee
 The Governing Body or agreed committee / group will
monitor progress on treatment action plans
Unacceptable Risk
 Report to the Integrated Governance Group identifying
treatment options
 Report to the Integrated Governance Group monitoring
progress on treatment action plans
 Highlight and exception reports to Operational /
Programme Board
Acceptable / Unacceptable Risk
 To be assessed and actioned accordingly as for
‘significant risk’ or ‘low risk’
Acceptable Risk
 Inform all appropriate stakeholders
 Take action to reduce risk where necessary and within
authority
 Maintain records
 Discuss whether any further action should be taken to
reduce further risk
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By whom

Integrated
Governance
Committee

Senior
Managers

Senior
Managers

All staff

Appendix 3 – Head of Internal Audit Opinion 2018/19
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Data entered below will be used throughout the workbook:

Entity name:
This year
Last year
This year ended
Last year ended
This year commencing:
Last year commencing:

NHS LAMBETH CCG
2018-19
2017-18
31-March-2019
31-March-2018
01-April-2018
01-April-2017

NHS LAMBETH CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19
Note

Page Number

CONTENTS
The Primary Statements:
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 31st March 2019
Statement of Financial Position as at 31st March 2019
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended 31st March 2019
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31st March 2019
Notes to the Accounts
Accounting policies
Other operating revenue
Revenue
Employee benefits and staff numbers
Operating expenses
Better payment practice code
Operating leases
Property, plant and equipment
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Financial instruments
Operating segments
Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations
Related party transactions
Events after the end of the reporting period
Financial performance targets
Impact of IFRS
Losses and special payments

3
4
5
6

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
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7-9
10
11
12-14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23-24
25
25
26-27
28
28
28
29

NHS LAMBETH CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2019

Note

2018-19
£'000

2017-18
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

2
2

(8,714)
(8,714)

(5,200)
(514)
(5,714)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

4
5
5
5
5

9,631
557,532
63
12
691
567,929

6,122
524,846
77
600
721
532,364

559,215

526,650

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year
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NHS LAMBETH CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19
Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2019

Note
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Total non-current assets

2018-19

2017-18

£'000

£'000

8

471
471

349
349

9
10

10,730
232
10,962

8,473
55
8,528

11,433

8,877

(46,952)
(860)
(47,812)

(36,477)
(847)
(37,324)

Non-Current Assets less Net Liabilities

(36,379)

(28,448)

Assets less Liabilities

(36,379)

(28,448)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Total taxpayers' equity:

(36,379)
(36,379)

(28,448)
(28,448)

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities

11
12

The notes on pages 7 to 29 form part of this statement.

The financial statements on pages 3 to 29 were approved by the Audit Committee under delegated responsibility
from the Governing Body on 22 May 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

Accountable Officer
Andrew Eyres
24 May 2019

Chief Financial Officer
Christine Caton
24 May 2019
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31 March 2019
General fund
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Balance at 01 April 2018

(28,448)

(28,448)

(2)

(2)

Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(559,215)

(559,215)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2019

(559,217)
551,286
(36,379)

(559,217)
551,286
(36,379)

Impact of applying IFRS 9 to Opening Balances

General fund
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Balance at 01 April 2017
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2018

(21,451)
(21,451)

(21,451)
(21,451)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Net operating costs for the financial year

(526,651)

(526,651)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2018

(526,651)
519,654
(28,448)

(526,651)
519,654
(28,448)

The notes on pages 7 to 29 form part of this statement.
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NHS LAMBETH CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2019
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

5
9
11
12
12

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net Funding Received
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

10

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

The notes on pages 7 to 29 form part of this statement.
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2018-19
£'000

2017-18
£'000

(559,216)
63
(2)
(2,257)
10,475
0
13
(550,924)

(526,651)
77
0
(2,736)
9,296
(22)
600
(519,436)

(186)
(186)

(205)
(205)

(551,110)

(519,641)

551,286
551,286

519,654
519,654

176

13

55
232

42
55

NHS LAMBETH CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19
Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group Accounting
Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
Group Accounting Manual 2018-19 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting
Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as
determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of
accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the
purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are described below. They
have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.
1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by
inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commisisoning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by
another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the conceptof going concern for the final set of financial statements. If services will continue to
be provided the financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.
During the year the Governing Body and its sub-committees has considered and approved a number of documents that assume that services will be
provided on an on going basis:
- Agreement of 2019/20 Commissioning Intentions
- A 2019/20 Operating Plan with agreed main service contracts in place and has a cash plan for 2019/20 based on CCG's notified Maximum Cash
Drawdown
- Support for Lambeth Together as the local model of 'place' inn a South East London Integrated Care 'system of systems'
- South East London Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP)

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Joint arrangements
Arrangements over which the clinical commissioning group has joint control with one or more other entities are classified as joint arrangements. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement. A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.
A joint operation exists where the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement.
Where the clinical commissioning group is a joint operator it recognises its share of, assets, liabilities, income and expenses in its own accounts.

1.4

Pooled Budgets
The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with the London Borough of Lambeth in accordance with section 75 of
the NHS Act 2006. Under the arrangement, funds are pooled a note to the accounts provides details of the income and expenditure.
The clinical commissioning group accounts for this as a joint operation and its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the
activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement

1.5

Revenue
The transition to IFRS 15 has been completed in accordance with paragraph C3 (b) of the Standard, applying the Standard retrospectively recognising the
cumulative effects at the date of initial application.
In the adoption of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as follows;
• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical commissioning group will not disclose information regarding performance obligations part of a contract
that has an original expected duration of one year or less,
• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient offered in
paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed to date.
• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the Standard that requires the clinical commissioning group to reflect
the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application.
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the
customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation.
Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that income is deferred.
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles.
The value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship service are recognised as
income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, non-cash
income and a corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded.

1.6
1.6.1

Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the
service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are
permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.6.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that
cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes are
not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the
schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in a scheme is
taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the
additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of
payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.

1.7

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of
the consideration payable.
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NHS LAMBETH CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19
Notes to the financial statements
1.8
1.8.1

Property, Plant & Equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·
It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·
It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;
·
It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·
The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·
The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·
Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are
functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under
single managerial control; or,
·

Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.

1.8.2

Measurement
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and
bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use are valued at depreciated historic
cost where these assets have short useful economic lives or low values or both, as this is not considered to be materially different from current value
in existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously
recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease
that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the
extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of
economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in
the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

1.8.3

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent
expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is writtenout and charged to operating expenses.

1.8.4

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current assets, less
any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets.
The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or service
potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated
useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under
finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its property, plant and equipment
assets or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from
a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been no
initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and
thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.9

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

1.9.1

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between
finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance
charges are recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a
liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

1.1

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are
investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant
risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral
part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

1.11

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
• A nominal short-term rate of 0.76% (2017-18: negative 2.42% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows up to and including 5 years
from Statement of Financial Position date.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised
as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.12

Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in return
settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical
negligence cases, the legal liability remains with clinical commissioning group.

1.13

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under
which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising.
The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become
due.

1.14

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not
probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is
disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.

1.15

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables,
when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·
Financial assets at amortised cost;
·
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ;
·
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of
initial recognition.

1.15.1

Financial Assets at Amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows and where
the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables and other simple debt instruments. After initial recognition
these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

1.15.2

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.

1.15.3

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets measure at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income. This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.
Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the clinical commissioning group recognises a loss allowance representing the
expected credit losses on the financial asset.
The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for trade
receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For other financial assets, the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition
(stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other government departments, their executive
agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation. The clinical commissioning
group therefore does not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. Additionally DHSC provides a guarantee of last
resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical commissioning group does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2
impairments against these bodies.
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as the
difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original
effective interest rate. Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

1.15.4

1.16

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability
has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.17

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is
not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax
is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.18

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their
nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are
divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been
made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as
normal revenue expenditure).

1.19

Other accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies, management is required to make various judgements, estimates and assumptions.
These are regularly reviewed.

1.19.1

Sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
Lambeth CCG has estimated the value of its acute position where no year end agreement has been reached based on provider activity at Month 11 extrapolated
to Month12. For two of the CCGs three main acute providers a year end agreement has been reached to secure financial stability for both parties

1.2

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The DHSC GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2018-19. These Standards are still subject to HM Treasury
FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2019-20, and the government implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury
consideration.
● IFRS 16 Leases – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not
therefore permitted.
● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early
adoption is not therefore permitted.
● IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2018-19, were they applied in that year.
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2 Other Operating Revenue

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other Contract income
Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Other non contract revenue
Total Other operating income
Total Operating Income

2018-19
Total

2017-18
Total

£'000

£'000

613
7,132
615
354
8,714

233
4,869
99
5,201

-

513
513

8,714

5,714

The majority of income is non patient care services and other revenue relates to admin income
for the Office of London CCGs and programme income for the Healthy London Partnership
hosted by NHS Lambeth CCG.
Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down
directly into the bank account of the CCG and credited to the General Fund.
Total income has increased from £5.7m in 2017/18 to £8.7m mainly because NHS Lambeth
CCG became the host of the Healthy London Partnership on behalf of London CCGs from
2018/19.
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3 Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts)

Education, training
and research
£'000
Source of Revenue
NHS
Non NHS
Total

613
613

Education, training
and research
£'000
Timing of Revenue
Point in time
Over time
Total

613
613
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Non-patient care
services to other
bodies
£'000

Other Contract
income
£'000

5,090
2,042
7,132

Non-patient care
services to other
bodies
£'000
7,132
7,132

23
592
615

Other Contract
income
£'000
615
615

Recoveries in
respect of employee
benefits
£'000
354
354

Recoveries in
respect of employee
benefits
£'000
354
354
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

2018-19

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

5,073
500
568
7
8
6,156

3,474
0
0
0
0
3,474

8,547
500
568
7
8
9,630

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)

(354)

0

(354)

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

5,802

3,474

9,276

NHS Lambeth CCG's Annual Report provides further details of the CCG's Remuneration report on page 107 and staff report on page 114.
There is an increase in employee benefits costs for agency relating to the Healthy London Partnership which is hosted by
NHS Lambeth CCG from 2018/19 and recharges from other CCGs.

4.1.1 Employee benefits

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure
Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

2017-18

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

3,956
502
592
7
5,057

1,063
1
0
0
1,064

5,019
503
592
7
6,121

(99)

0

(99)

4,958

1,064

6,022

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

2018-19
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Employee Benefits - Revenue
Salaries and wages
Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits

(354)
(354)
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Other
£'000

Total
£'000
0
0

(354)
(354)

2017-18
Total
£'000
(99)
(99)
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4.2 Average number of people employed
2018-19

Total

2017-18

Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

67

33

Total
Number

Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

Total
Number

100

70

7

77

The average staff numbers have decreased in 2018/19 due to further recharges to other CCGs and Lambeth GP Federations for medicines management
and engagement posts. Average staff numbers in other have increased in 2018/19 due to the Healthy London Partnership which is hosted by NHS
Lambeth CCG in 2018/19.

Page 13

NHS LAMBETH CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19
4.3 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the
Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover
NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health in England and Wales. They are
not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore,
each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as
equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be determined at
the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with
approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
4.3.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of
the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and
financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation
of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2019, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2018, updated to 31 March 2019 with summary global
member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations,
and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS
Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be
obtained from The Stationery Office.
4.3.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent
demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the
employer contribution rate payable from April 2019. The Department of Health and Social Care have recently laid Scheme Regulations
confirming that the employer contribution rate will increase to 20.6% of pensionable pay from this date.
The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set following the 2012 valuation.
Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part of the valuation process pending
conclusion of the continuing legal process.
For 2018-19, employers’ contributions of £572,744 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2017-18: £596,228) were payable to the NHS
Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.38% of pensionable pay.
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5. Operating expenses
2018-19
Total
£'000
Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from Other WGA bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
General Ophthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Audit fees
Other professional fees
Legal fees
Education, training and conferences
Total Purchase of goods and services

2017-18
Total
£'000

5,214
362,899
30,412
45
56,163
33,834
235
59,122
5
306
3,666
1,501
1
3,303
52
304
61
409
557,532

5,956
341,762
30,265
48,689
35,984
100
222
56,091
3
193
1,354
1,460
89
1,799
52
421
168
242
524,848

Depreciation and impairment charges
Depreciation
Total Depreciation and impairment charges

63
63

77
77

Provision expense
Provisions
Total Provision expense

12
12

600
600

393
14
283
691

376
0
345
721

558,298

526,244

Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Expected credit loss on receivables
Other expenditure
Total Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

Consultancy fees have increased since 2017/18 as a result of expenditure relating to the Healthy London Partnership.
Premises costs have increased because of the transfer for void and bookable space costs for delegated primary
care budgets from NHS England and costs relating to the Healthy London Partnership.
Statutory audit fee - The audit fee for the year is £54,078 inclusive of VAT. The audit fee excluding VAT is
£45,065. (2017/18 £52k inclusive of VAT).
Audit related services - The CCG will be required to obtain assurance from the external auditors over reported
compliance with the requirement of the Mental Health Investment Standard. The CCG has received £10,000 of
resource allocation in relation to this work. The final fee is not yet confirmed.
Internal Audit fees - outsourced internal audit fees excluding VAT is £27.6k and £33k, inclusive of VAT (2017/18
£33k).
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6. Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2018-19
Number

2018-19
£'000

2017-18
Number

2017-18
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

10,042
9,838
97.97%

134,272
132,353
98.57%

9,811
9,285
94.64%

120,479
117,676
97.67%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

3,537
3,528
99.75%

401,454
400,935
99.87%

3,376
3,351
99.26%

378,792
378,199
99.84%
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7. Operating Leases
7.1 As lessee
NHS Lambeth CCG occupies property managed by NHS Property Services Ltd. The 2018/19 payment represents the CCG's
share of the lease cost. The CCG's lease for the premises ended in September 2017. The lease, effective from 1 October
2017, has been granted but not yet signed.
From 2018/19 this includes the void and bookable space lease costs for delegated primary care services and the lease for
the Healthy London Partnership
7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
Buildings
£'000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total

1,402
1,402

2018-19
Total
£'000
1,402
1,402

Buildings
£'000

2017-18
Total
£'000

323
323

323
323

NHS Lambeth CCG occupies property managed by NHS Property Services Ltd. The 2018/19 payment represents the CCG's
share of the lease cost. The CCG's lease for the premises ended in September 2017. The lease, effective from 1 October
2017, has been granted but not yet signed.

7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
Buildings
£'000
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

1,422
4,824
11,022
17,268
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2018-19
Total
£'000
1,422
4,824
11,022
17,268

Buildings
£'000
188
1,556
1,744

2017-18
Total
£'000
188
1,556
1,744
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8. Property, plant and equipment

Information
technology
£'000
444

Furniture &
fittings
£'000
115

Additions purchased
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2019

186
630

115

186
745

Depreciation 01 April 2018

168

43

211

Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2019

55
223

8
50

63
273

Net Book Value at 31 March 2019

407

65

472

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2019

407
407

65
65

472
472

Owned

407

65

472

Total at 31 March 2019

407

65

472

2018-19
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2018

Total
£'000
559

Asset financing:

The CCG received £187k capital funding for information technology refresh

13.1 Economic lives

Information technology
Furniture & fittings

Minimum
Life (years)
3
5
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Maximum Life
(Years)
5
10
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9.1 Trade and other receivables

Current
2018-19
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income

Non-current
2018-19
£'000

Current
2017-18
£'000

Non-current
2017-18
£'000

2,952
1,379
930
4,979
365

-

1,402
1,371
3,202
2,082
350
10

-

Non-NHS and Other WGA Contract Receivable not yet invoiced/non-invoice
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

61
(14)
59
18
10,729

-

34
23
8,474

-

Total current and non current

10,729

8,474

The main items on NHS prepayments and accrued income relates to maternity pathway work in progress from NHS Trust organisations

Non-NHS receivables relate to a range of payments from the London Borough of Lambeth and is mainly for the Section 75 recharge arrangement for Children's Services.

9.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2018-19
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
319
49
368

2018-19
Non DHSC
Group Bodies
£'000
245
71
215
531

2017-18
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
221
3
63
287

2017-18
Non DHSC
Group Bodies
£'000
1,835
1
1,836

9.3 Impact of Application of IFRS 9 on financial assets at 1 April 2018
Cash and cash
receivables

Trade and other
receivables NHSE bodies
£000s

£000s

Trade and other
receivables external
£000s

Other financial
assets

Total

£000s

£000s

Classification under IAS 39 as at 31st March 2018
Financial Assets held at Amortised cost
Total at 31st March 2018

55
55

4,603
4,603

2,092
2,092

23
23

6,773
6,773

Classification under IFRS 9 as at 1st April 2018
Financial Assets measured at amortised cost
Total at 1st April 2018

55
55

4,603
4,603

2,094
2,094

23
23

6,775
6,775

-

-

(2)
(2)

-

(2)
(2)

Changes due to change in measurement attribute
Change in carrying amount

9.4 Movement in loss allowances due to application of IFRS 9
Cash and cash
receivables

Trade and other
receivables NHSE bodies
£000s

£000s

Trade and other
receivables external
£000s

Other financial
assets

Total

£000s

£000s

Impairment and provisions allowances under IAS 39 as at 31st March 2018
Financial Assets held at Amortised cost (ie the 1718 Closing Provision)
Financial assets held at FVOCI
Total at 31st March 2018

-

-

-

-

-

Loss allowance under IFRS 9 as at 1st April 2018
Financial Assets measured at amortised cost
Financial Assets measured at FVOCI
Total at 1st April 2018

-

-

(2)
(2)

-

(2)
(2)

Change in loss allowance arising from application of IFRS 9

-

-

(2)

-

(2)
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10 Cash and cash equivalents
2018-19
£'000
Balance at 01 April 2018
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2019

55
177
232

2017-18
£'000
42
13
55

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

232
232

55
55

Balance at 31 March 2019

232

55
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11 Trade and other payables

Current
2018-19
£'000

Non-current
2018-19
£'000

NHS payables: Revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

5,406
10,251
4,976
25,595
72
66
588
46,953

Total current and non-current

46,953

Current
2017-18
£'000
-

Non-current
2017-18
£'000

2,239
8,624
3,391
21,374
69
63
717
36,477

-

36,477

The NHS liability mainly relates to amounts owed to NHS organisations for contract and non contract activity for quarter four of
2018/19.

The main non NHS liability relates to amounts owed including for prescribing (two months), continuing care and free nursing
care.
Other payables include £524k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2019, (31 March 2018 = £476k) and includes GP
pensions under the CCG's responsibility for delegated primary care commissioning.

11.1 Impact of Application of IFRS 9 on financial liabilities at 1 April 2018
Trade and
other payables
- NHSE bodies

£000s
Classification under IAS 39 as at 31st March 2018
Financial Assets held at Amortised cost
Total at 31st March 2018

Changes due to change in measurement attribute
Change in carrying amount

Trade and
other payables
- other DHSC
group bodies

Trade and
other payables
- external

£000s

£000s

Other
borrowings
(including
finance lease
obligations)
£000s

Other
financial
liabilities

Total

£000s

£000s

10,863
10,863

-

25,482
25,482

-

-

36,345
36,345

-

-

-

-

-

-
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12 Provisions
Current
2018-19
£'000
Continuing care
Other
Total current

133
727
860

Continuing Care
£'000
Balance at 01 April 2018

Current
2017-18
£'000

Other
£'000

847
847

Total
£'000

-

847

Arising during the year
Reversed unused
Balance at 31 March 2019

133
133

35
(155)
727

847
168
(155)
860

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Balance at 31 March 2019

133
133

727
727

860
860

The movements in provision relates to a new retrospective continuing care case and a reduction in the potential
estimated liability with HMRC for off-payroll engagements.
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13 Financial instruments
13.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because NHS clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced
by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed
companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest
surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks
facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS clinical
commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the
NHS clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.
13.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities
being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical commissioning
group and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
13.1.2 Interest rate risk
The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England.
The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate,
fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
13.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS clinical commissioning
group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
13.1.4 Liquidity risk
NHS clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted
annually by Parliament. The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS clinical
commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
13.1.5 Financial Instruments
As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process, financial instruments play a more limited role in creating
and managing risk than would apply to a non-public sector body. The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy nonfinancial items in line with NHS England's expected purchase and usage requirements and NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit,
liquidity or market risk.
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13 Financial instruments cont'd
13.2 Financial assets
Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
2018-19
£'000
Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Other financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2019

Total
2018-19
£'000

2,756
1,475
5,056
18
232
9,537

2,756
1,475
5,056
18
232
9,537

13.3 Financial liabilities

Financial Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
2018-19
£'000
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2019

3,823
25,731
16,674
588
46,815
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Total
2018-19
£'000
3,823
25,731
16,674
588
46,815
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14 Operating segments
NHS Lambeth CCG considers it has only one segment, the commissioning of healthcare services.
15 Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations
NHS Lambeth CCG shares of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the financial year were:

15.1 Interests in joint operations

Name of arrangement

Parties to the arrangement

Description of
principal
activities

Assets

Integrated Personal Alliance

Living Well Network Alliance

NHS Lambeth CCG and
London Borough of Lambeth
NHS Lambeth CCG and
London Borough of Lambeth,
South London and Maudsley
NHS FT, Certitude,
Thamesreach
NHS Lambeth CCG and
London Borough of Lambeth,
South London and Maudsley
NHS FT, Certitude,
Thamesreach

Amounts recognised in Entities books ONLY

2018-19

2017-18

Liabilities

£'000
Better Care Fund

Amounts recognised in Entities books ONLY

£'000

Income

Expenditure

Assets

£'000

£'000

£'000

Liabilities
£'000

Income

Expenditure

£'000

£'000

Better Care Fund

82

0

(17,065)

17,065

0

0

(14,953)

14,953

Provision of
Rehabilitation for
Patients in Mental
Health Care

0

0

(2,284)

2,284

0

0

(5,788)

5,788

Provision of Adult
Mental Health
Services

0

(1,491)

(43,891)

43,891

0

0

0

0

15.2 Interests in entities not accounted for under IFRS 10 or IFRS 11
NHS Lambeth CCG has no interest in entities not accounted for under IFRS 10 or IFRS 11
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16 Related party transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

2018-19

Payments to
Related Party
£'000

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£'000

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£'000

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£'000

69
6
33
270
51

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
50

0
0
0
0
0

Martin Godfrey
Nandini Mukhopadhyay
Azhar Saleem
Sadru Kheraj
Catherine Pearson

Director
Director
Director
Partner
Chief Executive

MGMD Ltd
So No Dreams LTD
Azhar Saleem Healthcare LTD
Well centre (managed by Herne Hill Practice)
Healthwatch Lambeth

Adrian McLachlan

Partner

Hetherington Group Practice

1,457

0

0

0

Rajive Mitra

Partner

Lambeth Walk Group Practice

1,315

0

8

0

Nandini Mukhopadhyay

Salaried GP

Crowndale Medical Practice

2,952

0

0

0

Sadru Kheraj
Dianne Aitken
Dianne Aitken
Martin Godfrey
Martin Godfrey
Harpal Harrar

Partner
Salaried GP
Salaried GP
Salaried GP
Sessional GP
Partner

Herne Hill Group Practice
Vassall Medical Centre
Northwood Group Practice at Crowndale
Streatham High Practice
Clapham Family Practice
Sandmere Practice

2,107
1,139
2,952
2,157
3,885
1,597

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
3
16
1
8

0
0
0
0
0
0

Practice shareholding

Lambeth Practices Ltd

2,730

0

0

0

Practice shareholding
Member

SE Lambeth Health Partnership Ltd
SELDOC

652
779

0
0

0
139

0
0

Adrian McLachlan/ Martin Godfrey/
John Balazs/Rajive Mitra/Harpal Harrar
Nandini Mukhopadhyay/
Sadru Kheraj/Diane
Aitken Mitra/
Adrian
McLachlan/ Rajive
John Balazs/ Sadru Kheraj

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year NHS Lambeth CCG has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is
regarded as the parent Department. For example:
Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust
King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust
St George's University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
NHS Bexley CCG
NHS Bromley CCG
NHS Greenwich CCG
NHS Lewisham CCG
NHS Southwark CCG
NHS Croydon CCG
North East London CSU

179,297
73,156
63,126
23,997
25
61
419
306
252
2,819

(55)
0
(128)
0
(66)
(192)
(308)
(180)
(402)
(122)
0

5,630
2,225
81
211
0
0
13
334
338
0
143

(46)
(1,048)
(128)
(979)
(6)
(23)
(239)
(28)
(98)
(44)
(15)

A financial Risk-Share agreement is in place across the six CCGs in south east London. It was agreed through the governance of each CCG that the Risk-Share agreement be enacted in
2018/19. The final revenue resource limit values included in the 2018/19 annual accounts of each CCG reflect the outcome of the Risk-Share agreement
In addition, NHS Lambeth CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have
been with the London Borough of Lambeth.
London Borough of Lambeth

29,749
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(18,385)

992

(3,407)
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16.1 Related party transactions (continued)

2017-18

Payments to
Related Party

Receipts from
Related Party

Amounts owed
to Related
Party

Amounts due
from Related
Party

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Adrian McLachlan
Paul Heenan
Nandini Mukhopadhyay
Martin Godfrey
Sadru Kheraj
Stephanie Lamb
Sue Gallagher
Sue Gallagher
Catherine Pearson

Vice Chair
Director
Director
Clinical Lead
Partner
Partner
Trustee
Non Executive Director
Chief Executive

Health Improvement Network
Access Medical Services Ltd
So No Dreams Ltd
MGMD Ltd
Well centre (managed by Herne Hill Practice)

15
20
21
64
270

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

Guy's and St Thomas' Charity
Breathe Arts,Health,Research
Healthwatch Lambeth

0
0
107

(54)
(25)
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

Adrian McLachlan
Harpal Harrrar
Rajive Mitra
John Balazs
Paul Heenan
Martin Godfrey
Paul Heenan
Dianne Aitken
Sadru Kheraj
Stephanie Lamb
Rachel Kilner
Nandini Mukhopadhyay
Martin Godfrey

Partner
Partner
Partner
Director
Partner
Salaried GP
Director
Salaried GP
Partner
Partner
Partner
Salaried GP
Sessional GP

Hetherington Group Practice
Sandmere Practice
Lambeth Walk Group Practice
Binfield Road General Practice
Clapham Family Practice
Clapham Family Practice
SPMS Clapham NHS
Vassall Medical Centre
Herne Hill Group Practice

1,483
1,566
1,319
966
2,906
2,906
611
1,068
2,164

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
(2)
0
0
0

South Lambeth Road Practice
Crowndale Medical Practice
APMS Streatham High Practice

918
2,323
2,054

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

Adrian McLachlan/ Martin Godfrey/
Paul Heenan John Balazs/Rajive Mitra/Harpal Harrar

Practice shareholding

Lambeth Practices Ltd

1,986

(78)

0

0

Practice shareholding

SE Lambeth Health Partnership Ltd

887

(34)

0

0

Member

SELDOC

583

0

0

0

Nandini Mukhopadhyay/
Sadru Kheraj/Dianne Aitken
Adrian McLachlan/ Rajive Mitra/
John Balazs/ Sadru Kheraj
Nandini Mukhopadhyay - (Members) /Paul Heenan (Director)/
Harpal Harrar/ Dianne Aitken

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year NHS Lambeth CCG has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent
Department. For example:

Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust
King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust
St George's University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
NHS Lewisham CCG
NHS Southwark CCG
NHS Bromley CCG
NHS Bexley CCG
NHS Greenwich CCG
NHS Croydon CCG
North East London CSU

166,675
74,423
62,291
22,873
350
6
91
0
68
68
2,737

(77)
0
0
0
(75)
(1,273)
(81)
(56)
(66)
(117)
0

2,712
3,663
176
0
100
9
255
0
5
32
51

(24)
(1,048)
0
0
(2)
(79)
(2)
(2)
(2)
(54)
0

A financial Risk-Share agreement is in place across the six CCGs in south east London. It was agreed through the governance of each CCG that the Risk-Share agreement be enacted in 2017/18. The final revenue
resource limit values included in the 2017/18 annual accounts of each CCG reflect the outcome of the Risk-Share agreement
In addition, NHS Lambeth CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with the London
Borough of Lambeth.
London Borough of Lambeth

23,929
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17 Events after the end of the reporting period
There are no events after the reporting period.
18 Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions

2018-19
Target

2018-19
Performance

2017-18
Target

2017-18
Performance

569,407

568,115

534,001

532,365

187

186

-

-

560,506

559,216

528,287

526,651

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions

-

-

-

-

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions

-

-

-

-

7,751

6,956

7,684

7,485

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions

For the year 2018-19, NHS Lambeth CCG achieved an in-year revenue surplus of £1.290m and received a Capital Resource Limit of £187k in 2018-19.
19 Effect of application of IFRS 15 on current year closing balances
There is no impact of IFRS 15 on the accounts for NHS Lambeth CCG
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20 Losses and special payments
20.1 Losses
NHS Lambeth CCG does not have any losses and special payments cases in 2018/19
Total Number of
Cases
2018-19
Number
Administrative write-offs
Total

Total Value of
Cases
2018-19
£'000
-

Total Number of
Cases
2017-18
Number
-

Total Value of
Cases
2017-18
£'000
1
1

1
1

20.2 Special payments
Total Number of
Cases
2018-19
Number
Compensation payments
Total

Total Value of
Cases
2018-19
£'000
-
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Total Number of
Cases
2017-18
Number
-

Total Value of
Cases
2017-18
£'000
1
1

19
19

